

## SCHOOL AND SYMPOSIUM ON ADVANCED NEUROREHABILITATION (SSNR2018)

Proceedings

September 16-21, 2018 Baiona (Spain)





## Table of Contents

Brain activity dependent neuroprosthetic for cycling task in stroke patients: Feasibility study.
Aitor Martínez-Expósito, Juan Vázquez-Díez, Jaime Ibáñez, Enrique Viosca, and
José L. Pons4
Analysis of video-oculographic registers for the discrimination of Parkinson's disease
J-A. Gómez García, L. Moro-Velázquez, J-I. Godino-Llorente6
Review of the rationale behind mechanical tests for active implantable medical devices towards the mechanical testing of eAXON microstimulators
Aracelys García-Moreno and Antoni Ivorra8
A Feedback System to Characterize and Target Altered Motor Control in Cerebral Palsy
Alyssa M. Spomer, Nick A. Baicoianu, and Katherine M. Steele10
Mechanical Design of a Novel Semi-Active Hybrid Unilateral Stance Control Knee Ankle Foot Orthosis
M.C. Sánchez-Villamañán, J. Gómez, A.J. del-Ama, J.C. Moreno and J.L. Pons
Quantification of deficits in motor planning in cerebral palsy .
Momona Yamagami, Alyssa Giedd, Darrin Howell, Katherine M. Steele, and Samuel A. Burden
A review of human locomotion databases: preliminary results .
D. Pinto-Fernandez, D. Torricelli and J.L. Pons17
Proposal of a Stackable Functional Electrical Stimulation System Device
C. Rodrigues, A. Ortiz, J. C. Moreno and J. L. Pons
The Need for Studying the Biocompatibility and Safety of Biomimetic eAXON Neuro-prosthetic Systems
Ahmed Eladly, Antoni Ivorra PhD21

### Survey of Common Issues in Magnetic Inertial Sensors: Main Neuro-Rehabilitation Applications

### Assessing Safety and Performance Indicators in Rehabilitation Robotics

Jule Bessler,	Erik C.	Prinsen,	Gerdienke	В.	Prange-Lasonder,	Leendert	Schaake	and	Јаар Н.
Buurke									27

### Pilot study: submaximal force control training for robotic therapy

# The NISCI Project. Antibodies against Nogo-A to enhance plasticity, regeneration and functional recovery after acute spinal cord injury, a multicenter European clinical proof of concept trial.

Pisotta	Iolanda,	Masciullo	Marcella,	Tamburella	Federica,	Tagliamonte	Nevio	Luigi,	
Scivolet	to Giorgia	o, Curt Arm	in, Molinar	i Marco					31

### EEG-based Assessment and Adaptation of Novel (Robotic) Neurorehabilitation Therapies

## Synergy-based Classification to Anticipate Reaching Direction Identification in Stroke subject for Robotic Arm Teleoperation

## Down-Conditioning of Soleus Reflex Activity using Mechanical Stimuli and EMG Biofeedback

## Investigating Concurrent Neuroplasticity and Changes in Level of Functionality in SCI Individuals

### Decoding intracortical activity to predict rat locomotion

## Paired associative stimulation protocols with transcranial magnetic stimulation for motor cortex potentiation

A. San Agustín and Jose L. Pons43
Proportional control of FES for grasping using voluntary EMG from stimulated hand muscles
Bethel A. C. Osuagwu, Emily Whicher, Rebecca Shirley and Julian Taylor
Motor inhibition elicited by electrical stimulation of afferent pathways and its application in tremor suppression
A. Pascual-Valdunciel*, F.O. Barroso and J.L. Pons47
Validation and Repeatability of Online Reflex Activity Measures
Eline Flux, Ronald C. van 't Veld, Jari de Rover, Sanne Ettema, Marjolein M. van der Krogt49
Visual Discrimination of Biomimetic Arm Speeds
Eric J. Earley, Reva E. Johnson, Levi J. Hargrove, Jon W. Sensinger
On the Impact of Witnesses Selection in Pulse-to-Noise Ratio Based Assessment of Motor Unit Identification Accuracy from High-Density EMG
F. Urh, A. Holobar
Design and Control of Lower Limb Exoskeletons for Everyday Life
Roland Auberger, Robert Riener, Hans Dietl

## Brain activity dependent neuroprosthetic for cycling task in stroke patients: Feasibility study.

Aitor Martínez-Expósito, Juan Vázquez-Díez, Jaime Ibáñez, Enrique Viosca, and José L. Pons

Abstract-Research on lower limb motor rehabilitation is generally split into two types of interventions. One is through neuroprosthetics and others through neurorobotics. These interventions can benefit from the nervous activity dependent plasticity. Several studies have been done related with this issue and they have contributed to knowledge about how to help patients with stroke. In the present work, we show preliminary data of a pilot study in two patients with stroke who underwent a treatment with neuroprosthetics and cycling. The same treatment was applied with a stimulation timing dependent on the brain activity (experiment 1), and without this temporal association (experiment 2). The results show a greater increase of excitability in the cortico-spinal pathway of the patient who underwent the brain activity-dependent cycling treatment. In addition, we discuss some changes made in the intervention after testing in patients as an improvement on it.

#### I. INTRODUCTION

**S**TROKE patients [1], as a consequence of their brain injury, if they survive the insult, may have affected the cognitive system, as well as the activities of daily life among others. One of the affectations that most limit and affect patients is the loss of mobility of their limbs, since it makes them lose independence and the ability to walk if it affects the brain areas related with the lower limb.

One of the strategies in neurorehabilitation applied to the sensory-motor injuries affecting the system is neuroprosthetics. These techniques generally use electrical current to restore function of the nervous system [2]. One of the techniques used in this sense to assist or rehabilitate limbs with a lack of mobility is functional electrical stimulation (FES) [3]. The technique consists of placing surface electrodes on the skin. Anode and cathode are placed over the target muscle to locate the stimulation on it. In this way, it is possible to recruit the nerve fibers that innervate it, achieving both its contraction and the generation of somatosensory afferences.

This work has been done with the financial support of MINECO, project Associate (799158449-58449-45-514).

A. Martínez-Expósito, and J.L. Pons, authors are with the Neural Rehabilitation Group of the Spanish National Research Council, Madrid, Spain (corresponding author e-mail: aitor.martinez@cajal.csic.es).

J. Ibáñez author, is with the Sobell Department, Institute of Neurology, University College London, London, UK.

J. Vázquez-Díez, and E. Viosca authors are with Instituto de investigación sanitaria La Fe, Valencia, Spain.

One of the muscles of interest for both walking and cycling is the Rectus femoris. The authors of the mentioned publication [4] used it to assist the cycling, stimulating quadriceps, hamstrings, gluteus maximum, and tibialis anterior of both legs with FES. In this sense, they achieved improvements in the lower limb movement clinical scales after the treatment.

On the other hand, the authors of the following study [5] use the potentials recorded with electroencephalography (EEG) called movement related cortical potentials (MRCPs) to associate them with electrical stimulation in the common peroneal nerve of the paretic leg of stroke patients. In this way, they achieve improvements by associating brain activity with afferent stimulation of the lower limb. Following this line, the authors showed the changes in the excitability of the cortico-spinal pathway as a marker of plastic changes that support the clinical improvements tested in these patients. The way to assess the changes in the cortico-spinal pathway of these patients is via the use of transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) [6]. The modality of single pulse helps us to check the state of excitability of this pathway, and if there have been changes related to a given experimental intervention.

The present study shows the results of a pilot trial in two stroke patients. An intervention with brain activitydependent stimulation with FES while cycling was applied, and we show the changes in cortico-spinal excitability, as well as the feasibility of using this intervention in these patients.

#### II. METHODS

#### A. Patients

Two stroke patients from the hospital La Fe (Valencia), and previously having approved the hospital ethics committee, were selected as they fulfilled the requirements to do the experimental intervention that will be explained below.

#### B. TMS Assessment

The sEMG electrodes were placed to record the motor evoked potentials (MEPs) of both rectus femoris. Once the place of stimulation was located on the scalp (hotspot), the resting motor threshold (RMT) was recorded and twenty pulses were applied at 120% of that RMT in each of the assessments. For this evaluation, an eight-shaped (conical) coil and a single pulse stimulator were used.

#### C. Setup

The muscles recorded and stimulated in the study are both rectus femoris, since they are very relevant to the task. Moreover, we intended to know if reducing the number of muscles stimulated during cycling would produce potentially beneficial changes. For this reason, surface electromyography (sEMG) electrodes were placed over these muscles in both legs.

Once cortico-spinal excitability was assessed as explained in point B, we proceeded to apply the experimental treatment consisting of 40 calibration trials to know the precise time in which the patient will be stimulated with the FES. The MRCPs were recorded with EEG, and filtered with a Butterworth 1st order high-pass filter (0.05 Hz). We focused our analysis on the channels around Cz.

One patient undergone the experimental treatment based on brain-state dependent stimulation, as explained in the previous paragraph (experiment 1). For the other patient we applied FES on rectus femoris directly after a visual countdown that indicated the moment to start cycling (experiment 2). Summing up, depending on the applied protocol, the FES stimulation was always applied at different time of cycling (on experiment 1 depending on EEG, and on experiment 2 just after the visual countdown end). On the experiment 1, FES was applied in the time when the offline averaged negative peak of the MRCPs was calculated (in relation to the visual countdown). In the experiment 2, FES was immediately applied after the end of the countdown. As previously said, this countdown indicates each patient to be ready for cycling.

Once the cycling task with the stimulation was completed, the cortico-spinal way was again assessed with TMS, and after 30 minutes to check the long-term effects. In such a way, we recorded the cortico-spinal excitability PRE-, POST-, and POST 30 'after treatment. Fig. 1 summarizes the general procedure of the experimental session.



Fig. 1. Flowchart of the experimental intervention process.

#### III. RESULTS

Fig. 2 shows how the peak-to-peak amplitude of the MEPs in the experiment 1 patient increases after the experimental treatment. Regarding the experiment 2 patient, no changes were observed.



Fig. 2. MEPs amplitude (mean +/- SD) of the affected Rectus femoris

#### IV. CONCLUSIONS

The setup has been proven applicable in stroke patients with the characteristics that have been exposed. Since it allows patients to perform the task of cycling without added difficulties. On the other hand, experiment 1 in which FES is applied in the task of cycling depending on brain activity, has shown increases in cortico-spinal excitability that suggest that it could improve the intervention with only FES and cycling.

- "WHO | Stroke, Cerebrovascular accident", Who.int, 2018. [Online]. Available: http://www.who.int/topics/cerebrovascular\_accident/en/
- [2] L. Mendes, I. Lima, T. Souza, G. do Nascimento, V. Resqueti and G. Fregonezi, "Motor neuroprosthesis for promoting recovery of function after stroke", *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 2018.
- [3] Lynch, C. and Popovic, M. (2008). Functional Electrical Stimulation. *IEEE Control Systems Magazine*, 28(2), pp.40-50.
- [4] E. Ambrosini, S. Ferrante, A. Pedrocchi, G. Ferrigno and F. Molteni, "Cycling Induced by Electrical Stimulation Improves Motor Recovery in Postacute Hemiparetic Patients: A Randomized Controlled Trial", *Stroke*, vol. 42, no. 4, pp. 1068-1073, 2011.
- [5] Mrachacz-Kersting, N., Jiang, N., Stevenson, A., Niazi, I., Kostic, V., Pavlovic, A., Radovanovic, S., Djuric-Jovicic, M., Agosta, F., Dremstrup, K. and Farina, D. (2016). Efficient neuroplasticity induction in chronic stroke patients by an associative brain-computer interface. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 115(3), pp.1410-142.
- [6] Ziemann, U. (2017). Thirty years of transcranial magnetic stimulation: where do we stand? *Experimental Brain Research*, 235(4), pp.973 984.

## Analysis of video-oculographic registers for the discrimination of Parkinson's disease

J-A. Gómez García, L. Moro-Velázquez, J-I. Godino-Llorente

Abstract— This paper explores the usefulness of features extracted from video-oculographic recordings for the discrimination of Parkinson's disease. Experiments are performed on a dataset containing eye tracking registers of age-paired parkinsonian and control subjects during a visual exploration task. The total saccadic excursion -measuring the extent of the exploration area- and the number of saccades are employed to differentiate between populations. In particular, the total saccadic excursion achieved an area under the ROC curve of 0.98, indicating that parkinsonian and control subjects differ in terms of the extension of exploration during the proposed visualization task. These preliminary results suggest the appropriateness of using video-oculography to analyze Parkinson's disease, and the potentiality of signal processing techniques for automatic detection labors.

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Parkinson's Disease (PD) is a chronic degenerative disorder that affects 1% of the population over 60 years. However, to date, there are not early and non-invasive markers of the disease, still being autopsy the gold standard for the actual confirmation of the impairment. It has been stated that the study of eye movements provides one of the most important windows to understand function and dysfunction of human brain [4], as erratic eye movement can be useful indicators of the presence of certain neuronal disorders. Indeed, literature reveals that ocular movements in PD subjects are affected even in pre-symptomatic stages of the disorder. For instance, several studies acknowledge dysfunctions in the production of fixational and saccadic movements [1][4] [8] [6]. Similarly, it has been found that during visual exploration of simple images, PD patients reduces the number and amplitude of saccades while increasing the duration of fixations. On more complex images, there exist a certain compensation. Notwithstanding, it is stated that in general terms the exploration areas are smaller in PD patients than in control populations [5].

With these antecedents in mind, the aim of this paper is to employ *Video-oculographic* (VOG) recordings and signal processing techniques to differentiate between control and PD populations using data recorded during a visual exploration task.

### A. Corpus

A subset of a corpus recorded at universidad politécnica de Madrid is employed in this paper. The dataset has been recorded in collaboration with the otorhinoaringology and neurology services of the Gregorio Marañón hospital in Madrid, Spain. The corpus contains binocular eye tracking recordings of subjects during several experimental paradigms elliciting saccades, fixations, smooth pursuits, etc. However, only one paradigm involving the visual exploration of an image is considered in this paper. Registers have been acquired binocularly using the Eyelink 1000 Plus system with a sampling rate of 1000 Hz, and employing a chin rest to stabilize the head during the recording process. For this paper purposes, registers of 9 subjects with idiopathic PD (3 women and 6 men) whose average age is 68 years and in stages II and III according to the Hoehn & Yahr scale are employed for experimentation, next to registers of 10 control subjects (5 women and 5 men) whose average age is 69. All of the patients were under pharmacological treatment and ingested their medication 2 to 5 hours before the data acquisition procedure.

II. SETUP

#### B. Methods

Registers have been processed using Matlab and the edfimport tools [7]. The events provided by the eye tracker (saccades, fixations, ...) are used for the calculation of the *total number of saccades* and the *total saccadic excursion*. The latter is computed as the summation of all the individual saccadic amplitudes, being defined as follows:

$$d_i = ||(x_i^0, y_i^0), (x_i^1, y_i^1)||$$
 total saccadic excursion =  $\sum_i d_i$ 

where  $(x_i^0, y_i^0)$  is the coordinate where a saccadic event *i* starts, and  $(x_i^1, y_i^1)$  where it ends (it becomes a fixation).

Boxplots and the *Receiver-Operating Curve* (ROC) are employed to visually assess the discriminatory capability of these two features. Similarly, the *Area Under the ROC curve* (AUC) is utilized to quantify the potential to differentiate between populations.

#### III. RESULTS

Firstly, heatmaps of PD and control subjects are presented in Fig. 1. As observed, the exploration areas of the PD subjects are smaller that those of the controls, being mostly composed by fixations. By contrast, the control subjects

This work was supported by the Ministry of Economy and Competitiveness of Spain under grant DPI2017-886 83405-R1.

J-A. Gomez García and J-I. Godino-Llorente are with the Bioengineering and optoelectronics laboratory at Universidad Politécnica de Madrid, Spain (corresponding author: jorge.gomez.garcia@upm.es).

L. Moro-Velázquez is with the center for Language and Speech Processing at Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, USA.

present a larger number of saccadic events, and the exploration of a larger extension of the image.



Fig. 1: Heatmap of the exploration areas of by PD (left) and control (right) subjects during the visualization task.

Next, a boxplot illustrating the distribution of the two proposed features is presented in Fig. 2. As observed, control subjects exhibit a larger number of saccades and a larger total saccadic excursion compared to the PD population. This provides numeric evidence of the observations previously made on the heatmaps. The boxplot also serves to illustrate the potential capabilities of these two features to disregard between both groups, as shown by the two differentiated -and almost non-overlapping- boxes of the two classes.



Fig. 2: Boxplot showing the distribution of the total saccadic excursion (left) and the total number of saccades (right).

Finally, Fig. 3 presents the ROC curve of the two proposed features. The corresponding AUC for the total saccadic excursion is of 0.98, whereas for the total number of saccades is of 0.86. The curve as the aforementioned values confirm the discriminatory capabilities of these two features, but most

specially of the total saccadic excursion.



Fig. 3: ROC curve illustrating the discriminatory capability of the proposed features.

#### **IV. CONCLUSIONS**

This paper has presented preliminary results of two features with potential to be used in labours of automatic detection of PD using VOG recordings. It has been found that in general terms the excursion of PD patients is smaller that those of control subjects, having as well a decreased number of saccadic events. This is in line with the observations previously made in other works in the literature [8]. These simple features have served to illustrate the potential of using VOG for the analysis of PD. It also constitutes a first step towards the analysis using more robust signal processing techniques for the automatic detection of PD.

In the future we will explore the usefulness of other types of ocular movements such as smooth pursuit or optokinetic reflexes for the automatic detection of PD, as well as its combination to other types of biosignals.

- Antoniades, C., & Kennard, C. (2015)." Ocular motor abnormalities in neurodegenerative disorders". *Eye*, 29(2):200-7
- [2] Archibald, N. K., Hutton, S. B., Clarke, M. P., Mosimann, U. P., & Burn, D. J. (2013). "Visual exploration in Parkinson's disease and Parkinson's disease dementia". *Brain*, 136(3), 739-750.
- [3] Buhmann, C., Kraft, S., Hinkelmann, K., Krause, S., Gerloff, C., & Zangemeister, W. H. (2015). "Visual Attention and Saccadic Oculomotor Control in Parkinson's Disease". *European Neurology*, 73(5):283-293.
- [4] Chambers, J., & Prescott, T. (2010). "Response times for visually guided saccades in persons with Parkinson's disease: a meta-analytic review." *Neuropsychologia*, 48(4):887-99
- [5] Matsumoto, H., Terao, Y., Furubayashi, T., Yugeta, A., Fukuda, H., Emoto, M., Ugawa, Y. (2011). "Small saccades restrict visual scanning area in Parkinson's disease". *Movement Disorders*, 26(9):1619-1626.
- [6] Otero-Millan, J., Schneider, R., Leigh, R. J., Macknik, S. L., & Martinez-Conde, S. (2013). "Saccades during Attempted Fixation in Parkinsonian Disorders and Recessive Ataxia: From Microsaccades to Square-Wave Jerks". *PLoS ONE*, 8(3).
- [7] Pastukhov, A. (2016). "edfImport: Matlab interface to Eyelink EDF files". https://doi.org/10.17605/osf.io/fxumn
- [8] Terao, Y., Fukuda, H., Ugawa, Y., & Hikosaka, O. (2013). "New perspectives on the pathophysiology of Parkinsons disease as assessed by saccade performance: A clinical review". *Clinical Neurophysiology*, 124(8):1491-1499

## Review of the rationale behind mechanical tests for active implantable medical devices towards the mechanical testing of eAXON microstimulators

Aracelys García-Moreno and Antoni Ivorra

*Abstract*—The eAXON microstimulators, as any active implantable medical device (AIMDs), experience repeated mechanical stresses in the corrosive body environment that can affect the devices' mechanical properties and lead to failure. Mechanical tests represent an ethical method to reduce animal tests and reveal mechanical failures of AIMDs in a short-term. In this review, diverse publications were explored, focusing on those describing mechanical tests performed in AIMDs containing leads. The purpose was to try to find the rationale behind the tests and validate the approaches followed to design mechanical testbeds and protocols. Publications concur that tensile, fatigue and fracture tests are fundamental, and these tests must replicate *in vivo* conditions and mimic real-life scenarios. However, many publications lack the details of the rationale for the design of the mechanical tests.

#### I. INTRODUCTION

**I**MPLANTABLE electrical stimulation systems based on wireless stimulators represent a minimally invasive alternative to currently available centralized systems for neuroprosthetics and for neuromodulation therapies.

The eAXON project (Fig. 1) envisions a dense network of addressable single-channel wireless microstimulators that we refer to as eAXONs (short for "electronic axons"). These devices will be injectable and will consist mostly of flexible materials. Their operation is based on electronic rectification of inert high frequency currents applied through epidermal electrodes. This innovative stimulation method allows miniaturization to submillimeter dimensions, which has been restricted in current technologies by the use of batteries and inductive coupling for power supply [1][2].

Between the components of an AIMD system (Fig. 2), the leads, which electrically connect the electrodes to the central units, are the most likely to fail due to the mechanical stresses and the extreme physiological conditions [3]. eAXONs are like small leads and will experience repeated mechanical stresses in the corrosive body environment that can affect their mechanical properties and lead to failure.

This project has received funding from the European Research Council (ERC) under the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme (grant agreement No 724244).

A. García-Moreno is with the Biomedical Electronics Research Group (BERG), Department of Information and Communication Technologies, Universitat Pompeu Fabra, Barcelona, Spain (e-mail: aracelys.garcia@upf.edu).

A. Ivorra is with the Biomedical Electronics Research Group (BERG), Department of Information and Communication Technologies, Universitat Pompeu Fabra, Barcelona, Spain (e-mail: antoni.ivorra@upf.edu).



Fig. 1. The eAXON technology consists of a dense network of addressable single-channel wireless flexible injectable microstimulators. Externally applied inert HF currents are rectified by the eAXON microstimulators to generate LF stimulation currents.

*In vivo* tests are mandatory to identify potential mechanical problems and validate the robustness of AIMDs. However, these trials require long-term complex designs for statistically relevant results. Mechanical test benches and accelerated protocols represent an ethical method to reduce animal tests. These tests may reveal failures that simulations do not show and provide short-term affordable results [4].

As a first approach to the design of mechanical tests for the eAXONs, in this work we have reviewed and analyzed standards established by regulatory agencies and organizations and tests proposed by independent groups for testing the mechanical robustness of AIMDs trying to find the rationale behind them and validate the approaches followed to design mechanical testbeds and protocols.



Fig. 2. Components of an AIMD system. Active implantable medical devices (AIMDs) are partially or totally introduced into the body by clinical intervention. Their functioning requires a source of electrical energy or power that is not generated by the body or by gravity [5].

#### II. METHODS

Standards and guidance documents established by regulatory agencies and organizations, journal and patent databases, and technical books and websites were explored. Search terms included leads, coils, intramuscular, electrical stimulation, electronic implants, active implantable medical devices, mechanical tests and properties, fatigue and fracture, stress and strain. Documents describing mechanical tests performed in AIMDs were selected, including those

TABLE I			
STANDARD TEST METHODS			

Test	Standard	Application
Conditioning and test baths	[6]	Cardiac pacemakers
		Cochlear implant
Sterilization	[7]-[10]	Cardiac pacemakers
		Cochlear implant
Uniaxial tensile	[6][11]	Cardiac pacemakers
		Cochlear implant
Flex fatigue (fatigue and	[12]	Cardiac pacemakers
fracture)	[13]	Implantable defibrillators
	[14]	Cochlear implant

proposed by independent groups, and the analysis was focused on those containing leads.

#### III. RESULTS

Environmental and mechanical tests should reproduce real-life failure modes at accelerated conditions to obtain reliability results in a reasonable period. However, the correlation between approximate number of cycles along years of service and cycles in a testing period might require more than a simple mathematical translation [4]. Tables I and II show the most relevant tests performed in AIMDs.



Fig. 3. Standard test methods. (a) Uniaxial tensile test of strength based on Hooke's law. (b) Flex fatigue test (tension and compression) based on Weibull analysis of MP35N® reference test coils.

#### IV. DISCUSSION

We were surprised to find out that in many publications the rationale for the design of the tests is very poorly detailed. Publications concur that tensile, fatigue and fracture tests are fundamental for the mechanical validation of AIMDs (Fig. 3), and that these tests must replicate *in vivo* conditions and mimic real-life scenarios, considering that, in the corrosive body environment, stress can induce chemical changes and lower the strength of the materials.

In accelerated tests, bending radius, angles, loads and/or cycling frequencies are increased to cause higher stresses and failure in a shorter time. Although this can affect fatigue limits in the same materials and devices for similar stress and strain, *in vivo* failure modes and fracture morphologies should be reproduced at accelerated conditions.

Some publications indicate the use of modelling and simulations to establish stresses and strains. Furthermore, test benches should reproduce identified AIMDs' failure modes depending on body location, materials and interfaces. We believe this is a valid approach for the preliminary design of the tests. However, we also believe that the

TABLE II AD HOC TEST METHODS

Test	Source	Application
Three-point bending	[15]	BION microstimulators
Repetitive bending & loading	[15]	BION microstimulators
Bending	[16]	Implantable leads
Unidirectional bend fatigue	[17]	Cardiac leads
Rotating-bending fatigue	[18]	Intramuscular electrodes

analysis of failures in *in vivo* tested AIMDs must lead to the design of testbeds that emulate their causes, particularly in cases in which failure modes were not anticipated.

#### V. CONCLUSION

This review and analysis of the rationale behind mechanical tests for AIMDs establishes the basis for the development of mechanical test benches specifically designed for the validation of eAXON microstimulators.

- L. Becerra-Fajardo and A. Ivorra, "In Vivo Demonstration of Addressable Microstimulators Powered by Rectification of Epidermically Applied Currents for Miniaturized Neuroprostheses," PLoS One, vol. 10, no. 7, p. e0131666, Jul. 2015.
- [2] A. Ivorra, L. Becerra-Fajardo, and Q. Castellví, "In vivo demonstration of injectable microstimulators based on chargebalanced rectification of epidermically applied currents," J. Neural Eng., vol. 12, no. 6, p. 066010, Dec. 2015.
- [3] W. G. De Voogt, "Pacemaker leads: Performance and progress," Am. J. Cardiol., vol. 83, no. 5 B, pp. 187–191, 1999.
- [4] E. A. Bonfante and P. G. Coelho, "A Critical Perspective on Mechanical Testing of Implants and Prostheses," Adv. Dent. Res., vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 18–27, Mar. 2016.
- [5] 2007/47/EC, "Directive on the approximation of the laws of the Member States relating to active implantable medical devices." 2007.
- [6] "Guidance Document: Medical Device Applications for Implantable Cardiac Leads." Minister of Health Canada, pp. 1–17, 2011.
- [7] EN 556-1, "Sterilization of medical devices. Requirements for medical devices to be designated 'STERILE'." 2001.
- [8] EN ISO 11135, "Sterilization of health-care products. Ethylene oxide. Requirements for the development, validation and routine control of a sterilization process for medical devices." 2014.
- [9] EN ISO 11137-3, "Sterilization of health care products. Radiation. Guidance on dosimetric aspects." 2017.
- [10] EN ISO 17665-1, "Sterilization of health care products. Moist heat. Requirements for the development, validation and routine control of a sterilization process for medical devices." 2006.
- [11] "Guidance for the Submission of Research and Marketing Applications for Permanent Pacemaker Leads and for Pacemaker Lead Adaptor 510(k) Submissions." U.S. Department of Health and Human Services – Food and Drug Administration (FDA), pp. 1–27, 2000.
- [12] EN 45502-2-1, "AIMDs Part 2-1: Particular requirements for AIMDs intended to treat bradyarrhythmia (cardiac pacemakers)." 2003.
- [13] EN 45502-2-2, "AIMDs Part 2-2: Particular requirements for AIMDs intended to treat tachyarrhythmia (includes implantable defibrillators)." 2008.
- [14] EN 45502-2-3, "AIMDs Part 2-3: Particular requirements for cochlear and auditory brainstem implant systems." 2010.
- [15] G. E. Loeb et al., "Mechanical loading of rigid intramuscular implants," Biomed. Microdevices, vol. 9, no. 6, pp. 901–910, 2007.
- [16] P. R. Spehr, "Method for testing fatigue of a lead," US 20080178684 A1, 2008.
- [17] M. P. Campbell and B. E. Johnson, "Test to Fracture of Cardiac Lead Coils in Unidirectional Bending Fatigue," in ASME 2010 Summer Bioengineering Conference, Parts A and B, 2010, p. 181.
- [18] T. Narushima, K. Suzuki, T. Murakami, C. Ouchi, and Y. Iguchi, "Fatigue Properties of Stainless Steel Wire Ropes for Electrodes in Functional Electrical Stimulation Systems," Mater. Trans., vol. 46, no. 9, pp. 2083–2088, 2005.

## A Feedback System to Characterize and Target Altered Motor Control in Cerebral Palsy

Alyssa M. Spomer, Nick A. Baicoianu, and Katherine M. Steele

Abstract-Biofeedback has become increasingly popular in the field of rehabilitation for neuromuscular disorders, as it provides real-time, subject-specific measures and facilitates targeted practice for populations that are inherently heterogeneous. However, despite myriad successful implementations, real-time biofeedback has not been investigated as a method for quantifying neuromuscular control complexity, an application which may aid clinicians in developing successful intervention plans for improved patient mobility. Here, we describe the development of a near real-time system which quantifies subject-specific motor control complexity using streamed electromyography data and presents feedback to the user. The developed system is currently in use to better understand the plasticity of motor control patterns and the impact that realtime feedback can have on selective motor control modulation. The results of future analysis will guide investigation into the efficacy of incorporating real-time motor control feedback into rehabilitation to aid intervention planning and improve mobility outcomes for individuals with neuromuscular disorders.

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Cerebral palsy (CP) is a non-progressive neuromuscular disorder caused by a traumatic brain injury occurring at or near the time of birth which typically affects an individuals motor control. Given the inherent uniqueness of brain injury, intervention planning and rehabilitation aimed at improving mobility in CP has been traditionally challenging. Without tools to quantify neurological variability, clinicians commonly rely on subjective metrics which often results in interventions that prove inconsistent or unsuccessful at restoring function [1][2]. Real-time biofeedback has become increasingly popular in the field of neuromuscular rehabilitation as a means of individualizing treatment planning and facilitating targeted practice to promote neural plasticity [3]. While current applications demonstrate the feasibility of using feedback to promote improvements in kinematic measures such as joint ranges of motion, stride length, and walking speed [4] [5], as well as targeted muscle activations and spasticity [6], neuromuscular control feedback has yet to be considered. Recent research[7] suggests that quantifying subject-specific neuromuscular control is critical in improving intervention outcomes, therefore there exists a need to assess the effectiveness of

This project is currently funded through the NIH NINDS Award 5R01NS091056.

A. M. Spomer is with the Department of Mechanical Engineering at the University of Washington, Seattle, WA (corresponding author to provide e-mail: aspomer@uw.edu).

N. A. Baicoianu is with the Department of Mechanical Engineering at the University of Washington, Seattle, WA

K. M. Steele is with the Department of Mechanical Engineering and the Institute for Neuroengineering at the University of Washington, Seattle, WA integrating real-time motor control feedback into clinical practice.

The purpose of this study is to develop a system that uses electromyography (EMG) recordings to monitor muscle activity during dynamic tasks and generate patient-specific feedback on motor control complexity in near real-time. Currently, this system is being used to directly investigate the extent to which individuals can selectively alter their motor control in response to feedback and whether lowdimensional motor control metrics can be used effectively in feedback applications. Ultimately, this system will be used to provide insight into the efficacy of integrating motor control feedback techniques into clinical practice to aid clinicians in developing customized intervention plans that improve rehabilitation outcomes for individuals with CP.

#### II. METHODS

Custom Python script was developed to integrate all processes associated with time-synchronized data collection, signal filtering and data analysis, and data presentation via custom graphical user interface (GUI) in order to present motor control feedback to the user and update in near realtime.

#### A. Motor Control Calculations

Subject-specific motor control is calculated using muscle synergy analysis techniques. Muscle synergies, defined as weighted sets of muscles which typically activate together, are calculated using non-negative matrix factorization (NMF) [8]. Results from NMF analysis are used to calculate an individual's dynamic motor control index during walking (walk-DMC) [7]. Walk-DMC is a summary metric of synergy complexity that evaluates the total variance accounted for by a one-synergy solution, normalized to a z-score based upon average values from unimpaired walking. This score provides a convenient, low-dimensional assessment of motor control and, as such, is the feedback metric presented to users in this study.

#### **III. RESULTS**

The developed system is outlined in Figure 1. This system uses data streamed at 120 Hz from a 10-camera motion capture system (Qualisys), and a 16-channel EMG system (Delsys) to calculate motor control complexity as a user walks at a self-selected speed on an instrumented split-belt treadmill (Bertec).EMG data is streamed into the custom Python interface, filtered, and analyzed using muscle synergy



Fig. 1. An overview of the feedback system structure. EMG and ground reaction force data is used in real-time synergy analysis calculations to compute a motor control score. Motion capture data is stored for post-test analysis.

techniques. A one-synergy solution and the corresponding walk-DMC score is calculated for 10 concatenated steps [9], which are delineated using time-synchronized ground reaction force data taken from the treadmill. Near real-time analysis is achieved using a sliding 10-step window where, after a 10 step initiation period, walk-DMC is calculated with every newly identified step. The walk-DMC score for each window is displayed to the user via custom GUI. The GUI displays both a target walk-DMC score, set by the investigator, and a 15-score history to promote learning and maintain user motivation. Currently, the system latency is 0.1 seconds which allows users to see how changes in input directly affect GUI output and ensures that a wide variety of walking speeds can be tested without losing data due to system lag. Motion capture data is collected in parallel for post-test kinematic analysis.

The system facilitates experimental customization, as target walk-DMC scores, walking speed, the leg of interest, and the EMG sensors used can be modified before individual trials.

#### A. On-Going Trials

Currently, the system is undergoing verification testing using a typically developing pilot population to compare the accuracy and robustness of the algorithms against standard post-test synergy analysis. Upon completion of all verification activities, the system will be used to first analyze the extent to which an individual can selectively modulate their motor control score, as measured by their ability to achieve various walk-DMC target scores with and without feedback present. Data from these trials will be used to better understand the plasticity of motor control patterns as well as the extent to which individuals can respond to lowdimensional feedback.

The results from these preliminary investigations will be used to inform future system modifications, including alternative feedback metrics and methods. These results will also be useful in future studies with clinical populations where the viability of integrating real-time motor control feedback into rehabilitation for intervention planning will be assessed.

#### **IV. CONCLUSION**

To our knowledge, this study outlines the first instance of a system used to measure subject-specific motor control in real-time. Given the heterogeneity of the CP population and the importance of quantifying neuromuscular control in intervention planning, this system fills a critical need in rehabilitation. Overall, the system is a promising first step in investigating the extent to which motor control feedback can be incorporated into clinical environments to improve intervention outcomes and mobility for individuals with CP.

- [1] J. Hicks, "Can biomechanical variables predict improvements in crouch gait?", *Gait & Posture*, 34(2), 2011, pp. 197-201.
- [2] T. Ubhi, B.B. Bhakta, H.L. Ives, V. Allgar, S.H. Roussounis, "Randomized double blind placebo controlled trial of the effect of botulinum toxin on walking in cerebral palsy", *Archives of Disease in Childhood*, 83, 2000, pp. 481-487.
- [3] S.H. You, S.H Jang, Y.H. Kim, Y.H. Kwon, I. Barrow, M Hallett, "Cortical reorganization induced by virtual reality therapy in a child with hemiparetic cerebral palsy", *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology* 47, 2005, pp. 628-635.
- [4] L. van Gelder, A.T.C. Booth, I. van de Port, A.I. Buizer, J. Harlaar, M.M van der Krogt, "Real-time feedback to improve gait in children with cerebral palsy", *Gait & Posture*, 52, 2017, pp. 76-82.
- [5] Y. Baram, R. Lenger, "Gait improvement in patients with cerebral palsy by visual and auditory feedback", *Neuromodulation*, 15(1), 2012, pp. 48-52
- [6] E. Dursun, N Dursun, D. Alican, "Effects of biofeedback treatment on gait in children with cerebral palsy", *Diability and Rehabilitation*, 26(2), 2009, pp. 116-120.
- [7] M. Schwartz, A. Rozumalski, K. Steele, "Dynamic motor control is associated with treatment outcomes for children with cerebral palsy", *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology* 58(11), 2016, pp. 1139-1145.
- [8] D. Lee, H. Seung, "Learning the parts of objects by non-negative matrix factorization", *Nature*, 401, 1999, pp. 788-791.
- [9] A. Oliveira, L. Gizzi, D. Farina, U. Kersting, "Motor modules of human locomotion: influence of EMG averaging, concatenation, and number of step cycles", *frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 8(335), 2014.

## Mechanical Design of a Novel Semi-Active Hybrid Unilateral Stance Control Knee Ankle Foot Orthosis

M.C. Sánchez-Villamañán, J. Gómez, A.J. del-Ama, J.C. Moreno and J.L. Pons

Abstract—This extended abstract presents the first prototype of novel Stance Control Knee Ankle Foot Orthoses (SCKAFO) for support and facilitation of unilateral pathological human walking. The working principle of the orthosis and its main components are presented. The final system will be based on a novel controllable lower limb orthosis and its combination with non-invasive muscle electrostimulation.

#### I. INTRODUCTION

THE incidence of Spinal Cord Injury (SCI) lies between 10.4 and 83 per million inhabitants [1] and 15 million people are affected by stroke annually worldwide [2]. Besides the physical impairment these neurological injuries cause, they also affect the quality of life of the person. Engineers and researchers develop assistive technology for rehabilitation and/or functional compensation of walking, aiming at enhancing quality of life.

Our goal in in the scope of the *Ibero-American Network* for *Rehabilitation and Assistance of Patients with Neurological Damage by Low Cost Robotic Exoskeletons* (REASISTE) project is to design a simple, affordable and efficient solution that supports neurologically injured patients' gait function. The proposed solution is based on the combination of Stance Control Knee Ankle Foot Orthoses (SCKAFO) with Functional Electrical Stimulation (FES), evoking a muscle contraction that is beneficial to the movement pattern. In this contribution, we present the mechanical design and working principle of the semi-active unilateral hybrid orthosis for the assistance and rehabilitation of pathological gait combined with non-invasive FES.

SCKAFOs constrain joint movement, providing stable support during standing and contributing to weight acceptance when they are locked. They can be classified according to the type of locking system (i. e. mechanisms with cables, bars and pawls that lock/unlock depending on the angular position of the joint, gravity and others [3]). Challenges to improve SCKAFOs are lighter designs, compact size and better performance of the locking/unlocking mechanisms.

#### II. MATHERIAL AND METHODS

The presented orthosis has 2 degrees of freedom and covers knee and ankle joints. It is designed to stabilize the knee joint during stance and enable assisted knee flexion and extension (completed by FES) during swing phase. FES also controls ankle dorsi/plantar-flexor muscles. Thus, the ankle joint in the orthosis is a simple passive pivot joint.

#### A. Working principle

The purely mechanical working principle of the device, combined with FES is explained in Fig. 1. In parallel, the muscles that produce dorsiflexion are stimulated and the ankle is planted to facilitate the phases of push off and swing during walking. The orthoses has a Bowden cable-driven locking system which blocks knee joint from stance phase until the beginning of knee flexion in the swing phase, where the locking system is deactivated and the knee joint can move free. Besides, the device has an elastic component that stores elastic energy during knee extension thanks to biarticular muscular stimulation and gravitational forces. This energy is released and assists knee flexion during swing phase in parallel with the stimulation of the flexor muscles. When extension is completed, the locking system works again while the elastic component remains loaded until the knee flexion of the next gait cycle. Both systems are explained in more detail in the next two sub-sections.



Fig. 1. Working principle of the orthosis, combined with FES, during a gait cycle.

#### B. Locking system

The locking system of the orthosis locks the knee joint during stance phase and release it during swing phase. The locking condition is the angular position of the hip joint. At the end of the stance phase, the non-affected leg supports user's weight. Suddenly, component A pushes component B of the mechanism located in the pelvis of the user. Then, component B moves vertically and Bowden cable pulls the spring deactivating the locking system. At the beginning of the next stance phase, with heel strike, the component C has

M.C. Sánchez-Villamañán, J. Gómez, J. Gil, J.C. Moreno and J.L. Pons are with the Neural Rehabilitation Group, Cajal Institute, Spanish National Research Council (CSIC), Avda Doctor Arce, 37, 28002, Madrid, Spain (corresponding author to provide e-mail: mcarmen.sanchez@csic.es).

A.J. del-Ama is with Unidad de Biomecánica del Hospital Nacional de Parapléjicos (HNP-SESCAM), Unidad asociada al CSIC, Finca la Peraleda S/N, 45071, Toledo, Spain.

to push the component D in order to move it, compress the spring and activate again the locking system. The angular position of the component C can be regulated according to the desired knee locking angle (See Fig. 2).

#### C. Elastic component

The elastic component was designed and self-made for the orthosis. It is compounded by an inner and an outer ring. Both rings are connected by four linear springs (see Fig. 2). The outer ring is fixed to the upper bar of the structure while the inner one is fixed to the axis of the knee joint of the orthosis which is also fixed to the lower bar of the structure. Hence, the springs are elongated when a relative motion of these two rings is produced. Due to the locking system behaviour, the elastic component is blocked at the end of knee extension when the springs are elongated (see Fig. 1). The springs return to their natural length, delivering the stored energy, during knee flexion in the next gait cycle.

Torque to be delivered by the elastic component was calculated considering knee flexion acceleration and the inertia of the shank and the toe when performing knee flexion as a function of user's body weight [4]. Then, with known assistive torque at maximum deflection, we calculated the total spring stiffness, the maximum elongation of the springs and the force these should deliver to specify the elastic components. Besides, the elastic component's stiffness can be modified in order to be adaptable to different user's requirements. By manually varying the relative position of the rings before walking, the elongation on the springs can be increased which in turn increases assistive torque delivered by the mechanism.

#### III. RESULTS

The presented orthosis is the first prototype developed in the scope of the REASISTE project. It is made of 3D printed pieces of PLA and weights 1 kg. Its principal components are a Bowden cable-driven locking system located at the pelvis level, a passive actuated knee joint with an elastic component that saves and releases energy and a simple pivot axis joint at the ankle level. The orthosis can be worn by users from 1.35 m to 1.95 m height and has two plastic braces with foam that adapt the orthosis to the user's leg comfortably. The orthosis will be attached to the pelvis of the user through a commercial hip orthosis. The structure also has hinges so that it follows user's leg shape in order to avoid joint misalignments between the user and the orthosis.

#### IV. DISCUSSION

The design of the orthoses is simple because its working principle does not require sophisticated or complicated components. The prototype was made of 3D printed PLA in order to reduce the first manufacturing costs. However, with this material, the endurance of some of the pieces is compromised. For example, the axis of the knee joint was manufactured in steel. Thus, in order to maintain affordability and lightness, only the most compromised pieces when supporting internal forces developed in the orthosis should be manufactured in aluminium.



Fig. 2. First prototype of the orthosis and conceptual scheme with its principal components.

#### V. CONCLUSION

The first prototype presented is a light design and has a compact size. The orthosis support the weight of the user during the stance phase while allows knee joint free movement during swing phase. Thus, the locking/unlocking system works properly. Next steps will be verifying the amount of energy delivered by the elastic components, manufacturing pieces that support high efforts in aluminum and testing the orthosis in combination with FES to prove its efficiency.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENT

This work was developed in the framework of the REASISTE Network (Red Iberoamericana de Rehabilitación y Asistencia de Pacientes con Daño Neurológico mediante Exoesqueletos Robóticos de Bajo Coste), funded by Programa Iberoamericano de Ciencia y Tecnología para el desarrollo (CYTED, 216RT0504). Developments have been partially supported with grant RYC-2014-16613 by Spanish Ministry of Economy and Competitiveness.

- M. Wyndaele and J.J. Wyndaele, "Incidence, prevalence and epidemiology of spinal cord injury: Whats learns a worldwide literature survey?," Spinal Cord, vol.44, no. 9, pp. 523-529, Jan. 2006.
- [2] Stroke Center, http://www.strokecenter.org/patients/aboutstroke/ stroke-statistics/ (February 2012)
- [3] T. Yakimovich, E. D. Lemaire, and J. Kofman, "Engineering design review of stance-control knee-ankle-foot orthoses," J. Rehabil. Res. Dev., vol. 46, no. 2, pp. 257-267, 2009.
- [4] D. A. Winter, Biomechanics and Motor Control of Human Movement. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, 1990.

## Quantification of deficits in motor planning in cerebral palsy

Momona Yamagami, Alyssa Giedd, Darrin Howell, Katherine M. Steele, and Samuel A. Burden

Abstract-Children with cerebral palsy (CP) exhibit deficits in motor planning during upper-extremity tasks that affect the efficacy of their movements in everyday life. Although clinical studies have demonstrated that these deficits exist, it is challenging to quantify these deficits, and it is unclear to what extent motion planning plays a role in movement impairments associated with CP. Control theory provides new methods to quantify and assess motor planning strategies. By monitoring an individual's performance during specified movements, such as a trajectory tracking task, we can model the role of feedforward control (i.e., reflecting motor planning) and feedback control (i.e., error correction) during movement execution. Quantifying impairments in motor planning for children with CP and evaluating their relationship with standard functional tests will help illuminate the mechanisms underlying impaired movement in CP and inform treatment planning.

#### I. INTRODUCTION

CEREBRAL palsy (CP) is a neurological disorder caused by brain injury or anomalies during neural development. It affects 2-2.5/1000 live births [1], and mainly causes impairment of motor function [2]. While most clinical studies and rehabilitation for children with CP focus on motor execution, recent studies have shown that impaired motor planning may be just as limiting for the performance of daily activities [3], [4].

Motor planning is the ability to integrate sensorimotor information to plan an action ahead of execution. It is a skill that is acquired as an individual encounters novel scenarios and environments during development. Traditional motor planning experiments test whether children plan their movements to end in a comfortable posture, or whether they instead use a step-by-step strategy to perform upperextremity tasks [4]. An example of a such an experiment is the act of picking up a cup that is upside down so an individual can drink out of the cup. Unimpaired individuals will pick up the cup with an uncomfortable underhand grip so that when the cup is flipped over, the ending grip will be a comfortable overhand grip for drinking, while individuals with impaired motor planning will start with a comfortable overhand grip, and will have to readjust their grip before using the cup. Although this experimental design allows researchers to elicit deficits in motor planning, it cannot quantify the extent of the deficit in motor planning skills. With this experimental paradigm, prior research has demonstrated that unimpaired children are able to plan ahead to end in a comfortable position as they age and gain experience [5]. However, when children with CP are tasked with this experiment, they prefer a comfortable starting grip regardless of age, indicating a step-by-step planning rather than anticipatory motor planning [3], [4], [6].

Upper-extremity functional tests are also commonly used to assess motor function. However, it is difficult to attribute motor deficits quantified in these functional tests to motor planning deficits or other physical impairments. Differentiating motor planning and motor execution will be invaluable for quantifying planning deficits and designing personalized interventions. There are multiple theories as to why children with CP have difficulty forward planning compared to unimpaired children. First, children with CP are believed to lack experience with motor planning due to increased aid from parents as compared to unimpaired children [7]. Second, there may be a decreased ability to imagine a movement without performing it (motor imagery), leading to difficulty planning ahead to perform motor tasks [3], [4], [6], [7], [8]. In children with hemiplegic CP, those with damage to the left hemisphere had difficulty planning ahead and with motor imagery, which impacted their performance of daily activities [3]. Neuroimaging studies demonstrated that motion planning requires recruitment and coordination of distributed neural networks in the left cerebral hemisphere including the frontal and post-parietal cortex [9], [10]. Research on monkeys involving preparation of movement revealed that motion planning requires interactions between the postparietal cortex and the frontal motor cortex [11], which are affected in CP. However, it is unclear to what extent children with CP are affected by deficits in motor planning compared to unimpaired children, as the current experimental design makes it difficult to differentiate between the physical impairment and motor planning deficits. Quantifying the degree of motor planning impairment would enable new clinical tests to assess and individualize rehabilitative interventions to improve motor planning.

#### II. METHODS

#### A. Computer Task

Following a procedure developed in [12], [16], a trajectory tracking computer task was created in Python2.6 using Pygames, such that the player follows a yellow trajectory

This research is supported by a grant from the National Science Foundation under the CISE CRII CPS (Award # 1565529), the Air Force Office of Scientific Research under grant FA9550-14-1-0398, and the Washington Research Foundation Funds for Innovation in Neuroengineering.

M Yamagami is with the BioRobotics Lab and Ability and Innovation Lab at the University of Washington, Seattle, WA, USA. (my13@uw.edu).

A. Giedd is with the BioRobotics Lab at the University of Washington,Seattle, WA, USA.D. Howell is with the BioRobotics Lab and the Ability and Innovation

Lab at the University of Washington, Seattle, WA, USA.

K. M. Steele leads the Ability and Innovation Lab at the University of Washington, Seattle, WA, USA.

S. A. Burden leads the BioRobotics Lab at the University of Washington, Seattle, WA, USA.



Fig. 1. a. The block diagram of HCPS highlights the feedback and feedforward human controller separation that combines to a measured user input U. Our experimental assays prescribe the reference and disturbance signals, r and d, as well as the cyber-physical model, M, and are designed to enable estimation of the distinct contributions of feedforward and feedback processes. b. A human operator completing the computer trajectory tracking task using a 1DOF slider.

using a purple cursor. A one-degree of freedom (1-DOF) slider was developed using a potentiometer attached to an Arduino Due, and a comfortable joystick was 3D printed (Fig. 1b). Reference trajectory and disturbance rejections (applied to the user as an invisible force to their input) were generated as a phase-shifted sum-of-sines, with interleaved frequencies at prime numbers from 2-31 inclusive with a base frequency of 0.02 Hz.

#### B. Data Collection

Ten unimpaired individuals will be recruited to participate in the study. After going through a series of trials to test their reaction time, they will go through 40 trajectory tracking trials, with each trial being 45 seconds long. Individuals will be instructed to minimize the distance between their cursor and the yellow reference trajectory, and to minimize their "score", a modified mean-squared-error, which was displayed on the screen at the end of each trial. A first-order plant will be used to transform the user input into the cursor output.

A similar protocol will be followed for one individual with cerebral palsy (MACS Level), and they will also asked about their level of impairment.

#### C. Separation of Feedforward and Feedback Controllers

Previous work demonstrated that the human sensorimotor controller is comprised of parallel feedforward and feedback pathways, F and B respectively (Fig. 1a). The dynamic inverse model mathematical framework [12] suggests that humans learn the forward model M and implement the inverse model as a feedforward controller,  $F = M^{-1}$ .

All data will be analyzed in the frequency domain. Feedforward and feedback contributions to the trajectory tracking task were separated in the frequency domain by computing the transfer functions  $H_{UR}$  and  $H_{UD}$ , which map

the reference and disturbance signals, respectively, to the user input.

We may express these empirical transforms as functions of the unknown feedforward and feedback controllers, F and B:

$$U = \underbrace{\frac{F+B}{1+BM}}_{H_{ur}} R + \underbrace{\frac{-BM}{1+BM}}_{H_{ud}} D, \qquad (1)$$

$$Y = (U+D)M.$$
 (2)

Or conversely, we estimate the feedforward and feedback controllers as functions of the empirical transforms and the prescribed system model:

$$B = \frac{-H_{ud}}{M(1+H_{ud})},\tag{3}$$

$$F = \frac{H_{ur} + M^{-1}H_{ud}}{1 + H_{ud}}.$$
 (4)

#### D. Data Analysis

The mean-squared error between the feedforward controller and  $M^{-1}$  will be used as a metric to assess motor planning. If the subjects are able to learn the dynamics of the model that transforms their user input into a cursor output and sufficiently plan ahead, their feedforward controller should be similar to  $M^{-1}$ .

#### **III.** CONCLUSION

This paper presents a novel method to assess motor planning and learning in individuals with cerebral palsy. We plan to implement this protocol this summer to quantify motor planning and learning in unimpaired individuals and individuals with cerebral palsy. We expect to have results of our study by fall, 2018. The conclusions of our study will aid in more targeted and individualized treatment planning for individuals with cerebral palsy.

- FJ Stanley, E Blair, E Alberman, "Cerebral Palsies: Epidimeology and Causal Pathways," No. 151. *Cambridge University press*, 2000.
- [2] P Rosenbaum, SD Walter, SE Hanna, RJ Palisano, DJ Russel, P Raina, E Wood, DJ Bartlett, BE Galuppi. Prognosis for gross motor function in cerebral palsy. Creation of motor development curves. *Journal of American Medical Association* 288:11, 2002.
- [3] B Steenbergen, J Verrel, AM Gordon. Motor planning in congenital hemiplegia. *Disability Rehabilitation* 29:1, pp 13-23, 2007.
- [4] B Steenbergen, AM Gordon. Activity limitation in hemiplegic cerebral palsy: evidence for disorders in motor planning. *Developmental medicine and child neurology*, 48:9, pp 780-783, 2006.
- [5] T Stockel, CML Hughes, T Schack. Representation of grasp postures an anticipatory motor planning in children. *Physiological Research*, 76:6, pp 768-776, 2012.
- [6] C Craje, P Aarts, M Nijhuis-van der Sanden, B Steenbergen. Action planning in typically and atypically developing children (unilateral cerebral palsy). *Research on Developmental Disability* 31:5, pp 1039-1046, 2010.
- [7] T Ustad, AB Sorsdahl, AE Ljunggren. Effects of intensive physiotherapy in infants newly diagnosed with cerebral palsy. *Pediatric Physical Therapy*, 21:2, pp 140-148, 2009
- [8] M Mutsaarts, B Steenbergen, H bekkering. Impaired motor imagery in right hemiparetic cerebral palsy. *Neurophychologia*, 45:4, pp. 853-859, 2007.

- [9] SH Johnson-Frey, R Newman-Norlund, ST Grafton. A distributed left hemisphere network active during planning of everyday tool use skills. *Cerebral Coretex*, 15:6, pp. 681-695, 2005.
- [10] JM Zacks. Neuroimaging studies of mental rotation: A meta-analysis and review. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 20:1, pp 1-19, 2008.
- [11] R Shadmehr, SP Wise. 13. Computing difference vectors II: parietal and frontal cortex. In *The computational neurobiology of reaching and pointing*, 1st ed. Cambridge, MA: Massachusets Institute of Technology Press books, pp. 229-270, 2005.
- [12] RM Robinson, DRR Scobee, SA Burden, SS Sastry. Dynamic inverse models in human-cyber-physical systems. In *Micro and Nanotechnol*ogy sensors, systems, and application VIII, 9836, 2016.
- [13] DM WOlpert, M Kawato. Multiple paired forward and inverse models for motor control. *Neural Networks*, 11:7, pp. 1317-1329, 1998.
  [14] H Imamizu, S Miyauchi, T Tamada, Y Sasaki, R Takino, B Buetz, T
- [14] H Imamizu, S Miyauchi, T Tamada, Y Sasaki, R Takino, B Buetz, T Yoshioka, M Kawato. Human cerebellar activity reflecting an acquired internal model of a new tool. *Nature* 403:6766, pp. 192-195, 2000.
- [15] M. Ito. Control of mental activities by internal models in the cerebellum. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 9:1, pp. 304-313, 2008.
- [16] M Conditt, F Gandolfo, FA Mussa-Ivaldi. The motor system does not learn the dynamics of the arm by route memorization of past experience. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 78:1, pp. 554-560, 1997.
- [17] E Roth, D Howell, C Beckwith, SA Burden. Towards experimental validation of a model for human sensorimotor learning and control in teleoperation. In *Micro- and nanotechnology sensors, systems and applicationsIX*, 2017.
- [18] E Todorov, MI Jordan. Optimal feedback control as a theory of motor coordination. *Nature Neuroscience*, 5:11, pp. 1226-1235, 2002.
- [19] J Diedrichsen, R Shadmehr, RB Ivry. The coordination of movement: optimal feedback control and beyond. *Trends in Cognitive Science*, 14:1, pp. 31-39, 2010.

## A review of human locomotion databases: preliminary results

D. Pinto-Fernandez, D. Torricelli and J.L. Pons

*Abstract*— This paper reports a preliminary overview on the existing datasets and databases of human locomotion. This analysis was conducted to identify the existing databases in this field, their main goal and structure, as well as to collect information about the necessities, preferences and deficiencies on this topic within the scientific community. Based on this results, we aim to stablish a robust design criteria for developing the first human-wearable-robot locomotion database.

#### I. INTRODUCTION

A SSESSING the performance of wearable robots is a necessary step to demonstrate the ability of research prototypes to work out of the lab and meet users' expectations and needs [1]. The European project Eurobench will establish the first European robotic framework for bipedal locomotion benchmarking and will provide the robotic community two facilities with this purpose.

This is a great opportunity to collect data from lots of robotic devices. This data should be uploaded and organized in a database where the scientific community could access, download and upload their own data with a specified format and structure.

The first step in this direction is to understand the state of the art on this topic. We performed an extensive review of the literature, focused on the following questions: "How many locomotion databases are available?", "What does each database contain?" and "How are these type of databases currently structured?". In this paper we report the preliminary results of this analysis and discuss the main relevant findings emerged so far.

#### II. MATERIAL AND METHODS

We performed an initial search on the Scopus scientific database using the following query string on paper title: ((gait\* OR locomot\* OR walk\* ) AND (database\* OR dataset\*)). The resulting 79 publications were filtered by reading titles and abstracts, looking for the presence of actual and available databases. We excluded publications that were not related to the definition or usage of any database of that kind. With this first search query, we couldn't find any robotic locomotion database, so, to the resulting 44 papers we added 6 publications resulting from a further search query aimed to

find papers covering robotic locomotion databases: ((gait\* OR locomot\* OR walk\*) AND (TITLE (database\*OR dataset\*) AND (robot\* OR "wearable robot\*". OR exoskelet\* OR humanoid\* OR "powered orthos\*")).

These 50 publications were further analyzed focusing on two main aspects: The presence of state of the art databases and the definition and creation of databases' structures.

#### III. RESULTS

At Table 1 preliminary results of the search are shown. We found 20 databases. Five of them were divided in datasets or sub-databases with different goal or content.

We found four different categories for classification. Gait recognition and biometric databases represent 45% of the existing databases. Another 45% of the state of the art databases are gait analysis and biometric data ones. We found another 20% of gesture and action analysis and recognition and only one out of 20 (5%) contained clinical data.

TABLE I List of Databases Found and Goals

Day	Database Goal	Reference
CMU Mobo	Gait Recognition	[2]
SOTON	Gait Recognition	[3]
CASIA-GD	Gait Recognition	[4]
CASIA-AD	Gait Recognition	[5]
AVA Multi-View	Gait Recognition	[6]
KY 4D	Gait Recognition	[7]
OU-ISIR	Gait Recognition and Analysis	[8]
HuGaDB	Gait Analysis	[9]
Daphnet	Parkinson's Gait Analysis	[10]
USF	Gait Recognition	[11]
MAREA	Locomotion and gesture recognition	[12]
GRACE	Locomotion and gesture recognition	[13]
TST-Fall	Fall Detection	[14]
Mocap	Gait Analysis	[15]
CMU-GLMCD	Gait Analysis	[16]
ISB	Gait Analysis	[17]
HuMoD	Gait Analysis	[18]
HOOD	Gait and Action Analysis	[19]
HIDGC	Gait Recognition	[20]
SRLAB	Clinical data	[21]

#### IV. DISCUSSION

All the gait recognition and biometric databases contain

This work is supported by the project EUROBENCH (European Robotic Framework for Bipedal Locomotion Benchmarking) funded by H2020 Topic ICT 27-2017 under grant agreement no: 779963.

D. Pinto-Fernandez is with the Neural Rehabilitation Group of the Spanish National Research Council, Madrid, Spain (david.pinto@cajal.csic.es).

D. Torricelli is with the Neural Rehabilitation Group of the Spanish National Research Council, Madrid, Spain (diego.torricelli@csic.es).

J. L. Pons is with the Neural Rehabilitation Group of the Spanish National Research Council, Madrid, Spain (jose.pons@csic.es).

images or video, and the most common files are .png and .avi. A lot of this biometric databases have also pre-processed data containing gait models and subject silhouettes.

Srlab, which is a huge database containing clinical data, and the Daphnet database which analyses Parkinson's disease gait are the only ones we found involving patients. The other 18 databases contained only healthy subjects' data.

We didn't find a common structure at these databases. The only common point is that the majority require an agreement and an acknowledgement of the terms of use signed to be accessed, which is very important for controlling the usage of the data.

It is usually required extra software to decrypt or process the data contained at the datasets. The most requested software is Matlab and .C3D viewers for motion capture datasets. In terms of Data acquisition, the preferred method found is photogrammetry, but some marker based motion capture and IMU based databases have been found.

#### V. CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE WORK

We provided here some preliminary results on a currently ongoing review work on the state of the art of the human locomotion and gait databases. This overview was conducted to identify existing databases and its main categories.

We identified two main goals: gait analysis and recognition. We found interesting that only two of these databases contain clinical and patients' data. Another interesting finding was that there is no availability for robotic locomotion datasets, which we consider very important for the evolution of the state of the art technologies.

As future work we propose to continue developing this review to identify the existing database's structures, as well as to collect information about the necessities, preferences and deficiencies on this topic within the scientific community. Based on this results, we aim to stablish a robust design criteria for developing our own database at Eurobench.

- D. Torricelli, A. J. del Ama, J. González, J. Moreno, A. Gil and J. L. Pons, "Benchmarking lower limb wearable robots: Emerging approaches and technologies," in 8th ACM International Conference on Pervasive Technologies, Corfu, 2015.
- [2] The CMU Motion of Body (MoBo) Database The Robotics Institute Carnegie Mellon University, (2001) [online] Available at: https://www.ri.cmu.edu/publications/the-cmu-motion-of-body-mobodatabase/ [Accessed 31 Jul. 2018].
- [3] Southampton Human ID at a Distance Database, (2001). [online] Available at: http://www.gait.ecs.soton.ac.uk/database/ [Accessed 31 Jul. 2018].
- [4] CASIA gait Database (2005). Center for Biometrics and Security Research. [online] Available at: http://www.cbsr.ia.ac.cn/english/Gait%20Databases.asp [Accessed 31 Jul. 2018].
- [5] CASIA Action Database [online] Available at: http://www.cbsr.ia.ac.cn/english/Action%20Databases%20EN.asp, [Accessed 31 Jul. 2018].

- [6] The AVA Multi-View Dataset for Gait Recognition [online] Available at: http://www.uco.es/grupos/ava/node/41 [Accessed 31 Jul. 2018].
- [7] KY 4D (2010)[online] Available at: http://robotics.ait.kyushuu.ac.jp/yumi/db/gait\_a.html [Accessed 31 Jul. 2018].
- [8] OU-ISIR (2007) [online] Available at: http://www.am.sanken.osakau.ac.jp/BiometricDB/index.html [Accessed 31 Jul. 2018].
- HuGaDB, [online] Available at: https://github.com/romanchereshnev/HuGaDB/ [Accessed 31 Jul. 2018].
- [10] Daphnet [online] Available at: https://archive.ics.uci.edu/ml/datasets/Daphnet+Freezing+of+Gait [Accessed 31 Jul. 2018].
- [11] USF Dataset [online] Available at: http://marathon.csee.usf.edu/GaitBaseline/Data%20Set.htm [Accessed 31 Jul. 2018].
- [12] MAREA [online] Available at: http://islab.hh.se/mediawiki/Gait\_database [Accessed 31 Jul. 2018].
- [13] GRACE [online] Available at: http://wrap.warwick.ac.uk/78493/ [Accessed 31 Jul. 2018].
- [14] TST Falling [online] Available at: http://www.tlc.dii.univpm.it/blog/%20databases4kinect#IDFall1 [Accessed 31 Jul. 2018].
- [15] Mocap Database [online] Available at: https://gait.fi.muni.cz/#database [Accessed 31 Jul. 2018].
- [16] CMU Graphics Lab Motion Capture Database [online] Available at: http://mocap.cs.cmu.edu/ [Accessed 31 Jul. 2018].
- [17] International Society of Biomechanics [online] Available at: https://isbweb.org/data/ [Accessed 31 Jul. 2018].
- [18] HuMoD (2015) [online] Avaliable at: https://www.sim.informatik.tudarmstadt.de/res/ds/humod/ [Accessed 31 Jul. 2018].
- [19] HOOD (2014) [online] Avaliable at: https://github.com/fulviomas/HOOD/ [Accessed 31 Jul. 2018].
- [20] Human ID Gait Challenge Dataset (2001) [online] Avaliable at: http://www.cse.usf.edu/~sarkar/SudeepSarkar/Gait\_Data.html/ [Accessed 31 Jul. 2018].
- [21] SrLab [online] Available at: https://www.sralab.org/rehabilitationmeasures/database?assessment\_type=3792/ [Accessed 31 Jul. 2018].

## **Proposal of a Stackable Functional Electrical Stimulation System Device**

C. Rodrigues, A. Ortiz, J. C. Moreno and J. L. Pons

Abstract—Functional Electrical Stimulation (FES) is a technique that applies electrical pulses to impaired or paralyzed muscles to restore or improve their functions. Methods that make use of FES systems are being increasingly used in clinical rehabilitation and research to produce muscle contractions from electrical stimuli. The applications of FES devices go to drop foot inability to restoration of upper and lower limb in spinal cord injures patients. This paper presents a proposal of a stackable one-channel surface FES system device. The based concept of the device is to develop an one-channel stimulator that can be liked with others using a communication potocol, where the messages are send by a control unit. This design makes it possible to provide a FES device with variable output channels, being all indepent between each other, what leads to a more flexible and personal system to the user's purpose and needs.

#### I. INTRODUCTION

NeuroMuscular Electrical Stimulation (NMES) can be defined as the application of electrical pulses to motor points in order to artificially contract skeletal muscles [1]. The Functional Electrical Stimulation (FES) term was patented by Moe and Post in 1967 as an "Electrical stimulation of muscle deprived of nervous control with a view of providing muscular contraction and producing a functionally useful moment" [2]. FES can, therefore, be defined as a technique that applies electrical pulses to paralyzed muscles to restore or improve their function [3], better saying, the application of NMES to supplement or replace function that is lost in neurologically impaired individuals [4].

The method of electrical stimulation was primarily used by Liberson et al. [5] in 1961 to restore the peroneal nerve of hemiplegic patients suffering from drop foot [1]. Since then, the method of electrical stimulation has been used in different areas such as preventing bladder and bowel incontinence, reducing spasticity, regulating heart rhythm and improving paralyzed limbs [4], [6]–[9].

Due to the increasing use of FES methods, several FES devices are being developed and researched.

Breen et al. developed a 2-channel programmable and portable stimulator with algorithms for drop foot correction as well for blood flow assist [10].

Popovic et al. built the Compex Motion stimulator, wich presents four current regulated stimulation channels and has two input channels that can be configured as analog or digital input channels, besides that, this stimulator can work with a parallel configuration of stimulator device, expanding the number of stimulation channels in multiples of four [11].

The objective of EXTEND is to develop all the necessary tools to achieve a minimally invasive bidirectional neural interface platform capable of distributed stimulation and sensing of neuromuscular activity, for attaining what we refer to as Bidirectional Hyper-connected Neural System, BHNS.

This network will create novel channels of communications between various sensory and motor nerves, providing the means of a synthetic chain of action-reaction of sensorimotor activity.

EXTEND will develop the technology for Bidirectional Hyper-connected Neural Systems (BHNS), these systems will allow the connection between a network of implanted wireless stimulators/sensors and external devices and tools [12]. The proposed FES system will be, therefore, used in the earlies stages of the EXTEND project, providing a net of superficial FES stimulators that can be used before the final inserted implants.

The concept to the design of the system here proposed is, thus, carried out to attend the needs of said project. Finally, is going to be develop an one-channel surface stimulator that can be linked with others by a communication protocol, here is proposed the CAN communication, controlled by a control unit. This design makes it possible to provide a FES device with variable output channels, beeing all indepent between each other. This design makes this FES system device more flexible and personal to the user's purpose and needs.

#### II. MATERIAL AND METHODS

The FES stimulator proposed in this article can be seen as a stackable block device, where a block can be interpreted as a single-channel stimulator device.

The stimulators devices are going to be controlled by a master block, or control unit. This block will be responsable of sending the stimulation parameters to the simulators.

The communication between the control unit and the stimulators is going to be performed by a CAN communication protocol. This communication protocol is based on a distributed scheme, where there's a central unit, allowing a direct data transfer between any two or more nodes without a master mediation [13].

This work is supported by the project EXTEND (Bidirectional Hyper-Connected Neural System) funded by H2020 Topic ICT 23-2017 under grant agreement No 779982.

C. Rodrigues is with the Neural Rehabilitation Group of the Spanish National Research Council, Madrid, Spain (e-mail: camila.rodrigues@cajal.csic.es).

A. Ortiz, is with the Neural Rehabilitation Group of the Spanish National Research Council, Madrid, Spain (e-mail : andrea.ortiz@csic.es).

J. C. Moreno, is with the Neural Rehabilitation Group of the Spanish National Research Council, Madrid, Spain (e-mail : jc.moreno@csic.es).

J. L. Pons, is with the Neural Rehabilitation Group of the Spanish National Research Council, Madrid, Spain (e-mail : jose.pons@cajal.csic.es).

In Figure 1 is shown a diagram of the proposed system, where we can see the control unit linked by the CAN protocol to the single-channel FES devices.



Fig. 1. Schematic of the proposed system. The control unit is the master block wich is linked to the other blocks, responsible for the functional electrical stimulation. The messages between blocks are going to be send by a CAN protocol.

The FES system proposed in this article is planned to allow more flexibility to the user, that is possible once, with one control unit, the user can attach several single-channel FES stimulators. The maximum quantity of stimulators is going to be limited by the number of messages existing in the CAN protocol and the control's unit processing power.

#### **III. DISCUSSION**

The arrangement of the FES system presented, in stackable blocks can provide some important advantages:

- Flexibility: the final FES device here proposed do not have a fixed number of channels, this feature is defined by the user's need. This characteristic leads to a personal assembly to each case and patient.
- Not demultiplexing output: Several FES devices, to have more outputs options, make use of demultiplex one stimulation signal in several ones. This method can lead to delays in the device's output. The FES system here proposed don't need to make use of such action, once present a simple direct output signal.
- Independent channels: unlike most of the current stimulators, this proposal provides the possibility of having an all independent channel stimulator, that means, each stimulation signal output will have its proper ground. This characteristic allows local and independent muscle stimulation, avoing also galvanic burn.

#### IV. CONCLUSION

The FES technique is progressively being used in clinical rehabilitation and research to produce muscle contractions from electrical stimuli. The applications of FES are being increasingly used, which leads to more researches and creation of functional electrical stimulator devices.

The FES stimulator device here proposed have a different concept from the stimulators being used in this moment. Its disposition provides flexibility, independency between its channels and facility of use, making this proposal promising in the FES devices developing area.

The arrangement of this stimulator allows future implementation of EMG signal sensor in each independent block, using the CAN communication as well to send parameters and read EMG signals.



Fig. 2. Proposed design of the FES system. A control unit linked to three single-channel stimulators.

#### V. ACKNOWLEDGMENT

This work is supported by the project EXTEND (Bidirectional Hyper-Connected Neural System) funded by H2020 Topic ICT 23-2017 under grant agreement No 779982.

- B. Broderick, P. Breen, and G. Ólaighin, "Electronic stimulators for surface neural prosthesis," *Journal of Automatic Control*, vol. 18, no. 2, pp. 25–33, 2008.
- [2] J. H. MOE and H. W. POST, "Functional electrical stimulation for ambulation in hemiplegia.," *The Journal-lancet*, vol. 82, pp. 285–8, jul 1962.
- [3] R. Breahna, I. Turtureanu, S. Lozovanu, V. Ojog, A. Ganenco, and O. Arnaut, "Functional electrical stimulation," in 2nd International Conference on Nanotechnologies and Biomedical Engineering, 2013.
- [4] P. H. Peckham and J. S. Knutson, "Functional Electrical Stimulation for Neuromuscular Applications," *Annual Review of Biomedical En*gineering, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 327–360, 2005.
- [5] W. T. LIBERSON, H. J. HOLMQUEST, D. SCOT, and M. DOW, "Functional electrotherapy: stimulation of the peroneal nerve synchronized with the swing phase of the gait of hemiplegic patients.," *Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation*, vol. 42, pp. 101–5, feb 1961.
- [6] D. Graupe and K. H. Kohn, "Functional neuromuscular stimulator for short-distance ambulation by certain thoracic-level spinal-cord-injured paraplegics," *Surgical Neurology*, vol. 50, no. 3, pp. 202–207, 1998.
- [7] A. Prochazka, M. Gauthier, M. Wieler, and Z. Kenwell, "The bionic glove: An electrical stimulator garment that provides controlled grasp and hand opening in quadriplegia," *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, vol. 78, no. 6, pp. 608–614, 1997.
- [8] L. R. Sheffler and J. Chae, "Neuromuscular electrical stimulation in neurorehabilitation," *Muscle & Nerve*, vol. 35, pp. 562–590, may 2007.
- [9] P. Ghosh, A. Mazumder, A. Banerjee, and D. Tibarewala, "Electromyography-Based Functional Electrical Stimulation (FES) in Rehabilitation," No. January 2015, pp. 337–355, 2018.
- [10] P. P. Breen, G. J. Corley, D. T. O'Keeffe, R. Conway, and G. ÓLaighin, "A programmable and portable NMES device for drop foot correction and blood flow assist applications," *Medical Engineering and Physics*, vol. 31, no. 3, pp. 400–408, 2009.
- [11] M. R. Popovic and T. Keller, "Modular transcutaneous functional electrical stimulation system," *Medical Engineering and Physics*, vol. 27, no. 1, pp. 81–92, 2005.
- [12] J. L. Pons, D. Farina, A. Ivorra, K.-P. Hoffmann, F. Grandas, F. Thorsteinsson, and A. Gil-Agudo, "EXTEND, Bidirectional Hyper-Connected Neural Systems."
- [13] S. A. Shweta, D. P. Mukesh, and B. N. Jagdish, "Implementation of Controller Area Network (CAN) Bus (Building Automation)," pp. 507–514, 2011.

## The Need for Studying the Biocompatibility and Safety of Biomimetic eAXON Neuro-prosthetic Systems

Ahmed Eladly, Antoni Ivorra PhD

Abstract-Minimally invasive wireless addressable singlechannel micro-stimulators called the eAXONs (for electronic axons) will be injected intramuscularly to excite paralyzed muscles that have lost their neural drive due to trauma or stroke. The eAXONs will deliver stimulation through electronic rectification of innocuous high frequency currents applied through epidermal electrodes. This innovative stimulation method pushes the limit of miniaturization to the point that the diameter of the eAXONs will be only a fraction of that belonging to the thinnest microstimulator attainable by current technologies. Due to the high level of miniaturization, we envision the implantation of a large density of eAXONs per muscle to improve control over muscle activation and reduce fatigue. It is known that the implantation of intramuscular devices can induce muscle damage. However, the relationship governing the number of devices and extent of muscle damage remains unclear. Moreover, the effect of electrode separation distance on the biological tissue response produced by intramuscular devices has never been investigated. Both have important implications on the safety, in vivo performance and clinical translatability of the eAXON neuro-prosthetic systems.

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Patients who suffer from paralysis more often than not have intact peripheral motor nerves that can be artificially excited to effect functional movement. Functional electrical stimulation (FES) is the application of low stimulation currents to lower motor nerves to restore movement to paralyzed muscles. Current fully implantable FES systems consist of several stimulating electrodes whose conducting leads are routed subcutaneously and connected with an internal stimulator placed remotely in the chest or abdomen area[1]. Such wired FES systems are composed of bulky hardware whose implantation requires invasive surgeries. Moreover, the leads cause a reliability problem due their vulnerability to fracture and migration during evoked muscle contractions[2]. Contrarily, implantable wireless FES systems consisting of independent single-channel stimulators have the advantages of low invasiveness and high durability due to the elimination of leads. An example of such system is the BIOnic Neuron or BIONs developed by G. Loeb et al.[3]. The BION is a cylindrical micro-stimulator that is thin enough (2 mm in diameter) to be implanted by injection into the muscle via a hypodermic needle in a minimally invasive technique. With this system, multi-site stimulation can be accomplished by combining several channels or BIONs forming a network to re-innervate a large area of the body.

#### II. ELECTRODE DENSITY IN FES

Conventionally, FES is applied to a single point in the muscle. Such low electrode density is accompanied by early muscle fatigue and unstable recruitment[4]. Furthermore, it was demonstrated that there is a direct correlation between the number of stimulation channels and the level of control and complexity of artificially produced movements[5]. Nowadays, the implantable wired FES systems are only available in 8 or 16 stimulus-channel configurations. The BION system can support up to 256 channels, yet the relatively bulky size and rigid design restricts their implantation in large numbers. Challenging the current limit of electronic miniaturization can bring about the development of extremely thin devices. Subsequently, this would open up the possibility of implanting a large number of devices inside the muscle to control it without causing excessive muscle tissue damage. A motor prosthesis based on a low number of stimulation channels falls short of emulating the natural mechanisms of muscle activation resulting in quickly fatiguing and poorly controlled muscle movements. However, in the case of the eAXON system, fatigue resistance and motor control are improved by placing a large number of eAXONs. Such high innervation density is similar to that naturally found in the muscle and thus eAXON system embodies a biomimetic control method capable of producing movement similar to that generated by volition.

There is another advantage to having a large number of stimulus channels. In FES, it is known that high stimulation frequencies are linked to early muscle fatigue. The presence of several channels allows stimulation to be delivered at a lower frequency than would be possible with a single channel and thus fatigue can be delayed[6]. However, the use of low stimulation frequency gives rise to tremors due to the incomplete fusion of the individual muscle twitches. The existence of many channels provides a window to perform interleaved stimulation. Interleaved stimulation refers to implementing a time delay between stimulation of different channels to obtain smooth contractions while retaining fatigue resistance associated with low frequency stimulation.

#### III. THE EAXON PROJECT

The eAXON project focuses on the development of an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>T</sup>his work has been supported by ERC grant agreement No 724244.

Ahmed Eladly is with the Department of Information and Communication Technologies, Universitat Pompeu Fabra, Barcelona, Spain (Ahmed.eladly@upf.edu).

Antoni Ivorra is with the Department of Information and Communication Technologies, Universitat Pompeu Fabra, Barcelona, Spain (Antoni.Ivorra@upf.edu).

extremely thin and flexible wireless neuromuscular interface aimed to be injected into the muscle[7]. Each eAXON can be activated independently of one another through a specific address. Fig. 1 shows a non-addressable prototype of the eAXON. Compliant materials (mainly silicone) will be used in the construction of the eAXONs. The flexibility of the eAXONs will act as a stress relief mechanism which will minimize tissue damage caused by friction during muscle movement. The eAXONs receive power and stimulation commands wirelessly from an external generator using galvanic coupling through rectification of high frequency bursts. This method of implant powering does not require bulky components like coils or batteries leading to an unprecedented reduction in implant size. The fact that the eAXONs enjoy a high level of miniaturization, leads to the possibility that many of them can be implanted in a single muscle to biomimetically control its contraction.



Fig. 1. Picture of the current eAXON prototype (Ø 1 mm)

#### IV. SAFETY & FOREIGN BODY RESPONSE

Perhaps the most unconventional aspect of the eAXON technology is that the injection of a large number of devices in muscles is required. This represents a paradigm shift from the standard techniques applied in FES practice that are based on small interface density. The implantation of a large number of stimulators was not previously attempted due to size constraints imposed by the lack of appropriate miniaturization technologies. An important step towards demonstrating the potential of the eAXON technology to be used in humans is to evaluate its safety and efficacy using animal studies. It is unknown if the presence of the eAXONs will cause significant muscle damage and if this damage will be dependent on the number of implanted devices. Moreover, there are uncertainties concerning the anchorage behavior of the eAXONs inside muscles. Ironically, muscle movement caused by activation of the eAXONs renders them susceptible to migration and subsequent failure.

Foreign body response or FBR corresponds to the sequence of acute and chronic immune-related events that unravel subsequent to implantation of a medical device. The immune response culminates in the formation of a collagen capsule that isolates the device from the excitable tissue. The increase in the physical separation and electrical impedance between the eAXON and the target tissue caused by the

collagen capsule may lead to partial or complete loss of efficacy. Adequate in vivo functionality of the eAXONs can be ensured when the fibrotic capsule is kept as thin as possible. There are several factors that aggravate the FBR including mechanical factors. The number of implanted eAXONs per muscle and their separation distance may indirectly influence the thickness of the FBR by redistributing the stresses inside the muscle. Large number of eAXONs placed at small inter-electrode distances may cause the accumulation of stresses near the eAXONs leading to excessive mechanical trauma. Ultimately, these changes can exacerbate the FBR and result in device failure.

#### V. CONCLUSION

The eAXON neuroprosthetic system independently recruits sections of muscles rather than whole muscles to effect movement of paralyzed limbs. The eAXON approach may hold the key to unlocking the problems of fatigue and unrefined movement control which have stifled the clinical success of FES for decades. However, stringent evaluation of the safety and efficacy of the eAXON technology still needs to be conducted.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENT

This project has received funding from the European Research Council (ERC) under the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme (grant agreement No 724244).

#### References

- P. Smith Keith Roscoe, "An externally powered, multichannel, implantable stimulator for versatile control of paralized muscle," *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng.*, vol. BME-34, n°, no. 4, pp. 499–508, 1987.
- [2] W. D. Memberg, P. H. Peckham, and M. W. Keith, "A Surgically-Implanted Intramuscular Electrode for an Implantable Neuromuscular Stimulation System," vol. 2, no. 2, 1994.
- [3] G. E. Loeb, R. A. Peck, W. H. Moore, and K. Hood, "BION system for distributed neural prosthetic interfaces," vol. 23, pp. 9– 18, 2001.
- [4] S. FERRANTE, A. L. G. PEDROCCHI, and G. FERRIGNO, "Biomimetic neuroprostheses: Human-Like Control Strategies to Improve Training Rehabilitative Exercises Using Functional Electrical Stimulation," in *Progress in Biological Cybernetics Research*, 2008, pp. 161–185.
- [5] R. Kobetic, R. J. Triolo, and E. B. Marsolais, "Muscle selection and walking performance of multichannel FES systems for ambulation in paraplegia," *IEEE Trans. Rehabil. Eng.*, vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 23–29, 1997.
- [6] R. J. B. Peckham P.H., Van Der Meulen J.P., "Electrical Activation of Skeletal Muscle by Sequential Stimulation. Springer, Boston, MA," in Wulfsohn N.L., Sances A. (eds) The Nervous System and Electric Currents. Springer, Boston, MA, 1970.
- [7] A. Ivorra and L. Becerra-fajardo, "Flexible Thread-like Electrical Stimulation Implants Based on Rectification of Epidermically Applied Currents which Perform Charge Balance," *Replace. Repair, Restore, Reli. – Bridg. Clin. Eng. Solut. Neurorehabilitation*, 2014.

## Survey of Common Issues in Magnetic Inertial Sensors: Main Neuro-Rehabilitation Applications

E. A. Belalcazar-Bolaños, J. O. Roa-Romero, and J. L. Pons-Rovira

Abstract— The development of interactive neurorehabilitation technologies based on motion tracking has attracted attention from several research fields. In particular, Magnetic Inertial Measurements Units (MIMU) has been widely studied in the latter years as it is a cost-effective enabling technology for those applications in which motion tracking based on optical technologies is unsuitable. A methodology for a systematic survey of MIMU sensors in neuro-rehabilitation applications and their common issues in human motion capture systems is presented. Results shows several applications in neuro-rehabilitation and the main challenges that IMU sensors must address.

#### I. BACKGROUND

Due to the growing population, in the past few decades, many health-care problems have highlighted. According to the World Health Organization, currently 15% of people suffer from musculoskeletal disabilities; among these 15%, 35%-50% of disabled people in modern countries are not getting the necessary management: diagnosis, treatment, followup. This number is even higher in developing countries and reaches 76%-85% [1]. To recover any dysfunction of body locomotion, and to improve surgical outcomes of musculoskeletal patients, functional rehabilitation is one of the most efficient routine. Usually, a rehabilitation program is assigned by a clinical expert to a specific patient, and then the execution and follow-up are managed by a therapists team. The direct therapist intervention presents some limitations that require therapists to always follow, guide, and physically support their patients [2]; So, a significant number of therapists is required to ensure the quality of the rehabilitation program. This fact led to establish a research field as a complementary tool for therapeutic sessions, with an objective evaluation of the rehabilitation process.

In this field a large range of sensors such as Microsoft Kinect, Wii Mote, Wii Fit, force plates, and Magnetic Inertial Measurement Units (MIMU) have been used as interactive tools between the subject and the virtual environment of the developed systems [3]–[5]. The most commonly sensor used is the Microsoft Kinect, due to its low price and big success with Xbox games. Furthermore, in order to use these visual or inertial sensors for body tracking in serious games, the sensor needs to be able to estimate the orientation of any considered limb and the respectively joint angles

[4]. Traditionally, the universal goniometer was the most famous tool for joint angle estimation, and more recently the motion capture system based on photometry is commonly used for the same propose. However, even though these two tools are considered as the golden standards for orientation angle estimation, they are neither portable nor cost efficient. This lead to a growing interest in using MIMU system in particular.

The main applications related to MIMU sensors include walking speed estimation [6], gait analysis [7], pedestrian dead-reckoning [8], activity classification [9], rehabilitation, ergonomic, etc. Typically, 9 degrees of freedom (9DOF) are considered by means of tri-axial acceleromenter, tri-axial gyroscope, and tri-axial magnetometer. By taking into account some conditions such as homogeneous magnetic field, the attitude and heading can be estimated from gravitation acceleration and geomagnetic field, respectively. Meanwhile the attitude and heading updating is carried out by the integration of gyroscope measurements. However, there are some limitations when the sensors are considered separately; acceleration caused by motion, gyro integration drifts, and magnetic distortions [10]. Thus, sensor fusion is required for compensating errors and improving orientation estimation accuracy [11]–[13].

Due to several applications in neuro-rehabilitation consider the use of MIMU sensors, this article present a methodology for a systematic survey of neuro-rehabilitation applications and common issues in human motion capture systems; both focus on MIMU sensors. In section II is described the process considered for the systematic survey and section III show the main literature selected. Finally, section IV present the main conclusions about the survey.

#### II. METHOD

#### A. Literature search strategy

The four main databases for both engineering and health applications were taken into account: ACM, IEEE Xplore, PubMed, and Scopus. Papers addressing the following aspects were selected: rehabilitation, MIMU, drift, constraints, magnetic disturbances. Title, abstract, keywords and their spelling variations and synonyms were considered in each database. Articles published from 2004 to 2017 were included. This search includes refereed journal papers and peer reviewed articles published in conference proceedings. Only English articles are included.

This work was financed by "Comunidad de Madrid, doctorado de industria 2018".

E. A. Belalcazar-Bolaños and J. O. Roa-Romero are with Technaid S.L., Madrid, Spain (corresponding author to provide e-mail: elkyn.belalcazar@technaid.com).

J.L. Pons-Rovira Author is with the Bioengineering Group of the Spanish National Research Council, Madrid, Spain.

#### B. Study selection process

The PRISMA [5] guidelines were considered in the following steps for article selection process:

- 1) A manual search strategy was performed since 2018 on each database.
- 2) After removal duplicates, it was screened titles and abstract of remaining articles
- Full texts were read and then selected articles based on the inclusion/exclusion criteria.

Inclusion criteria were: a) Neuro-rehabilitation purposes, b) Upper, lower and full body, c) Main issues in MIMU systems, d) Magnetic disturbances, e) Biomechanical constraints, e) bias and drift, f) Articles were written in English.

Exclusion criteria: Sensor fusion with MIMU and other technology.

#### C. Data extraction process

The extracted data included the technology used in applications in neuro-rehabilitation, kinematic constraints, drift, and magnetic disturbances.

#### III. RESULTS

#### A. Applications in Neuro-rehabilitation

In the last decade several researchers have focused on the development of portable, cost efficient, and reliable tools based on MIMU sensors. Some studies had following aims: improve active joint range of motion, improve movement performance, improve movement coordination, improve posture, improve muscle strength, overcome learned non-use and improve performance of activities of daily living skills. In [14]–[23] **Stroke** rehabilitation is considered, by using of MIMU sensors in process such as body segment posture, improve posture and movement performance. Besides, [24] depicts a rehabilitation process in **Spinal Cord Injury** considering body segment posture, and improve moment performance. The same techniques are applied in neuro-rehabilitation in children with **Cerebral Palsy** [25].

One of the most common application of MIMU sensors is gait analysis, for diagnosis or treatment aims. In recent years **Parkinson** and **Alzheimer** disease have attracted the attention of the scientific community in topics such as detection of the pathology and estimate the stage. In [26], [27], the authors use MIMU sensors in lower body for a early detection in both diseases. Although they are neurodegenerative diseases, therapies allow to reduce the speed of degeneration of the pathology.

#### B. MIMU issues

Common issues in human motion capture systems based on inertial measures are considered and the main strategies to deal with. Following, main issues due to the sensors and environment interaction will be presented.

**Kinematic constraints (KC)** The fundamental role is to prevent the relative displacement of the body segments to drifts over time. Typically, KC could be embedded in the sensor fusion algorithm to provide more consistent solution, or after when the attitude estimation is provided [28]-[31]. In [28]–[30], [32]–[35], the elbow is constrained to reduced DoFs. In contrast to the kinematic chain model, free segments models have been proposed [31], [36]; these anatomical constraints representations consider hard constraint, e.g., the connectivity between successive limbs [36], while the soft constraints are relaxed in order to reduce the effects of errors related to their implementations. Drift A solution based on integration of gyroscope is adapted to follow the human motion dynamic, but it cannot be used alone because the estimation quickly drifts. A common solution for reducing drifts is fusing Inertial Navigation System (INS) with a quasi-static one, as it develops in many complementary filters approaches [12], [37]–[40]. Another solution considers constraints from kinematic chain to avoid drifting attitude estimate of one limb with respect to the others [28]-[30], [33], [34], [39], [41]–[45]. A further solution used mainly in lower limbs tracking and exploiting contacts of the feet with the ground [39]. When the foot is in contact with the ground its velocity is almost null. This information can be used to reset the speed, this method is commonly known as zero velocity update (ZVUT). These techniques have highly reduced drifts as showed in several studies.

Magnetic disturbances The most accurate methods consider the magnetometer signal for attitude estimation and drift correction. However, this signal are easily distorted by the presence of ferromagnetic materials. Typically, distortion effects are classified as hard and soft iron interference [11], [46]; hard iron effects causes an offset of the earth magnetic field whereas soft iron effects causes a distortion. If the magnetic environment does not change, these effects can be corrected through internal sensor calibration. On the other hand magnetic fields variations of space and time is a dealing task (no-homogeneous magnetic field). The simplest solution is to establish a decision criterion when magnetometer signal is reliable. This can be done by thresholding its magnitude [47], [48]. Another common solution is limiting the contribution of the magnetometer measurement to the heading variable [28] or two components [12]. Moreover, a novel solution suggest a model-based estimation of the disturbance, in [49] the authors consider that the magnetic field direction is estimated simultaneously with the sensor orientation.

#### **IV. CONCLUSIONS**

A robust methodology was presented for a systematic survey of neuro-rehabilitation application using MIMU sensors; moreover, it is considers their common issues in human motion capture system. The method proposed allows to discard redundant information, to find a set of diseases where neuro-rehabilitation has been used with the sensors, and to limit the main challenges that must be solved for a correct measurement in MIMU sensors.

#### REFERENCES

 S. Hartley, V. Ilagan, A. Madden, A. Posarac, K. Seelman, T. Shakespeare, S. Sipos, M. Swanson, M. Thomas, and Z. Qiu, *World Report* on Disability (WHO), Geneva, Switzerland, 07 2011.

- [2] J. Perry, J. Andureu, F.I.Cavallaro, J. Veneman, S. Carmien, and T. Keller, Game Use in Neurorehabilitation: User-Centered Perspectives. In Handbook of Research on Improving Learning and Motivation through Educational Games; IGI Global: Hershey, PA, USA, 2010.
- [3] Y. Chang, S. Chen, and J. Huang, "A kinect-based system for physical rehabilitation: A pilot study for young adults with motor disabilities," *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, vol. 32, no. 6, pp. 2566–2570, 2011.
- [4] H. Tannous, D. Istrate, M. H. B. Tho, and T. Dao, "Serious game and functional rehabilitation for the lower limbs," *European Research in Telemedicine*, vol. 5, no. 2, pp. 65–69, 2016.
- [5] D. Moher, A. Liberati, J. Tetzlaff, and D. Altman, "Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: The PRISMA statement," *Annaals of Internal Medicine*, vol. 151, no. 4, pp. 264–9, 2009.
- [6] S. Yang and Q. Li, "Inertial sensor-based methods in walking speed estimation: A systematic review," *Sensors*, vol. 12, no. 5, pp. 6102– 6116, 2012.
- [7] W. Tao, T. Liu, R. Zheng, and H. Feng, "Gait analysis using wearable sensors," *Sensors*, vol. 12, no. 2, pp. 2255–2283, 2012.
- [8] S. Bao, X. Meng, W. Xiao, and Z. Zhang, "Fusion of inertial/magnetic sensor measurements and map information for pedestrian tracking," *Sensors*, vol. 17, no. 2, p. 340, 2017.
- [9] A. Laudanski, B. Brouwer, and Q. Li, "Activity classification in persons with stroke based on frequency features," *Medical Engineering* and Physics, vol. 37, no. 2, pp. 180–186, 2015.
- [10] Y. Wu, D. Zou, P. Liu, and W. Yu, "Dynamic magnetometer calibration and alignment to inertial sensors by kalman filtering," *IEEE Transactions on Control Systems Technology*, vol. 26, no. 2, pp. 716–723, 2018.
- [11] A. Sabatini, "Quaternion-based extended kalman filter for determining orientation by inertial and magnetic sensing," *IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering*, vol. 53, no. 7, pp. 1346–1356, 2006.
- [12] S. Madgwick, A. J. Harrison, and R. Vaidyanathan, "Estimation of IMU and MARG orientation using a gradient descent algorithm," in 2011 IEEE International Conference on Rehabilitation Robotics, 2011, pp. 1–7.
- [13] T. Seel, J. Raisch, and T. Schauer, "IMU-based joint angle measurement for gait analysis," *Sensors*, vol. 14, no. 4, pp. 6891–6909, 2014.
- [14] A. A. A. Timmermans, H. A. M. Seelen, R. P. J. Geers, P. K. Saini, S. Winter, J. te Vrugt, and H. Kingma, "Sensor-based arm skill training in chronic stroke patients: Results on treatment outcome, patient motivation, and system usability," *IEEE Transactions on Neural Systems and Rehabilitation Engineering*, vol. 18, no. 3, pp. 284–292, 2010.
- [15] Z. Luo, C. K. Lim, W. Yang, K. Y. Tee, K. Li, C. Gu, K. D. Nguen, I. Chen, and S. H. Yeo, "An interactive therapy system for arm and hand rehabilitation," in 2010 IEEE Conference on Robotics, Automation and Mechatronics, 2010, pp. 9–14.
- [16] S. Moya, S. Grau, D. Tost, R. Campeny, and M. Ruiz, "Animation of 3d avatars for rehabilitation of the upper limbs," in 2011 Third International Conference on Games and Virtual Worlds for Serious Applications, 2011, pp. 168–171.
- [17] Z. Ding, Z. Luo, A. Causo, I. Chen, K. Yue, S. Yeo, and K. Ling, "Inertia sensorbased guidance system for upperlimb posture correction," *Med Eng Phys.*, vol. 35, pp. 269–76, 2013.
- [18] C. Ferreira, V. Guimaraes, A. Santos, and I. Sousa, "Gamification of stroke rehabilitation exercises using a smartphone," in 8th international conference on PervasiveHealth. Oldenburg: ACM, 2014, pp. 282–5.
- [19] J. Parker, S. Mawson, G. Mountain, N. Nasr, and H. Zheng, "Stroke patients' utilisation of extrinsic feedback from computer-based technology in the home: a multiple case study realistic evaluation," *BMC Medical Informatics and Decision Making*, vol. 14, no. 1, p. 46, 2014.
- [20] E. Tsekleves, I. Paraskevopoulos, A. Warland, and C. Kilbride, "Development and preliminary evaluation of a novel low cost VR-based upper limb stroke rehabilitation platform using wii technology," *Disabil Rehabil Assist Technol*, vol. 11, no. 5, pp. 413–22, 2014.
- [21] B. Klaassen, B. BEIJNUM, M. Weusthof, D. Hofs, F. Van-Meulen, E. Droog, H. Luinge, L. Slot, A. Tognetti, F. Lorussi, R. Paradiso, J. Held, A. Luft, J. Reenalda, C. Nikamp, J. Buurke, H. Hermens, and P. Veltink, "A full body sensing system for monitoring stroke patients in a home environment," in *Biomedical Engineering Systems* and Technologies: 7th International Joint Conference, BIOSTEC 2014, vol. 511, 01 2015, pp. 387–393.

- [22] Q. Wang, M. Toeters, W. Chen, A. Timmermans, and P. Markopulos, "Zishi: a smart garment for posture monitoring," in *Proceedings of the 2016 CHI Conference Extended Abstracts on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, 2016, pp. 3792–5.
- [23] B. Ploderer, J. Fong, A. Withana, M. Klaic, S. Nair, and V. Crocher, "Armsleeve: a patient monitoring system to support occupational therapists in stroke rehabilitation," in *Proceedings of the 2016 ACM Conference on Designing Interactive Systems. Queensland: ACM*, 2016, pp. 700–11.
- [24] S. S. Rahman, S. S. Nusaka, F. H. Shezan, and M. A. R. Sarkar, "The development of low cost exercise monitoring device for paralytic," in 2015 IEEE International WIE Conference on Electrical and Computer Engineering (WIECON-ECE), 2015, pp. 530–533.
- [25] A. Dunne, S. Do-Lenh, G. . Laighin, C. Shen, and P. Bonato, "Upper extremity rehabilitation of children with cerebral palsy using accelerometer feedback on a multitouch display," in 2010 Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology, 2010, pp. 1751–1754.
- [26] G. Avitabile, G. Coviello, and N. Margiotta, "Preliminary study on gait variability analysis with a single axis gyroscope for alzheimer and parkinson's diseases," *International Journal Of Biology And Biomedical Engineering*, vol. 9, pp. 155–158, 2015.
- [27] N. Margiotta, G. Avitabile, and G. Coviello, "A wearable wireless system for gait analysis for early diagnosis of alzheimer and parkinson disease," in 2016 5th International Conference on Electronic Devices, Systems and Applications (ICEDSA), 2016, pp. 1–4.
- [28] G. Bleser, G. Hendeby, and M. Miezal, "Using egocentric vision to achieve robust inertial body tracking under magnetic disturbances," in 2011 10th IEEE International Symposium on Mixed and Augmented Reality, 2011, pp. 103–109.
- [29] L. Peppoloni, A. Filippeschi, E. Ruffaldi, and C. A. Avizzano, "A novel 7 degrees of freedom model for upper limb kinematic reconstruction based on wearable sensors," in 2013 IEEE 11th International Symposium on Intelligent Systems and Informatics (SISY), 2013, pp. 105–110.
- [30] M. Mihelj, "Inverse kinematics of human arm based on multisensor data integration," *Journal of Intelligent and Robotic System*, vol. 47, no. 2, pp. 139–153, 2006.
- [31] M. Miezal, B. Taetz, and G. Bleser, "On inertial body tracking in the presence of model calibration errors," *Sensors*, vol. 16, no. 7, p. E1132, 2016.
- [32] A. Cutti, A. Giovanardi, L. Rocchi, A. Davalli, and R. Sacchetti, "Ambulatory measurement of shoulder and elbow kinematics through inertial and magnetic sensors," *Medical and Biological Engineering* and Computing, vol. 46, no. 2, pp. 169–178, 2008.
- [33] Z. Zhang and J. Wu, "A novel hierarchical information fusion method for three-dimensional upper limb motion estimation," *IEEE Transactions on Instrumentation and Measurement*, vol. 60, no. 11, pp. 3709– 3719, 2011.
- [34] M. El-Gohary, L. Holmstrom, J. Huisinga, E. King, J. McNames, and F. Horak, "Upper limb joint angle tracking with inertial sensors," in 2011 Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society, 2011, pp. 5629–5632.
- [35] H. Luinge, P. Veltink, and C. Baten, "Ambulatory measurement of arm orientation," *Journal of Biomechanics*, vol. 40, no. 1, pp. 78–85, 2007.
- [36] M. Kok, J. Hol, and T. Schoen, "An optimization-based approach to human body motion capture using inertial sensors," *IFAC Proceedings Volumes*, vol. 47, no. 3, pp. 79–85, 2014.
- [37] A. Gallagher, Y. Matsuoka, and W.-T. Ang, "An efficient real-time human posture tracking algorithm using low-cost inertial and magnetic sensors," in 2004 IEEE/RSJ International Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems (IROS) (IEEE Cat. No.04CH37566), vol. 3, Sept 2004, pp. 2967–2972 vol.3.
- [38] N. Miller, O. Jenkins, M. Kallmann, and M. Mataric, "Motion capture from inertial sensing for untethered humanoid teleoperation," in 4th IEEE/RAS International Conference on Humanoid Robots, 2004., vol. 2, 2004, pp. 547–565.
- [39] A. Young, "Use of body model constraints to improve accuracy of inertial motion capture," in 2010 International Conference on Body Sensor Networks, 2010, pp. 180–186.
- [40] Y. Tian, H. Wei, and J. Tan, "An adaptive-gain complementary filter for real-time human motion tracking with MARG sensors in freeliving environments," *IEEE Transactions on Neural Systems and Rehabilitation Engineering*, vol. 21, no. 2, pp. 254–264, 2013.

- [41] G. Pons-Moll, A. Baak, J. Gall, L. Leal-Taix, M. Mller, H. Seidel, and B. Rosenhahn, "Outdoor human motion capture using inverse kinematics and von mises-fisher sampling," in 2011 International Conference on Computer Vision, 2011, pp. 1243–1250.
- [42] M. Miezal, G. Bleser, N. Schmitz, and D. Stricker, "A generic approach to inertial tracking of arbitrary kinematic chains," in *8th International Conference on Body Area Networks, BodyNets 2013*, vol. 21, 2013, pp. 189–192.
  [43] Y. Jung, D. Kang, and J. Kim, "Upper body motion tracking with
- [43] Y. Jung, D. Kang, and J. Kim, "Upper body motion tracking with inertial sensors," in 2010 IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Biomimetics, 2010.
- [44] M. El-Gohary and J. McNames, "Shoulder and elbow joint angle tracking with inertial sensors," *IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering*, vol. 59, no. 9, pp. 2635–2641, 2012.
- [45] V. Joukov, M. Karg, and D. Kulic, "Online tracking of the lower body joint angles using IMUs for gait rehabilitation," in 2014 36th Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society, 2014, pp. 2310–2313.
- [46] S. Salehi, N. Mostofi, and G. Bleser, "A practical in-field magnetometer calibration method for IMUs," *In Proceedings of the IROS Workshop on Cognitive Assistive Systems: Closing the Action-Perception Loop*, pp. 39–44, 2012.
- [47] T. Harada, T. Mori, and T. Sato, "Development of a tiny orientation estimation device to operate under motion and magnetic disturbance," *Int. J. Robot. Res.*, vol. 26, no. 6, pp. 547–559, 2007.
- [48] J. Lee and E. Park, "Minimum-order kalman filter with vector selector for accurate estimation of human body orientation," *IEEE Transactions on Robotics*, vol. 25, no. 5, pp. 1196–1201, 2009.
  [49] D. Roetenberg, H. J. Luinge, C. T. M. Baten, and P. H. Veltink, "Com-
- [49] D. Roetenberg, H. J. Luinge, C. T. M. Baten, and P. H. Veltink, "Compensation of magnetic disturbances improves inertial and magnetic sensing of human body segment orientation," *IEEE Transactions on Neural Systems and Rehabilitation Engineering*, vol. 13, no. 3, pp. 395–405, 2005.

## Assessing Safety and Performance Indicators in Rehabilitation Robotics

Jule Bessler, Erik C. Prinsen, Gerdienke B. Prange-Lasonder, Leendert Schaake and Jaap H. Buurke

*Abstract*— Healthcare is one of many domains where robots interacting with humans are becoming increasingly relevant. New technologies are being developed but the deployment in rehabilitation is restricted by a lack of unified testing methodologies. The two European projects COVR and EUROBENCH are working to break down those barriers. The goal of this contribution is to provide an overview of both projects and how they will contribute to a unified testing methodology for safety and benchmarking.

#### I. INTRODUCTION

**R**<sup>OBOTIC</sup> technologies in rehabilitation are developing rapidly. An ageing population and a shortage of skilled clinicians increase the need for robotic devices which can ensure positive rehabilitation outcomes and at the same time lighten the burden of clinicians' work. Rehabilitation robots can provide high intensity and dosage training which were found to be key therapeutic modalities for the improvement of functioning in daily living. [1] Moreover, they can assist and guide movements in patients suffering from motor impairments and can assess the patient's motor capabilities [2].

Although rehabilitation robotics is a very promising and fast developing field, there are a number of barriers in the process of moving applications out of the lab and into everyday applications. Some of these barriers are technical while others are related to a lack of reliable indicators for performance and safety. Robotic systems used in healthcare have to be safe and take the clinical needs of patients into account. This can be a major challenge since there often is physical interaction between the user and the robot and there is a lack of recommendations for the safety testing of those physical interactions. In addition to that, comparison of the performance of different robotic systems is desirable as it can give insights on what robotic system is most used for what category of patients. Therefore, benchmarking is also an important endeavor to pursue. Rehabilitation robotics is by default a multidisciplinary field [3]: Care practices and technology developers need to work hand in hand to allow for innovative ideas to meet patient requirements and be accepted for use based on successful clinical trials.

In order to overcome these barriers and push technologies to market, there is a need for evaluating both performance and safety of robotic systems in real-life environments. Methodologies for benchmarking and safety evaluation are needed not only for rehabilitation robotics but for all robots interacting with humans.

Two European projects which share the aim of pushing new technologies to market by providing methodologies for assessing robot skills/abilities have recently been launched. The concepts of those two projects will be explained in the following section.

#### II. CONCEPTS

#### A. COVR

The mission of Horizon 2020 project COVR (*Being safe around collaborative robots*; www.safearoundrobots.com) is to significantly increase the safety of collaborative robots which are all robots working in shared spaces with humans. Unless safety regulations become easy to access, understand and apply, it can become a barrier to the increased deployment of collaborative robots that industries across many domains demand. Therefore, five national research and technology organizations are working together to offer a single-point-of-access framework for validating collaborative robot safety, organized around EU directives and standards, accessible to everyone.

One fundamental part of this framework will be a toolkit which can help identify relevant safety testing protocols for physical human-robot interaction scenarios. It will identify the standards that are relevant to any type of collaborative robot by asking a series of questions. The output includes checklists of skill-based requirements that need to be fulfilled, and instructions for performing validation tests.

In many cases, the relevant standards do not clearly define the safety-related validation procedures in sufficient detail. Wherever this is the case, COVR uses experience on best practice and cross-fertilization among sectors to fill the gaps. For instance, if the standards for medical electrical equipment do not specify validation procedures or pass values for the identified item, information from industrial experience can be used. An important aspect of the development of new testing protocols is an active consultation with regional stakeholders from standardization, national agencies, accident insurance, and safety verification bodies.

In order to create a space for conducting these protocols, state-of-the-art testing facilities will be established at partner

COVR has received funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under grant agreement No. 779966.

EUROBENCH has received funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under grant agreement No. 779963.

J. Bessler, E. C. Prinsen, G. B. Prange-Lasonder, L. Schaake and J. H. Buurke are with Roessingh Research and Development, Enschede, Netherlands (J.Bessler@rrd.nl, E.Prinsen@rrd.nl, G.Prange@rrd.nl L.Schaake@rrd.nl, J.Buurke@rrd.nl).

sites. These shared safety facilities will offer training, access to measurement systems for validation as well as support in using the toolkit and applying the protocols for interested third parties.

In addition to that, realistic trials will be carried out in the scope of financial support for third parties to stress test the toolkit and protocols with specific use-cases, and to provide background research and experimental data to determine best practices.

#### B. EUROBENCH

The European project EUROBENCH (European robotic framework for bipedal locomotion benchmarking; www.eurobench2020.eu) will use benchmarking as a method to assess the technology readiness level and to quantify how robotic solutions match user needs. System ability levels will be created to quantify performance of humanoid and wearable robots (prosthetics and exoskeletons) on comprehensive scales. This comprehensive benchmarking framework will be composed of two main outputs: a methodological framework which will include methods and metrics to calculate system ability levels and an experimental framework which will concentrate state-of-the-art test benches in two facilities to allow companies and researchers to perform standardized tests on advanced prototypes.

The methodological framework will be available as a software suite, including an interactive application to identify suitable testing methods, a scoring system, a data system for comparison with similar robotic systems and a decisional support system. The latter will help identify technical features that should be improved and predict future levels of system abilities that can be reached. The aim of this software is to facilitate the use of benchmarking methodology at all levels from research to pre-commercial prototyping. To ensure global consensus on this methodology, the project consortium will collaborate with other EU projects and organizations in Europe.

Similar to the realistic trials in the COVR project, EUROBENCH will offer financial support to third parties interested in designing and developing specific test benches or benchmarking methods or in using the framework to validate its outputs. The results will be used to mature the experimental benchmarking framework.

#### III. DISCUSSION

While the two presented projects focus on different aspects (benchmarking and safety evaluation), they have a common goal: encouraging the development of new innovative technologies and enabling those to be ready for market. Both projects focus on the assessment of certain abilities or skills of robots interacting closely with humans and are making use of comparable methodologies. A software tool will identify relevant system abilities and safety skills and lead the robot developer to the applicable tests. Moreover, both projects aim to establish state of the art testing facilities and offer financial support for third parties that are interested in providing background research or evaluating the project services to provide input for achieving the project goals.

There are safety skills that can also be relevant system abilities / performance skills. Take, for example, the physical human robot interaction. Interaction forces are a very relevant aspect in safety of rehabilitation robotics which often are in continuous physical contact with the patient. This is especially challenging in neurological patients, where impaired sensation and physical changes like denervation constitute additional risk factors for too high pressure on patient's soft tissue [4].

Also in the field of performance of rehabilitation robots, physical human robot interaction is a key aspect discussed in many studies. While guidance of motion activities is one of the main functions of rehabilitation robots, it is widely discussed whether too much guidance can induce slacking and reduce the training effect [5]–[7]. Therefore, a certain amount of interaction force between robot and human might be of need to reach the optimal training effect. This has to be balanced carefully with safety considerations so that pressure sores and excessive joint forces are avoided.

However, the assessment of interaction forces between human and robot poses a major challenge. There is a lack of methods for continuously measuring detailed interaction force distributions in close interaction scenarios as present in exoskeletons or end-point manipulators with a shell for the arm or other limbs [3]. Especially with regard to shear forces, measuring methods as well as allowable limit values are still to be developed.

#### IV. CONCLUSION

Two European projects focusing on assessment of robotics have been presented. Human robot interaction force has been identified as one example for issues equally present in both benchmarking and safety evaluation of rehabilitation robotics.

#### REFERENCES

- V. S. Huang and J. W. Krakauer, "Robotic neurorehabilitation: A computational motor learning perspective," *J. Neuroeng. Rehabil.*, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 1–13, 2009.
- "COST | European Network on Robotics for NeuroRehabilitation."
   [Online]. Available: http://www.cost.eu/COST Actions/bmbs/TD1006. [Accessed: 25-Jul-

nttp://www.cost.eu/COS1\_Actions/bmbs/1D1006. [Accessed: 25-Jul-2018].

- "Robotics 2020 Multi-Annual Roadmap For Robotics in Europe Call 2 ICT24 (2015) – Horizon 2020," 2015.
- [4] A. Rathore, M. Wilcox, D. Zuleima, M. Ramirez, R. Loureiro, and T. Carlson, "Quantifying The Human - Robot Interaction Forces Between A Lower Limb Exoskeleton And Healthy Users," pp. 586– 589, 2016.
- [5] A. Takagi, H. Kambara, and Y. Koike, "Reduced Effort Does Not Imply Slacking: Responsiveness to Error Increases With Robotic Assistance," *IEEE Trans. Neural Syst. Rehabil. Eng.*, vol. 26, no. 7, pp. 1363–1370, 2018.
- [6] A. Sans-Muntadas, J. E. Duarte, and D. J. Reinkensmeyer, "Robotassisted motor training: Assistance decreases exploration during reinforcement learning," 2014 36th Annu. Int. Conf. IEEE Eng. Med. Biol. Soc. EMBC 2014, no. C, pp. 3516–3520, 2014.
- [7] E. H. F. van Asseldonk, M. Wessels, A. H. A. Stienen, F. C. T. van der Helm, and H. van der Kooij, "Influence of haptic guidance in learning a novel visuomotor task," *J. Physiol. Paris*, vol. 103, no. 3–5, pp. 276–285, 2009.

## Pilot study: submaximal force control training for robotic therapy.

Guillermo Asín-Prieto, Aitor Martínez-Expósito, José L. Pons, and Juan C. Moreno

*Abstract*— We investigate the use of submaximal force production as a targeted functionality in a rehabilitation task for early rehabilitation after stroke. We present the detailed assessment of related metrics of force production and position control, their correlation with submaximal force production control learning and their feasibility for robot-mediated therapy after stroke.

#### I. INTRODUCTION

RECENT projects highlight how motor learning and a high level of attention control can potentially improve submaximal force production during recovery. Stroke patients might benefit as this pathology affects each year to 17 million people worldwide, being the second leading cause of disability [1]. We already provided preliminary evidence of the facilitation of learning processes from a kinematic point of view in healthy subjects with robotic devices [2]. Robotics can be used not only as standalone devices, but also in combination with virtual environments, providing the possibility of showing the patient and the physiotherapist the feedback of the performance of the task, which has been proven to improve rehabilitation [3]. In our previous work, we introduced the use of "tacit adaptability" (TAd) -a symbiotic control strategy based on biomimetic mechanisms, which is based on "tacit learning" [4]- with a stroke patient [5], walking on a treadmill, modulating the compliance with attention levels estimated from EEG signals. Marchal–Crespo et al. [6] showed that random disturbances improved motor learning in the performance of a simple dorsi-plantarflexion task, because this variability may increase recovery by increasing the needed effort and attention into the task.

This study focuses on the assessment of detailed metrics of force production and position control and their correlation with submaximal force production control learning, as improving regularity in submaximal force production might help improve functionality and reduce disability [7] during a new task consisting in maintaining the position for early rehabilitation after stroke. Our aim is to characterize the capacity to perform the precision task of maintaining the position with a submaximal force production in healthy subjects, by using the game we have designed that addresses the important factors for motor training: precision, speed, and path directness toward the specific targets presented on the screen [8]. We provide a novel approach in using TAd to modulate the compliance of a torque control, to in the end modulate the difficulty of the task and thus play around the concept of the "challenge point theory"[9] to try accelerate the rehabilitative process.

Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (TMS) is the technique that allows the assessment of the corticospinal excitability in a non–invasive way [11]. The tibialis anterior (TA) dorsiflexor muscle is fundamental in the swing and heel strike phases of the gait [12]. The information given by the changes observed after applying this assessment technique may be related to the TA motor control, as a decrease in the errors after a dorsi–plantarflexion movement task was encountered where increased MEPs (motor evoked potentials) were found [13]. This technique has already been used in the literature to assess the TA excitability before and after lower limb trainings with motor imagery + robot–assisted dorsi– plantarflexion [14]. To check the suitability of the subjects for the experimental study, it is important to pass a screening questionnaire.

#### **II. MATERIALS AND METHODS**

In this section, we briefly present the platform we use for this study and expose the methodology.

#### A. Experimental Platform

A Motorized Ankle Foot Orthosis (MAFO) is used for this study, with a torque control. This robotic platform permits to exert controlled torque profiles to the ankle joint of the subject. The TAd module is explained in Fig. 1, as well as the rest of the platform.

#### B. Participant

One healthy subject, right-handed (Waterloo footedness [10]), 23 years old, was enrolled for this experiment.

#### C. Task

The experiment consisted in following the trajectories depicted via the visual paradigm, while the robot disturbed the movement by performing plantar and dorsiflex interleaved torque patterns (see Fig. 2 for explanation on the torque profiles). The aim was to learn how to compensate the perturbations to follow the trajectory in the screen, along three sessions, of 61 trajectories: 1) first trajectory to understand the dynamics of the exercise; 2) the next ten assessed the performance before the training (at fixed torque); 3) forty training trials were performed; and 4) finally, the last ten trials assessed the performance after the training.

This research has been funded by the Commission of the European Union under the BioMot project - Smart Wearable Robots with Bioinspired Sensory-Motor Skills (Grant Agreement number IFP7-ICT- 2013-10- 611695), also under the ASTONISH Project - Advancing Smart Optical Imaging ans Sensing for Health (Grant Agreement number H2020-EU.2.1.1.7. - ECSEL-04-2015 - 692470), and partially supported with grant RYC-2014-16613 by Spanish Ministry of Economy and Competitiveness.

G. Asín-Prieto, A. Martínez-Expósito, J. L. Pons, and J. C. Moreno, are with the Neural Rehabilitation Group of the Spanish National Research Council, Madrid, Spain (corresponding author to provide e-mail: guillermo.asin.prieto@csic.es).



Fig. 1. Experiment set–up. The controller of the robotic platform consists on a zero torque controller (PID), with the addition of the TAd component (TAd constant  $-K_{TA}$ – multiplied by alpha, angle between the robot and the subject, proportional to the interaction), modulating  $K_{TA}$  with the score. The user controls the position of the bird with the angular position of the ankle.



Fig. 2. Torque patterns. Torque to dorsiflexion (up) and plantarflexion (down) direction, with the behaviour of the TAd module: 1)  $K_{TA} = 100$  leads to zero-torque control; 2)  $K_{TA} = 0$  leads to regular torque control, so up to 16 N·m; and 3)  $K_{TA}$  between 0 and 100, closer to zero-torque control the higher  $K_{TA}$  is.

#### D. TMS assessment protocol

We performed TMS assessment before the first session, and after the last session (just after the last training, 30 minutes after, and 24 hours after). We used a cap where we marked inion, vertex, and the hotspot for the TA for repeatability on the measure.

#### III. RESULTS

In the results we observed reduction trend on the RMSE, as well as a clear increment on the excitability on the TA (see Fig. 3).

#### IV. CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE WORK

The observed improvement in terms of reduction on error along the sessions suggests that the protocol may be a successful training for motor control. The increase on the excitability of the TA seen on the MEPs suggests potential plasticity, not only LTP(long term potentiation)–like, post 30 minutes; but also long lasting plastic effects (after 24 hours).

Our next work includes extending the protocol to a group of intact subjects to statistically prove the validity of the training, and its suitability for robot-mediated therapy after stroke.



Fig. 3. Left) RMSE during each training session, in groups of 8 randomized trajectories. Dotted line represents the linear fitting of the data. Right) Tibialis Anterior MEPs after TMS for the four different assessments.

- World Stroke Organization: World Stroke Organization (WSO) Annual Report 2016 http://www.world-stroke.org/images/ Annual\_Report\_2016\_online.pdf (2016)
- [2] Asín-Prieto, G., González, J. E., Pons, J. L. and Moreno, Juan C.: Robotic Platform with Visual Paradigm to Induce Motor Learning in Healthy Subjects. Iberian Robotics conference, Springer. 569–579 (2017)
- [3] Asín-Prieto, G., Cano-de-la-Cuerda, R., López-Larraz, E., Metrot, J., Molinari, M., van Dokkum, L.E.H.: Emerging perspectives in stroke rehabilitation. Emerging Therapies in Neurorehabilitation, 3–21 (2014)
- [4] Shimoda, S., Costa, Á., Asín-Prieto, G., Okajima, S., Iáñez, E., Hasegawa, Y., Azorín, J. M., Pons, J. L. and Moreno, J. C.: Joint stiffness tuning of exoskeleton robot H2 by tacit learning. International Workshop on Symbiotic Interaction, Springer. 138–144 (2015)
- [5] Asín-Prieto, G.: Tacit adaptability: EEG-informed symbiotic approach applied to rehabilitation robot control. Xmas Meeting - Cajal Institute
   - Madrid (SPAIN). (2016)
- [6] Marchal-Crespo, L., López-Olóriz, J., Jaeger, L. and Riener, R.: Optimizing learning of a locomotor task: amplifying errors as needed. Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society (EMBC), 2014 36th Annual International Conference of the IEEE. 5304–5307 (2014)
- [7] Panjan, A., Simunic, B., Sarabon, N.: Maximal voluntary torque and the ability to finely grade submaximal torque are not related. Kinesiologia Slovenica, 17, 3, 5 (2011)
- [8] Marston, H. R. and Smith, S. T.: Interactive videogame technologies to support independence in the elderly: a narrative reviewGAMES FOR HEALTH: Research, Development, and Clinical Applications, Mary Ann Liebert, Inc. 140 Huguenot Street, 3rd Floor New Rochelle, NY 10801 USA. 1, 2, 139–152 (2012)
- [9] Guadagnoli, M. A. and Lee, Timothy D.: Challenge point: a framework for conceptualizing the effects of various practice conditions in motor learning. Journal of motor behavior, Taylor & Francis. 36, 2, 212–224 (2004)
- [10] Elias, L. J., Bryden, M. P. and Bulman–Fleming, M. B.: Footedness is a better predictor than is handedness of emotional lateralization. Neuropsychologia, Pergamon. 36, 1, 37–43. (1998)
- [11] Ziemann, U.: Thirty years of transcranial magnetic stimulation: where do we stand? Experimental brain research, Springer. 235, 4, 973–984 (2017)
- [12] Ruiz-Muñoz, M. and Cuesta-Vargas, Antonio. I.: Electromyography and sonomyography analysis of the tibialis anterior: a cross sectional study. Journal of foot and ankle research, BioMed Central. 7, 1, 11 (2014)
- [13] Perez, M. A., Lungholt, B. K. S., Nyborg, K. and Nielsen, J. B.: Motor skill training induces changes in the excitability of the leg cortical area in healthy humans. Experimental brain research, Springer. 159, 2, 197–205 (2004)
- [14] Xu, R., Jiang, N., Mrachacz-Kersting, N., Lin, C., Asín-Prieto, G., Moreno, J. C., Pons, J. L., Dremstrup, K. and Farina, D.: A closed-loop brain–computer interface triggering an active ankle–foot orthosis for inducing cortical neural plasticity. IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering. 61, 7, 2092–2101 (2014)

## The NISCI Project. Antibodies against Nogo-A to enhance plasticity, regeneration and functional recovery after acute spinal cord injury, a multicenter European clinical proof of concept trial.

Pisotta Iolanda<sup>1</sup>, Masciullo Marcella,<sup>1</sup> Tamburella Federica<sup>1</sup>, Tagliamonte Nevio Luigi<sup>1</sup>, Scivoletto Giorgio<sup>1</sup>, Curt Armin<sup>2</sup>, Molinari Marco<sup>1</sup>

Abstract---Until now there are no medical treatment options for para and tetraplegic patients after Spinal Cord Injuries (SCI). SCI affect the quality of life and the ability to work in the majority of patients in a severe and dramatic way. The social and economic burden of life-long care including frequent secondary complication is enormous. The NISCI project proposes to conduct a state placebo controlled multicentric clinical trial to assess the efficacy of anti-Nogo-A antibody therapy to significantly improve the neurological recovery and functional outcome of spinal cord injured patients.

#### I. INTRODUCTION

The incidence of spinal cord injury is about newly injured 10'000 people per year in the EU, and due to an almost normal life expectancy more than 200'000 patients are living with a spinal cord injury in the EU. The impact on the individual quality of life is high, and social costs are enormous.

Recent preclinical research in animal models succeeded to greatly enhance axonal sprouting, fiber regeneration and neuroplasticity following injuries of brain and spinal cord. Regeneration of interrupted nerve fiber tracts and plastic "hardware" changes in the adult central nervous system (CNS) of mammals and humans are extremely restricted, a phenomenon which represents a main reason for the low degree of recovery following spinal cord injury (SCI) and brain injury (Schwab, 2014). Important molecular impediments that form the basis of this phenomenon are proteins expressed in CNS myelin, which inhibit neurite growth after CNS injury. One of the most potent neurite growth inhibitory molecules in myelin is Nogo-A, a membrane protein comprising multiple inhibitory domains that activate independent receptors (Schwab, 2010; Schwab and Strittmatter, 2014).

Monoclonal antibodies against Nogo-A have been shown to neutralize the inhibitory activity of purified or recombinant Nogo-A, oligodendrocytes and CNS myelin in vitro (Caroni and Schwab, 1988; Chen et al., 2000). More importantly, a number of publications over more than 15 years have shown that function blocking anti-Nogo-A antibodies mediate significant improvements in functional recovery in rodent models of SCI (Freund et al., 2009; Schwab and Strittmatter, 2014), non-traumatic brain injury (Wahl et al., 2014) and traumatic brain injury. Anti-Nogo-A antibody treatment facilitates neuroregeneration at the anatomical level in rodents and two non-human primate models of SCI. Very similar results on the anatomical and functional level were obtained in Nogo-A knock-out mice, in rodents treated with Nogo receptor-derived function blocking fusion proteins or antibodies against the Nogo receptor associated protein Lingo-1 (Schwab, 2010; Schwab and Strittmatter, 2014).

These results warrant translation now to patients suffering from acute spinal cord injury.

The NISCI project proposes to conduct a state of the art placebo controlled multicentric phase II clinical trial in a consortium of seven leading European spinal cord injury centers to assess the efficacy of anti-Nogo-A antibody therapy to significantly improve the neurological recovery and functional outcome of spinal cord injured patients. The network involve: Spinal Cord Injury Center, Balgrist University Hospital (Coordinator), Zürich (Switzerland); Universitaetsklinicum Heidelberg (Germany); University College London (UK); Fundacio privada Institut de Riabilitacio Guttman (Spain); Fakultni Nemocnice VMotole (Czech Republic); Berufsgenossenschaftliche Unfallklinik Murnau (Germany); IRCCS Fondazione Santa Lucia (Italy); Klinikum Bayreuth GmbH (Germany); Ruhr-Universitat Bochum (Germany); ECRIN European Clinical Research Infrastructure Network (France); TP21 GMBH (Germany).

#### II. THE NISCI PROJECT: MAIN PURPOSE

The purpose of the NISCI study is:

1) to confirm in a network of seven leading European Spinal Cord Injury Centers the feasibility of administration, safety, and tolerability of the anti-Nogo-A antibody ATI355 in patients with acute cervical SCI;

2) to assess the efficacy of ATI355 to significantly improve the neurological and functional outcome of SCI patients;

3) to assess cutting edge number of biochemical and imaging biomarkers for their value of distinguishing groups of SCI patients with differing lesion severity and functional impairment as well as the ATI355 treatment effects.

#### III. CLINICAL STUDY: PHASE I

A previous phase I clinical study using intrathecal

<sup>1</sup> SPInal REhabilitation–SPIRE- Lab, IRCCS Fondazione Santa Lucia, via Ardeatina 306, Rome, Italy.

<sup>2</sup> Balgrist University Hospital Spinal Cord Injury Centre, Balgrist University Hospital Forchstrasse 340 8008 Zürich

application of a nerve fiber growth promoting antibody against the growth inhibitory protein Nogo-A has shown in patients with complete spinal cord injury that this treatment is safe and well tolerated. The present study will enroll patients with various degrees of complete to incomplete acute spinal cord injury for a double-blind, placebo-controlled trial to test the efficacy of this antibody therapy to improve motor outcome and quality of life of tetraplegic patients. The enrollment of patients with different degrees of spinal cord injury is considered essential to reveal drug activity and eventual proof of concept in a broad patient population.



Diagnostic and predictive values of biological and imaging markers to monitor the course and recovery of spinal cord injured patients Recommendation for pivotal phase III trial

**Figure 1**: NISCI overall concept combines a clinical Phase II trial, biostatistics for effect estimation, novel quantitative magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) methods and the establishment of a biobank based on serum and cerebrospinal fluid samples.

Advancements in clinical trial design, improved prediction algorithms of clinical outcomes and development of surrogate markers (in cerebrospinal fluid/serum and by neuroimaging) will allow for scrutinizing the effectiveness of this novel treatment in an unprecedented way. A positive outcome of this trial will represent a breakthrough for the future therapy of spinal cord injuries and beyond (traumatic brain injury, stroke, multiple sclerosis).

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENT

This project has received funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under the grant agreement No 681094, and is supported by the Swiss State Secretariat for Education, Research and Innovation (SERI) under contract number 15.0137.

#### REFERENCES

-Schwab, J.M., Y. Zhang, M.A. Kopp, B. Brommer, and P.G. Popovich. 2014. The paradox of chronic neuroinflammation, systemic immune suppression, autoimmunity after traumatic chronic spinal cord injury. Experimental Neurology. 258:121-129.

-Schwab, M.E. 2010. Functions of Nogo proteins and their receptors in the nervous system. Nature reviews. Neuroscience. 11:799-811.

-Schwab, M.E., and S.M. Strittmatter. 2014. Nogo limits neural plasticity and recovery from injury. Current Opinion in Neurobiology. 27:53---60.

-Caroni, P., and M.E. Schwab. 1988a. Antibody against myelin---associated inhibitor of neurite growth neutralizes nonpermissive substrate properties of CNS white matter. Neuron. 1:85-96

-Chen, M.S., A.B. Huber, M.E. van der Haar, M. Frank, L. Schnell, A.A. Spillmann, F. Christ, and M.E. Schwab. 2000. Nogo-A is a myelin-associated neurite outgrowth inhibitor and an antigen for monoclonal antibody IN- 1. Nature. 403:434-439.

-Freund, P., E. Schmidlin, T. Wannier, J. Bloch, A. Mir, M.E. Schwab, and E.M. Rouiller. 2009. Ant-Nogo-A antibody treatment promotes recovery of manual dexterity after unilateral cervical lesion in adult primates- re-examination and extension of behavioral data. Eur J Neurosci. 29:983-996.

-Wahl, A.S., W. Omlor, J.C. Rubio, J.L. Chen, H. Zheng, A. Schröter, M. Gullo, O. Weinmann, K. Kobayashi, F. Helmchen, B. Ommer, and M.E. Schwab. 2014. Asynchronous therapy restores motor control by rewiring of the rat corticospinal tract after stroke. Science. 344:1250-1255.

-Caroni, P., and M.E. Schwab. 1988b. Two membrane protein fractions from rat central myelin with inhibitory properties for neurite growth and fibroblast spreading. J Cell Biol. 106:1281-1288.

## EEG-based Assessment and Adaptation of Novel (Robotic) Neuro-rehabilitation Therapies

Joaquín Peñalver-Andrés, Karin A. Buetler, and Laura Marchal-Crespo

Abstract— Understanding the underlying mechanisms of motor learning is a crucial aspect in neuro-rehabilitation. Skilled movements are a result of several sequential cognitive and motor achievements: from task understanding to correct muscle recruitment and activation. We believe that, by following subjects cognitive and neuro-motor performance at each time point during motor training, an optimal learning process is possible. The methods and research plan to achieve such a goal are presented in this paper. We hope that the results of this study or project will help us providing clinicians with means to optimize neuro-rehabilitation.

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Authors in the field of neuro- rehabilitation agree that motor recovery (i.e. motor neuro- rehabilitation) is a form of motor learning[1]. Motor learning is a complex neurocognitive and motor process and several authors have made attempts to define its phases. Fitts[2] proposed that motor learning follows three phases. At an early stage of learning, subjects find themselves on a more cognitive phase, where trial and error is a tool to discover the underlying rules to perform in the learning environment. Following, an associative phase, where subjects start building up strategies by linking stimuli from the learning environment to meaningful entities. Finally, subjects reach a stage of expertise, i.e. autonomous phase, where motor strategies are consolidated in memory and fine-tuned to achieve levels of skillful performance. According to this model, motor learning may be optimized by adapting motor training to each phase of learning, i.e. the individual skill level of the practitioner.

A well-known motor learning paradigm, the so called Ecological Dynamics of Motor Learning[3], suggest the representative learning design framework to train complex tasks (e.g. daily life activities). According to this framework, two main requisites have to be followed: the task should dynamically evolve in time in terms of difficulty (providing users with the chance to cherry pick sensory information from the environment) and task progression to the next challenge level should be scheduled in a self-paced way (so that success is always granted).

These theoretical precepts find empirical proof in the motor learning literature. For example, haptic and visual guidance and feedback have different effects on different populations (e.g. beginner and experts). Namely, robotic haptic guidance was found to be particularly helpful for initially less skilled subjects[4]. Also, it has been shown that robotic assistance has varying effects on training different aspects of a movement (e.g. timely or spatial features; see [5][6] for reviews). Further, it has been shown that the knowledge of specific task rules and task working principles (i.e. task understanding) correlates with task performance (e.g. in golf[7] or tennis[8] games). In line with these behavioral results, researchers have found progressive changes in cortical brain structures when subjects are provided with hierarchical information about the underlying working principles of a system[9]. These finding underline the importance of the feedback provided during training for therapy outcome.

Together, theoretical models and empirical evidence on motor learning suggest that motor learning is hierarchically modulated by neurocognitive and motor processes, namely task understanding and the recruitment of motor strategies. Yet, less is known about how to adapt motor training paradigms to support the hierarchical processing to optimize motor learning[10].

Within this project, we aim to identify the neurocognitive markers for task understanding and recruited motor strategies during motor learning via Electroencephalography (EEG). The gained information will then be used to test an automatized training paradigm which modulates the training environment to support task understanding and recruitment of motor strategies in real time. We hope to promote, in this way, optimal motor learning during motor neurorehabilitation.

#### **II. HYPOTHESIS**

EEG event-related potential (ERP) components, concretely the P300[11] and the error-related negativity (ERN)[12], have been shown to capture attentional engagement of cognitive processes, thus, this kind of signals features may be used to evaluate the level of task understanding in a given subject.

Further, we hypothesize that an anterior-posterior shift of brain activity from perceptual to motor areas (passing from frontal abstract reasoning and central associative areas)[7] might occur during motor learning. This shift might be captured by analyzing quasi-stable EEG network configurations ( $\mu$ States) and by performing source localization [9].

Finally, EEG  $\mu$ States have shown to reflect the spatiotemporal composition of neuro-motor cortical states. In [13], it has been shown that subject-specific  $\mu$ States spatiotemporal composition correlates with specific voluntary motor patterns. Therefore, we hypothesize that correct versus incorrect recall of motor strategies will be reflected in

This project is funded by SNSF (Swiss National Science Foundation) Professorship grant (no. P00P2163800).

J.P.A., K.B. and L.M.C. are are with the Gerontechnology and Rehabilitation Research Group, at ARTORG Center for Biomedical Engineering Research, University of Bern, Switzerland (corresponding author: joaquin.penalverdeandres@artorg.unibe.ch).

a modification of the spatio-temporal composition of the  $\mu {\rm States}.$ 

#### **III. METHODS**

To characterize and assess task understanding and recall of correct motor strategies, a series of experiments will be conducted. A final experiment will address the effect of modulating, in real-time, the training environment to support task understanding and recruitment of motor strategies on motor learning. A total of three experiments will be conducted, primarily with healthy subjects (with a minimum sample of 30 subjects per experiment). Clinical transfer will be evaluated in patients in collaboration with the Inselspital (Bern, Switzerland).

#### A. Experimental Setup

The system to be used comprises of three main elements(see Fig.1): the EEG system (A), the virtual environment (B) and the Intelligent Control Unit (C). A three degreeof-freedom robot will be used to provide haptic feedback and a virtual reality system will be used to provide visual input to the subjects. A 128 electrodes geodesic EEG system, will be used to register the neuro-physiological signals during motor task performance.



Fig. 1. Project layout diagram: Green and red arrows are inputs and outputs from the intelligent system. Letters refer to the different sub-systems used. Numbers relate to the elements progressively included at each experiment.

#### B. Task & Experiments

**Experiment** ①: Observing the effects of task difficulty on cognitive and motor neural correlates. This experiment is aimed at characterizing and assess the impact of task difficulty on electrophysiological and behavioral correlates of task understanding and motor strategy recruitment. The robot is kept in compliant mode (i.e. free movements) and the subject is asked to perform a task in three levels of difficulty. Motion data of the robot and EEG signals are recorded and off-line processing.

**Experiment (2)**: Observing the effects of robotic training strategies on cognitive and motor neural correlates. The aim of this experiment is to understand the effects of using robotic supportive versus resistive strategies on neurocognitive and motor performance. In this experiment, a the level of task difficulty is fixed. Motion data of the robot and EEG signals are recorded and off-line processing is performed.

**Experiment** ③: Controlling the neurocognitive and motor neural correlates of motor learning. The goal of this final experiment is evaluating the effects of automatically adapting task parameters (see experiment 1) and robotic training strategies (see experiment 2) to promote optimal task understanding and recall of correct motor strategies on motor learning.

#### **IV. CONCLUSIONS**

With this project we hope to advance the boundaries of knowledge in the field of motor learning, namely to provide insights into the underlying mechanisms of human motor learning, which may be useful for designing more effective training protocols for the treatment of motor disorders.

#### References

- J. W. Krakauer, "Motor learning: its relevance to stroke recovery and neurorehabilitation," *Curr Opin Neurol Current Opinion in Neurology*, vol. 19, no. 19, pp. 84–9084, 2006.
- [2] P. Fitts, *Human performance*. Belmont Calif.: Brooks/Cole Pub. Co., 1967.
- [3] P. . Keith, Davids; Duarte, Araújo; Robert Hristovski and Y. Chow, Passos; Jia, "Ecological dynamics and motor learning design in sport," in *Skill Acquisition in Sport: Research, Theory & Practice* (N. H. Mark Williams, ed.), ch. 7, pp. 112–130, Routledge, 2012.
- [4] L. Marchal-Crespo, M. Van Raai, G. Rauter, P. Wolf, and R. Riener, "The effect of haptic guidance and visual feedback on learning a complex tennis task," *Exp Brain Res*, vol. 231, pp. 277–291, 2013.
- [5] L. Marchal-Crespo, D. J. Reinkensmeyer, W. Rymer, D. Reinkensmeyer, G. Burdea, M. Tremaine, D. Reinkensmeyer, R. Koch, S. Hesse, A. Lo, B. Volpe, and N. Hogan, "Review of control strategies for robotic movement training after neurologic injury," *Journal of Neuro-Engineering and Rehabilitation*, vol. 6, p. 20, jun 2009.
- [6] H. Heuer and J. Lüttgen, "Robot assistance of motor learning: A neurocognitive perspective," *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 2015.
- [7] L. Hardy, R. Mullen, and G. Jones, "Knowledge and conscious control of motor actions under stress," *British Journal of psychology*, vol. 87, no. 4, pp. 621–636, 1996.
- [8] S. L. McPherson and J. R. Thomas, "Relation of knowledge and performance in boys' tennis: Age and expertise," *Journal of experimental child psychology*, vol. 48, no. 2, pp. 190–211, 1989.
- [9] R. A. Mason and M. A. Just, "Physics instruction induces changes in neural knowledge representation during successive stages of learning," *NeuroImage*, vol. 111, pp. 36–48, 2015.
- [10] D. Novak, M. Mihelj, J. Ziherl, A. Olenšek, M. Munih, A. Olensek, M. Munih, A. Olenšek, and M. Munih, "Psychophysiological measurements in a biocooperative feedback loop for upper extremity rehabilitation," *IEEE Transactions on Neural Systems and Rehabilitation Engineering*, vol. 19, pp. 400–410, aug 2011.
- [11] O. E. Krigolson, D. Cheng, and G. Binsted, "The role of visual processing in motor learning and control: Insights from electroencephalography," *VISION RESEARCH*, vol. 110, pp. 277–285, may 2015.
- [12] K. R. Ridderinkhof, M. Ullsperger, E. A. Crone, and S. Nieuwenhuis, "The role of the medial frontal cortex in cognitive control," *science*, vol. 306, no. 5695, pp. 443–447, 2004.
- [13] E. Pirondini, M. Coscia, J. Minguillon, J. d. R. Millán, D. Van De Ville, and S. Micera, "EEG topographies provide subject-specific correlates of motor control," *Scientific Reports*, vol. 7, p. 13229, dec 2017.

## Synergy-based Classification to Anticipate Reaching Direction Identification in Stroke subject for Robotic Arm Teleoperation

Stefano Tortora, Stefano Michieletto, and Emanuele Menegatti

Abstract— A high level of disability and muscle weakness can prevent an effective identification of user intention, introducing high time delays in controlling robotic devices. In this paper, a muscle synergies extraction algorithm is coupled to a Gaussian Mixture Model (GMM), in an evidence-accumulation framework, to anticipate the detection of reaching direction from surface electromyography (sEMG). The proposed method has been tested with online hardware-in-loop simulations to control a UR10 manipulator robot. On average, the system identifies the desired direction after  $32.8 \pm 6.2ms$ , with an accuracy of  $96.8 \pm 2.1\%$  for a healthy subject, and after  $47.6 \pm 13.4ms$ for a stroke patient, with an accuracy of  $81.4 \pm 12.8\%$ . We believe that the proposed method can improve the robustness of myoelectric controlled devices for stroke motor rehabilitation and assistance.

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Continuous and direct myoelectric control of robotic devices could be unfeasible for severely affected stroke survivors, due to muscle weakness and failure of central motor drive [1]. A discrete control approach generally increases the reliability of the system. However, it introduces higher time delays between the detection of user motion intention and the corresponding command to the robotic device.

This paper extends a novel synergy-based classification method developed by our research group [2], that is able to recognize reaching direction with high accuracy in the early phase of motion. Once the high-level motor command is detected, a robotic manipulator guides the movement towards the desired target in a shared-control approach. The performance of the proposed method has been tested on both a healthy and a stroke subjects, with online hardware-in-loop simulations.

#### **II. MATERIAL AND METHODS**

#### A. Experimental data

Kinematic data and sEMG data from 16 upper limb muscles have been experimentally recorded at the IRCCS Fondazione Ospedale San Camillo, Venice, Italy. They refer to a right-handed female healthy subject (H1, age, 32 years) and to the right paretic limb of a male patient (S1, age, 60 years) with left nucleo-capsular stroke. The protocol is shown in Fig. 1. EMG data have been concatenated and visually inspected for channels corruption.



Fig. 1. Experimental protocol for data collection (left). At each trial, the subject has been asked to reach one among four target positions at 10 cm from a 'HOME' position. The recorded trajectories for the healthy subject on the coronal plane are also shown (right).

#### B. Offline model training

The control architecture to train the classifier and control the robot is shown in Fig. 2.

To reduce the variability in stroke subject dataset, compared to the more repeatable patterns of the healthy subject, the trials have been sorted according to two kinematic assessment metrics, the *aiming angle* and the *length path ratio* [3]. The 10% of trials that diverge the most from a straight line have been removed from the dataset.

Raw signals from each channel have been preprocessed to extract the muscle activity envelopes [2]. The EMG envelopes have been factorized by applying the Non-negative Matrix Factorization (NMF) algorithm. NMF extracts the subject-specific muscle synergy matrix H, containing  $N_{syn}$  time-invariant and task-independent synergy modules, and the  $N_{syn}$  - dimensional matrix W of activation coefficients over time. The  $N_{syn} < M$  has been found to have a robust agreement between the original and the reconstructed dataset, by looking to the Variance-Accounted-For (VAF) [4]. A Gaussian Mixture Model (GMM) has been trained for each subject to model the  $N_{syn}$  synergy activation vectors w(t) at each time stamp, alongside with the class  $\zeta$  corresponding to the target the user is going to reach in the considered trial.

#### C. Online robot control

The activation coefficients vector w(t) on the testdataset has been computed by solving a least squares problem with non-negative constraint, from the muscle synergy matrix Hcomputed in the training phase. For each observation w, the probability to select a specific target  $\hat{\zeta}$  is computed by means

Authors are with Department of Information Engineering, University of Padova, Via Gradenigo 6/b 35131 - Padova Italy (tortora, michieletto, emg)@dei.unipd.it.



Fig. 2. Online control architecture. The blocks inside the dotted rectangle have been computed offline to extract the muscle synergy matrix and to train the classifier. The motion planning towards the desired object is computed for the manipulator, based on the visual feedback from a Microsoft Kinect camera.

of the conditioned probability density function:

$$p\left(\hat{\zeta}|w\right) = \sum_{k=1}^{K} \frac{\pi_k \mathcal{N}\left(w \mid \mu_{w,k}, \Sigma_{w,k}\right)}{\sum_{i=1}^{K} \mathcal{N}\left(w \mid \mu_{w,k}, \Sigma_{w,k}\right)} E\left[\zeta_k \mid w\right] \quad (1)$$

Finally, we estimated the class related to w by selecting the maximum of the accumulated probability per class along time. The performance of the method has been tested for each subject by means of 5-fold cross-validation procedure. For robot control, a command is identified and sent if the evidence has been accumulated for at least 20 ms and the difference between the two classes with the highest probability is > 0.5. Once the command is sent, the position and the orientation of the desired target object on the working bench is identified through a Microsoft Kinect camera and the trajectory of the UR10 manipulator robot is generated by the *MoveIt*!<sup>1</sup> motion planning framework within ROS.

#### III. RESULTS

From the synergies extraction procedure, the crossvalidation has identified  $N_{syn} = 4$  for the healthy subject and  $N_{syn} = 3$  for the stroke patient. The average classification performance and the performance for each target are shown in Fig. 3A and Fig. 3B, for the healthy and the stroke subjects, respectively. For healthy subject, the criteria to send a command are met after  $32.8 \pm 6.2ms$  on average, with an accuracy of  $96.8 \pm 2.1\%$ . The stroke patient presents a slightly worse behavior, with the command sent after  $47.6 \pm 13.4ms$ on average, with an accuracy of  $81.4 \pm 12.8\%$ .

#### **IV. DISCUSSION**

As expected from literature [4], a reduced number of synergy modules has been extracted for the stroke subject, due to a reduction of motor control and coordination. Results show that classification accuracy saturates for both healthy and stroke subject around 10% of reaching distance (about 20ms). During online simulation, the system has been able to recognize and send the correct commands with a time delay that is lower than the electro-mechanical delay (EMD), about 80ms for upper limb movements.

<sup>1</sup>https://moveit.ros.org/



Fig. 3. Classification accuracy over the reaching distance, computed for each target and the accuracy on the total test dataset (in green) for the healthy (A) and stroke (B) subjects.

#### V. CONCLUSION

Given the promising results of this work, we aim to implement subject-specific criteria for commands sending and to test the system on a bigger population. We believe that assistive technology could benefit from an accurate and fast algorithm for motion classification, particularly when a reduced muscular activity affects the identification of user intentions.

- C. Thomas, E. Zaidner, B. Calancie, J. Broton and B. Bigland-Ritchie, Muscle weakness, paralysis, and atrophy after human cervical spinal cord injury, in Experimental Neurology, vol. 148(2), 1997, pp. 414– 423.
- [2] S. Tortora, S. Michieletto, and E. Menegatti, Synergy-based Gaussian Mixture Model to anticipate reaching direction identification for robotic applications, in Proc. of the IAS-15 Workshop on Learning Applications for Intelligent Autonomous Robots (LAIAR-2018), 2018.
- [3] L. Zollo, L. Rossini, M. Bravi, G. Magrone, S. Sterzi and E. Guglielmelli, "Quantitative evaluation of upper-limb motor control in robot-aided rehabilitation," in *Med Biol Eng Comput*, vol. 49(10), pp. 1131–1144.
- [4] A. d'Avella, P. Saltiel and E. Bizzi, Combinations of muscle synergies in the construction of a natural motor behavior, in *Nature neuroscience*, vol. 6(3), 2003, pp. 300.

## Down-Conditioning of Soleus Reflex Activity using Mechanical Stimuli and EMG Biofeedback

Ronald C. van 't Veld<sup>1</sup>, Andrei C. Roşu<sup>1</sup>, Herman van der Kooij<sup>1,2</sup> and Edwin H. F. van Asseldonk<sup>1</sup>

Abstract-Spasticity is a common syndrome caused by various brain and neural injuries, which can severely impair walking ability and functional independence. To improve functional independence, conditioning protocols are available aimed at reducing spasticity by facilitating spinal neuroplasticity. This down-conditioning can be performed using different types of stimuli, electrical or mechanical, and reflex activity measures, EMG or impedance, used as biofeedback variable. Still, current results on effectiveness of these conditioning protocols are incomplete, making comparisons difficult. We aimed to show the within-session task-dependent and across-session long-term adaptation of a conditioning protocol based on mechanical stimuli and EMG biofeedback. However, in contrast to literature, preliminary results show that subjects were unable to successfully obtain task-dependent modulation of their soleus short-latency stretch reflex magnitude.

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Spasticity is a common syndrome caused by various brain and neural injuries. Spasticity, clinically defined as a velocity-dependent resistance of a muscle to stretch [1], can severely impair walking ability and functional independence. It is mainly caused by an exaggerated muscle stretch reflex, i.e. muscle hyperreflexia [2]. To improve the functional independence, two types of conditioning protocols are available aimed at reducing hyperreflexia by facilitating spinal neuroplasticity. First, at muscle level EMG biofeedback of either H-reflexes elicited with electrical stimuli [3] or short-latency stretch reflexes (SSR) elicited with mechanical stimuli can be used [4]. Second, at joint level biofeedback of reflexive joint impedance together with mechanical stimuli can be used [5].

The impedance-based protocol has multiple advantages compared with the EMG-based paradigms. First, the modulation is targeted at joint level, which could help to better facilitate functional improvements [6]. Second, significant task-dependent training effects were already attained after 2, instead of 4-6, sessions. Third, compared with the Hreflex paradigm, mechanical instead of electrical stimuli are used. This could improve participant comfort and general applicability to joints across the body. Unfortunately, the long-term effect as well as the clinical implementation of the impedance-based protocol have not been investigated yet.

To evaluate the effectiveness of these conditioning protocols, it is essential to have an insight in the percentage reduction of both task-dependent and long-term reflexive activity per training session for each protocol. Currently, complete results are only available for the H-reflex protocol, thus it is unknown which of the three protocols would be best to eventually use in the clinic. Moreover, the combined results of all protocols will also give insight into the role of the type of stimulation, electrical versus mechanical, and the type of biofeedback, EMG versus impedance, during conditioning. This paper shows preliminary results for the task-dependent adaptation of a protocol based on EMG feedback of the soleus SSR elicited with mechanical stimuli.

#### II. MATERIAL AND METHODS

Nine healthy adults (3 female,  $22.9\pm2.4y$ ) participated in this study. The study was approved by the EEMCS Ethics Committee of the University of Twente and all subjects gave written informed consent. The experiment was designed in similar fashion to [3].

The protocol consisted of 5 baseline sessions followed by 18 conditioning sessions with subjects participating in 3 sessions per week. In every session, subjects were seated with their right foot attached to an actuator (Moog, Nieuw-Vennep, the Netherlands) using a rigid footplate and Velcro straps. The system applied one degree of freedom perturbations in the sagittal plane around the ankle joint to elicit the stretch reflexes. The perturbation profile had the following characteristics: an amplitude of 8.1°, a maximum velocity of  $190^{\circ}/s$  and a maximum acceleration of  $7000^{\circ}/s^2$ .

In a baseline session, 225 control reflexes were elicited. For these control reflexes, subjects were asked to maintain a stable level of background activity set as percentage of soleus maximum voluntary contraction (MVC), measured at the start of the session. The desired level of background activity was reached by pressing on the footplate, which was kept in position by the actuator. In a conditioning session, first 25 control reflexes were elicited followed by 225 conditioned reflexes. For the conditioned reflexes, subjects were asked to decrease the SSR magnitude, while keeping a stable background activity level. Visual feedback was provided for both background activity and SSR magnitude. Reflexes were only elicited, if subjects maintained a stable background activity for a period between 2.25s and 4s, picked randomly to keep perturbations unpredictable. Moreover, subjects were urged to relax the first 4s after every reflex to avoid fatigue.

Muscle activity of the soleus was measured at 2048 Hz using a Porti (TMSi, Oldenzaal, the Netherlands). For data analysis, the EMG signals were high-pass filtered (2nd-order Butterworth, 10 Hz), rectified and normalized with MVC.

<sup>\*</sup>This work was supported by the Netherlands Organisation for Scientific Research (NWO), domain Applied and Engineering Sciences under project number 14903

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Department of Biomechanical Engineering, University of Twente, Enschede, The Netherlands; Corresponding author: R. C. van 't Veld (r.c.vantveld@utwente.nl)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Department of Biomechanical Engineering, Delft University of Technology, Delft, The Netherlands

Background activity was calculated using a 100ms window before perturbation onset. SSR magnitude was calculated as the area under the curve in the reflex interval, a 20ms window with a subject specific start after perturbation onset (typically 43ms), minus the background activity.

#### III. RESULTS

The preliminary results of the executed experiment focus on the within-session, task-dependent adaptation of the SSR magnitude using the differences between the conditioned and control reflexes. Based on the results of H-reflex experiments [7], task-dependent adaptation should be visible after 4-6 conditioning sessions. The baseline sessions, which were executed without subject instruction to reduce SSR magnitude, are used as reference as no within-session adaptation should occur.

Unfortunately, on average subjects show no taskdependent adaptation of the SSR magnitude during the conditioning sessions, see Fig. 1. To confirm, the taskdependent adaptation of the 5 baseline sessions and the last 5 conditioning sessions also show no statistical difference (p = 0.45, unpaired *t*-test). Individually, only 1 subject shows a significant effect between these groups of sessions (p < 0.05, unpaired *t*-test) with an average task-dependent reference of +8.6% during baseline and change of -3.3% during the last 5 sessions of conditioning. However, this is still about 5 times smaller than the -15% of task-dependent conditioning



Fig. 1. (*Top*) Group average ( $\pm$  SE) conditioned SSR size minus control SSR size, i.e. task-dependent adaptation (*Bottom*) Group average ( $\pm$  SE) change in background activity conditioned minus control block accompanying task-dependent adaptation of reflexes

obtained with the H-Reflex protocol [7]. The group change in background activity accompanying the task-dependent reflex adaptation was significantly different between start and end of the experiment (p < 0.05, unpaired *t*-test), see Fig. 1. On average, background activity slightly increased during baseline sessions, 0.04% MVC, while it slightly decreased during the last 5 conditioning sessions, -0.44% MVC.

#### IV. DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

The goal of our experiment was to show the effectiveness of a SSR conditioning protocol based on EMG feedback and mechanical stimuli. In contrast to our expectations, subjects were unable to show within-session, task-dependent downconditioning of the SSR magnitude. These results are not in line with literature, as previous research with the combination of mechanical stimuli and EMG feedback was successful in showing an overall conditioning effect [4] and long-term effect specifically [8].

Two aspects of the experiment could potentially cause a difference between our study and literature. First, on average a slight within-session decrease in background activity was observed during conditioning. However, a decreased background activity should help obtain a task-dependent reduction in SSR magnitude as motoneuron excitability is reduced. Second, task instructions were slightly different compared to the experiment of [4]. In our study, subjects were instructed to press on the footplate, which was kept in position by the actuator. Contrarily, in [4] subjects were requested to hold a steady position while an actuator delivered a constant bias torque to their joint. The potential effect of the difference in task instruction on task-dependent adaptation will be subject for further research. Moreover, once task-dependent adaptation is achieved, also the acrosssession long-term effects can be evaluated.

- J. W. Lance, "Symposium Synopsis," in *Spasticity: Disordered Motor Control*, R. G. Feldman, R. R. Young, and W. P. Koella, Eds. Chicago, IL, USA: Year Book Medical Publishers, 1980, pp. 485–495.
- [2] V. Dietz and T. Sinkjaer, "Spastic Movement Disorder: Impaired Reflex Function and Altered Muscle Mechanics," *Lancet. Neurol.*, vol. 6, no. 8, pp. 725–733, 2007.
- [3] A. K. Thompson, F. R. Pomerantz, and J. R. Wolpaw, "Operant Conditioning of a Spinal Reflex Can Improve Locomotion after Spinal Cord Injury in Humans," *J. Neurosci.*, vol. 33, no. 6, pp. 2365–2375, 2013.
- [4] R. L. Segal and S. L. Wolf, "Operant Conditioning of Spinal Stretch Reflexes in Patients with Spinal Cord Injuries," *Exp. Neurol.*, vol. 130, no. 2, pp. 202–213, 1994.
- [5] D. Ludvig, I. Cathers, and R. E. Kearney, "Voluntary Modulation of Human Stretch Reflexes," *Exp. Brain Res.*, vol. 183, no. 2, pp. 201– 213, 2007.
- [6] R. L. Segal, "Spinal Cord Plasticity is a Possible Tool for Rehabilitation," *Neurol. Rep.*, vol. 22, no. 2, pp. 54–60, 1998.
- [7] A. K. Thompson, X. Y. Chen, and J. R. Wolpaw, "Acquisition of a Simple Motor Skill: Task-Dependent Adaptation plus Long-Term Change in the Human Soleus H-Reflex," *J. Neurosci.*, vol. 29, no. 18, pp. 5784–5792, 2009.
- [8] N. Mrachacz-Kersting and U. G. Kersting, "Operant Conditioning of the Human Soleus Short Latency Stretch Reflex and Implications for the Medium Latency Soleus Stretch Reflex," in *Biosystems & Biorobotics 15: Converging Clinical and Engineering Research on Neurorehabilitation II.* Springer, 2017, pp. 59–63.

## Investigating Concurrent Neuroplasticity and Changes in Level of Functionality in SCI Individuals

Kasper K. Leerskov, Lotte N. S. Andreasen Struijk and Erika G. Spaich

*Abstract* — This paper describes a roadmap for investigating concurrent plastic changes and functional development in spinal cord injury individuals following therapy. Relevant plastic measurements and the expected analysis of these measurements are presented.

#### I. INTRODUCTION

 $\mathbf{F}_{(CNS)}^{OLLOWING}$  a spinal cord injury, the central nervous system  $\mathbf{F}_{(CNS)}^{OLLOWING}$  of SCI individuals undergoes a variety of adaptive plastic changes, consisting of anatomical, physiological, and functional changes [1] in the sensory-motor cortex, the brainstem and the spinal cord above and below the injury [2]. Reverting these adaptive changes is associated with better outcomes for the SCI individuals [1], [3].

Restoration of locomotion in SCI individuals is of high priority and is believed to reduce a variety of side effects from being immobile [4], if achieved. Rehabilitation of locomotion using robotic gait training aims at exploiting plasticity [3] and has been shown to induce plastic changes resulting in e.g. increased inhibition of the soleus H-reflex [1], increased activation of motor cortex [5] and increased cortical modulation of spinal circuits [6].

Evidently, the changes following SCI are present at multiple levels of the neuroaxis, affecting in various ways the functionality of the nervous system [1], [2]. For a more extensive review of the plastic changes associated with SCI, see [1], [3], [7]. The complexity and extensiveness of plasticity following SCI makes it inherently difficult to investigate [2].

As the improvements that may be seen following gait training in SCI individuals, are expected to be the result of concurrent plastic changes at multiple levels along the neuroaxis [1], [3], it has been proposed to investigate these plastic changes at three levels in parallel: The descending pathways from the motor cortex to the lower limbs, the ascending pathways from the lower limbs to the sensory cortex, and the intrinsic inhibitory circuits of the spinal cord and relate these to a measure of the SCI individuals' capability [8].

The present paper suggests a framework for evaluating plastic changes at these levels.

#### II. METHODS

#### A. Study design

To appropriately investigate plastic changes, it is critical to continuously monitor plastic changes in SCI individuals throughout their therapy. Therefore, several measurements should be taken, with appropriate periods of time between measurements e.g. 2-3 months. For comparison, obtaining reference measurements from healthy subjects, could be considered, as changes could then be assessed as proportional change from initial values towards "normal" values.

#### B. Descending pathways

Investigations of the descending pathways have the purpose of assessing the subjects' capability to voluntarily activate cortical areas. This is important as supraspinal control is involved in initiating movement and navigating complex environments [9]. The investigation is proposed to be done during attempted movement, while monitoring changes of the motor-related cortical potential [10] using EEG and changes in resulting muscle activity using EMG. It is proposed to monitor muscle activity in both a proximal and a distal leg muscle, as both are needed to achieve gait, yet the strongest rehabilitation is expected in the proximal muscles [11].

#### C. Ascending pathways

The assessment of plastic changes in the ascending pathways, has the purpose of investigating the change of sensory pathways related to gait. The sensory feedback achieved through movements of the leg is very complex, which is why investigations using somato-sensory evoked potentials, using electrical stimulus to the tibial nerve, seems appropriate, as it assesses both the tactile and proprioceptive pathways [12]. Changes in the observable potentials in the EEG should be assessed.

#### D. Intrinsic inhibitory spinal circuits

Different spinal circuits could be investigated and in a variety of ways; however, the conditioned soleus H-reflex has been widely used in research of changes in several intrinsic networks following locomotor training and is related to gait deficits in SCI individuals [1] and is therefore proposed. Additionally, different spinal circuits can be assessed simply

K. K. Leerskov is with SMI®, Department of Health Science and Technology at Aalborg University, 9220 Aalborg Ø, Denmark (corresponding author, phone: +45 3028 4239, e-mail: kkl@hst.aau.dk).

L. N. S. A. Struijk is with SMI®, Department of Health Science and Technology at Aalborg University, 9220 Aalborg Ø, Denmark (e-mail: naja@hst.aau.dk).

E. G. Spaich is with SMI®, Department of Health Science and Technology at Aalborg University, 9220 Aalborg Ø, Denmark (e-mail: espaich@hst.aau.dk).

by changing the timing between the conditioning and the testing pulse [1] e.g. reciprocal, presynaptic and homosynaptic inhibitory circuits. Furthermore, the stimulus location could be the same as used to elicit somato-sensory evoked potentials. Changes in the inhibition/facilitation of the soleus H-reflex should be assessed.

#### E. Functional measurements

When considering functional assessments, it is important to use a measurement relevant to the subjects' functional capabilities. SCIM III is a reliable and valid measure of the assistance needed for SCI individuals to complete a variety of everyday tasks [13] and therefore seems appropriate.

#### F. Statistics

The plastic changes observed should all be assessed for significant changes overtime. Additionally, the plastic changes following therapy get even more relevant, if correlation to functional improvements can be found. Therefore, it is suggested to investigate correlations between SCIM III scores and all the obtained measurements for plastic changes.

#### III. RESULTS

#### A. Descending pathways

The results following investigations of the descending pathways, could describe the changes in the motor-related cortical potential based on peak-negativity amplitude and latency, as well as peak-to-peak amplitude. Additionally, changes in muscle activity could be assessed as max and mean amplitude during the contraction, as well as the proportion of samples were the muscle activity is significantly different from rest.

#### *B. Ascending pathways*

The results of investigations of the ascending pathways, could describe changes in observable components, as well as changes in the components' amplitude and latency.

#### C. Intrinsic inhibitory spinal circuits

The investigations of the intrinsic spinal networks should describe the change in inhibition/facilitation of the different networks assessed.

#### D. Functional measurements

The investigations of functional capability should describe the total change in score of SCIM III as well as the changes in the subcategories of SCIM III.

#### E. Statistics

The statistical investigations should describe any significant changes in the plastic measurements, as well as the correlation between each measurement and SCIM III.

#### IV. DISCUSSION

In the present paper, a roadmap for assessing concurrent plastic changes following gait training of SCI individuals in ascending and descending neural pathways, and intrinsic spinal networks has been presented. The roadmap has been developed to emphasize the complexity of plastic changes and the need for evaluating concurrent plastic changes simultaneously, to a higher degree than current efforts. The suggested measurements have been chosen out of consideration for simplicity of an experimental setup and the realizability of an extensive plasticity investigation.

#### V. CONCLUSION

The presented roadmap is to be used in future studies, examining the concurrent plastic changes in SCI individuals receiving therapy, and the respective correlation between plastic changes and the functional capability of SCI individuals.

#### References

- A. C. Smith and M. Knikou, "A Review on Locomotor Training after Spinal Cord Injury: Reorganization of Spinal Neuronal Circuits and Recovery of Motor Function," *Neural Plast.*, vol. 2016, pp. 1–20, 2016.
- [2] K. Fouad, A. Krajacic, and W. Tetzlaff, "Spinal cord injury and plasticity: Opportunities and challenges," *Brain Research Bulletin*, vol. 84, no. 4–5. pp. 337–342, Mar-2011.
- [3] H. J. A. van Hedel and V. Dietz, "Rehabilitation of locomotion after spinal cord injury.," *Restor. Neurol. Neurosci.*, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 123–134, 2010.
- [4] S. R. Chang, R. Kobetic, M. L. Audu, R. D. Quinn, and R. J. Triolo, "Powered Lower-Limb Exoskeletons to Restore Gait for Individuals with Paraplegia - a Review.," *Case Orthop. J.*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 75–80, 2015.
- [5] P. Winchester *et al.*, "Changes in supraspinal activation patterns following robotic locomotor therapy in motor-incomplete spinal cord injury.," *Neurorehabil. Neural Repair*, vol. 19, no. 4, pp. 313–324, Dec. 2005.
- [6] N. Hajela, C. K. Mummidisetty, A. C. Smith, and M. Knikou, "Corticospinal reorganization after locomotor training in a person with motor incomplete paraplegia.," *Biomed Res. Int.*, vol. 2013, p. 516427, 2013.
- [7] Y. M. Ding, A. J. Kastin, and W. H. Pan, "Neural plasticity after spinal cord injury," *Curr. Pharm. Des.*, vol. 11, no. 11, pp. 1441– 1450, 2005.
- [8] K. K. Leerskov, L. N. S. A. Struijk and E. G. Spaich, "Assessment of Plastic Changes Following Bio-Robotic Rehabilitation of Spinal Cord Injured Individuals – A Protocol Proposal," *Proceedings of the 4th International Conference on NeuroRehabilitation*, accepted, 2018.
- [9] M. Hubli and V. Dietz, "The physiological basis of neurorehabilitation - locomotor training after spinal cord injury," J. Neuroeng. Rehabil., vol. 10, no. 1, p. 5, 2013.
- [10] R. Xu *et al.*, "Movement-related cortical potentials in paraplegic patients: abnormal patterns and considerations for BCIrehabilitation," *Front. Neurosci.*, vol. 3, no. AUG, pp. 1–7, 2014.
- [11] A. R. C. Donati *et al.*, "Long-Term Training with a Brain-Machine Interface-Based Gait Protocol Induces Partial Neurological Recovery in Paraplegic Patients," *Sci. Rep.*, vol. 6, no. 6, p. 30383, Aug. 2016.
- [12] G. Cruccu *et al.*, "Recommendations for the clinical use of somatosensory-evoked potentials," *Clin. Neurophysiol.*, vol. 119, no. 8, pp. 1705–1719, 2008.
- [13] V. Bluvshtein *et al.*, "SCIM III is reliable and valid in a separate analysis for traumatic spinal cord lesions," *Spinal Cord*, vol. 49, no. 2, pp. 292–296, 2011.

## Decoding intracortical activity to predict rat locomotion

Filipe O. Barroso\*, Bryan Yoder, Josephine Wallner, Maria Jantz, Pablo Tostado, Evonne Pei, Vicki Tysseling, Lee E. Miller, Matthew C. Tresch

*Abstract* — This contribution to Summer School on Neurorehabilitation 2018 (SSNR2018) describes our progress in developing a rat model for a functional electrical stimulation (FES) neuroprosthesis for rehabilitation following spinal cord injury (SCI). We first evaluated the quality of electromyography (EMG) and kinematics decoding results using neural data from an intracortical array implanted in the sensorimotor cortex. Spiking activity predicted EMG and kinematics with reasonable results. Our future goal is to drive a brain machine interface (BMI) to restore locomotion after SCI using FES and evaluate its potential as a rehabilitative technology to improve general motor function.

#### I. INTRODUCTION

**R**ECOVERY of functional gait patterns after SCI requires modulation of motor cortex commands. FES is a promising approach that offers a mean to restore voluntary limb movements after spinal cord injury, when used in a BMI [1]. This involves recording cortical activity to decode an intended movement and then stimulating paralyzed muscles to execute the intended movement. We previously showed the potential of a FES-BMI to restore motor function after temporary paralysis in monkeys [2]. However, for ethical reasons, we need to identify another model that allows us to replicate paralysis symptoms and neural changes after SCI. We have identified an alternative in the rat model, in which the use of SCI is common.

There is also some evidence that peripheral stimulation, when synchronized with patients' voluntary effort, can further promote recovery by strengthening residual descending connections through activity dependent plasticity [3]. In that sense, our rat model can also be used to evaluate the potential of a FES-BMI for restoring and rehabilitating locomotion function following SCI.

This contribution presents the quality of electromyography (EMG) and kinematics decoding results using neural data from an intracortical array implanted in the sensorimotor cortex.

#### II. MATERIAL AND METHODS

Adult female adults were trained to run for ten consecutive minutes during different trials, with a steady stable pattern of

locomotion in the same general region of the treadmill, at speeds ranging from 10-13 m/min. After completion of training, rats were implanted with intracortical arrays spanning the right hindlimb sensorimotor cortex and bipolar EMG electrodes in 6 muscles from the left hindlimb.

Following recovery, EMG, kinematics and neural data were simultaneously recorded whilst the rats walked on the treadmill. Hindlimb kinematics were recorded by tracking the 3D position of markers placed on bony landmarks. Cortical signals were obtained from spiking activity recorded in the intracortical electrodes. Multiunit spike rates were calculated in 50ms bins. EMG activity was high pass filtered, rectified, and integrated in 50ms bins. Sagittal plane joint angles were calculated for the hip, knee, and ankle from the recorded markers position every 50ms. We also calculated the limb vector angle as the angle between the markers at the top of the pelvis, the hip, and the toe.

Linear and non-linear filters were used to decode EMG activity and hindlimb kinematics from spike rates [2] [4]. Linear decoders were found by identifying optimal impulse responses between cortical activity and motor outputs, as described previously [2]. Non-linear decoders were recurrent neural networks (RRNs) [5]. Both types of decoders used a history length of 500ms of cortical activity. Decoders performance was evaluated by calculating the variability accounted for (VAF) with 10-fold cross validation.

#### III. RESULTS

Predictions of kinematics using spike activity from intracortical array were good, with VAFs of 0.6-0.7. Predictions using non-linear filters (RNNs) were slightly better than those from linear decoders, but the improvement was minimal (~0.05-0.1). Predictions of individual EMGs (0.2-0.6) were poorer than predictions of kinematics.

#### IV. CONCLUSIONS AND ONGOING RESEARCH

As a first step in the development of a rat model for a functional electrical stimulation (FES) neuroprosthesis for rehabilitation following spinal cord injury (SCI), we were

The research has been sponsored by Senior Research Grant 340943 from the Craig H. Neilsen Foundation.

F. O. Barroso, B. Yoder, J. Wallner, M. Jantz, P. Tostado, E. Pei, V. Tysseling, L. Miller and M. Tresch are with the Department of Physiology, Northwestern University, Chicago, IL, USA.

F. O. Barroso is also with the Neural Rehabilitation Group (Cajal Institute)

of the Spanish National Research Council, Madrid, Spain.

<sup>\*</sup> corresponding author: filipe.barroso@cajal.csic.es.

able to obtain good predictions of kinematics and EMGs during rat locomotion, when decoding data recorded from an intracortical array. We believe that the accuracy of our decoders is sufficient to drive a FES-BMI.

Our future goal is to test cortically-controlled FES to restore locomotion after SCI in a rat model and evaluate its potential as a rehabilitative technology to improve general motor function. We expect that FES may strengthen residual descending connections. With repeated training, these strengthened connections might provide a substrate for functional voluntary movements. The experiments herein described are essential before translation to humans.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENT

We are grateful to Karen Moxon for advice on implantation of intracortical electrodes, and Joshua Glaser for data analysis.

- C. E. Bouton, A. Shaikhouni, N. V. Annetta, M. A. Bockbrader, D. A. Friedenberg, D. M. Nielson, G. Sharma, P. B. Sederberg, B. C. Glenn, W. J. Mysiw, A. G. Morgan, M. Deogaonkar and A. R. Rezai, "Restoring cortical control of functional movement in a human with quadriplegia," *Nature*, vol. 533, p. 247–250, 2016.
- [2] C. Ethier, E. R. Oby, M. J. Bauman and L. E. Miller, "Restoration of grasp following paralysis through brain-controlled stimulation of muscles," *Nature*, vol. 485, no. 7398, p. 368–371, 2012.
- [3] A. Jackson, J. Mavoori and E. E. Fetz, "Long-term motor cortex plasticity induced by an electronic neural implant," *Nature*, vol. 444, no. 7115, pp. 56-60, 2006.
- [4] A. R. Marathe and D. M. Taylor, "Decoding continuous limb movements from high-density epidural electrode arrays using custom spatial filters," *J Neural Eng*, vol. 10, no. 3, 2013.
- [5] D. Sussillo, P. Nuyujukian, J. M. Fan, J. C. Kao, S. D. Stavisky, S. Ryu and K. Shenoy, "A recurrent neural network for closed-loop intracortical brain-machine interface decoders," *J. Neural Eng.*, vol. 9, no. 2, 2012.

## Paired associative stimulation protocols with transcranial magnetic stimulation for motor cortex potentiation

A. San Agustín and Jose L. Pons

*Abstract*—Paired Associative Stimulation (PAS) refers to a paradigm in which Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (TMS) functions as an excitability potentiation tool over corticospinal motor pathway. By synchronizing this non-invasive cortical stimulation with a motor cortex activation stimulus, changes in synaptic strength and function are achieved. In this review, we detail a brief variety of PAS intervention protocols and their consequences.

#### I. INTRODUCTION

NEUROPLASTICITY is the capacity of the brain cells to modify their structures as an adaptation to outcome changes. It is the biological mechanism of the learning and memory process that allows a potentiation or depression in synapsis as a result of an injury or a therapeutic intervention [1]. The emergence of non-invasive cortical stimulation techniques such as Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (TMS) enables the study of neuroplasticity induction in human brain.

Transcranial magnetic stimulation utilizes short high intensity magnetic fields to induce currents that reach the cortex, which depolarize neurons in small regions. This tool has been used for the assessment of corticospinal motor pathway since it can produce a muscle twitch that, in resting muscle, reflects the excitability and local density of the pathway neurons [2].

Likewise, TMS can be utilized in order to potentiate the corticospinal excitability following certain application characteristics related to Hebb principles. Donald Hebb postulated that when two axons of different cells are close enough and repeatedly one taking part in the firing of the other, a growth and metabolic change occurs between them [3]. The application of potentiation protocols of Paired Associative Stimulation (PAS) synchronizes two different stimulus activation, one of them induced by TMS, to converge over the motor cortex. A range of PAS protocols has been developed, combining TMS pulse with different activation stimuli, generating a neuroplasticity response in corticospinal pathway excitability accompanied by the respective changes in function.

#### II. PAIRED ASSOCIATIVE STIMULATION PROTOCOLS

#### A. Peripheral-cortical PAS (pc-PAS),

In the prototypical and original PAS, a single TMS pulse is related with a low-frequency median nerve stimulation, which was applied 25ms before. The nerve stimulation in the hand (Abductor Pollicis Brevis muscle) was applied previously to the TMS in order to have the time to reach the motor cortex for converging with the pulse in the contralateral primary motor cortex (M1)[4]. Repeated pairing of both stimulus over an extended period enhances the excitability of corticospinal projections from M1. Thus, the time of activation is crucial for PAS induced effects, representing the spike-timing dependent plasticity (STDP) form [5]. PAS induced an increase in the amplitudes of the Motor Evoked Potentials (MEPs) in the resting muscle for 30 min and was persistent with a minimum duration of 30-60 min [4] which has been suggested as a representation of Long Term Potentiation (LTP)-like plasticity [6]. In addition, PAS resulted in enhanced motor learning 1 week after its application [7].

#### B. Cortico-cortical PAS (cc-PAS)

The cc-PAS consists of pairing two TMS single pulse, each applied in a cortical hemisphere. Rizzo et al. designed this PAS version by applying a single TMS pulse over the ipsilateral hand-M1 followed by another single TMS pulse over the contralateral hand-M1 at a constant Inter-Stimulus Interval (ISI) of 8 ms [8]. Their hypothesis was that the propagation of the volley in transcallosal axons could cause a trans-synaptic excitation of specific interneurons in the contralateral hand motor cortex. Koganemaru et al. applied this paradigm and recalled it as Paired Bihemispheric Stimulation (PBS), inducing a PAS protocol with an ISI of 15ms [9].

When the left hand-M1 was stimulated previously to right hemisphere (left-to-right cc-PAS), left-to-right interhemispheric inhibition was attenuated and the corticospinal excitability in the conditioned right M1 was increased. Besides, cc-PAS speeded responses with the left but not right index finger during a simple Reaction Time (RT) task. Symmetrically, right-to-left cc-PAS reduced right-toleft interhemispheric inhibition without increasing corticospinal excitability in left M1. Thus, it is concluded that cc-PAS can induce associative plasticity in interhemispheric

European social fund through the Youth Employment Operational Program and the Youth Employment Initiative (YEI) of the Community of Madrid

A. San Agustín and Jose L. Pons are with the Neurorehabilitation Group at Cajal Institute of the Spanish National Research Council, Madrid, Spain (asanagustin@caja.csic.es).

	STUDIES REPORTING EXCITABILITY ENHANCEMENT RELATED TO A PAS INTERVENTION							
PAS Intervention	Reference	Inter-Stimulus Interval (ISI)	Pairing pulses	PAS Effects				
Pc-PAS	Stefan et al. (2000)	25 ms	90 pairings; 0.05 Hz	LTP-like plasticity				
	Rajii et al. (2011)	25 ms	180 pairings; 0.1 Hz	Enhanced motor learning				
Cc-PAS	Rizzo et al. (2009)	8 ms	90 pairings; 0.05 Hz	Attenuated interhemispheric inhibition; speeded responses; increased corticospinal excitability				
	Koganemaru et al. (2009)	15 ms	180 pairings; 0.1 Hz	Facilitated fine finger movements				
Movement-related PAS	Thabit et al. (2010)	50 ms	240 pairings; 0.2 Hz	Potentiated corticospinal motor pathway; shortened reaction times				

TABLE I Studies reporting excitability enhancement related to a PAS intervention

connections between the targeted cortical areas. The efficacy of cc-PAS to induce lasting changes in excitability depends on the exact time of stimuli pairing convergence suggesting an underlying Hebbian mechanism [8] and a STDP kind of plasticity. Fine finger movements were also facilitated by PBS [9].

#### C. Movement-related PAS

As any M1 activation paired with TMS pulse is likely needed for motor pathway potentiation, Thabit et al. chose as an alternative the natural physiological activation of hand-M1 during a RT task. Thus, a new protocol of PAS was designed, by combining TMS cortical activation with a task that requires muscular movement 50ms before, that in turn, through afferent projections, activates M1 as well [10]. This form of PAS induced potentiation in the corticospinal excitability and shortened reaction times in the task that outlasted the stimulation period. This potentiation developed within 20 min, was sustained after intervention and showed associativity. Thus, the characteristics of this change are similar to associative LTP like plasticity. Additionally, this form of induced plasticity was STDP as excitability enhancement was dependent on TMS and the onset of voluntary movement synchronization.

#### III. CONCLUSION

These findings suggest that TMS interventions have a potential use for improving motor pathway excitability and functional performance applying it following PAS protocols. These improvements are specific to the timing as they respond to cellular synaptic plasticity phenomenon and they induce long term lasting effects, which opens a broad therapeutic work field for more stable changes.

#### IV. DISCUSSION

As many paired protocols are emerging for the use of TMS in corticospinal excitability potentiation, we believe that eventually, a characterization of each of them will be necessary in order to unveil their strengths and defects.

We suggest a study based on the comparison of these techniques. The comparative relation of excitability enhancement effects and their functional consequences could be tested in the same corticospinal motor pathway, for example in the APB muscle, applying the different protocols that we have reviewed and using comparable parameters, i.e., the equivalent ISI and the same amount of paired pulses at the equal frequency of application.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENT

This work was supported by European social fund through the Youth Employment Operational Program and the Youth Employment Initiative (YEI) of the Community of Madrid and the Cajal Institute of the Spanish National Research Council, Madrid, Spain.

- Piradov, M. A., Chernikova, L. A., & Suponeva, N. A. (2018). Brain Plasticity and Modern Neurorehabilitation Technologies. Herald of the Russian Academy of Sciences, 88(2), 111-118.
- [2] Hallett, M. (2000). Transcranial magnetic stimulation and the human brain. Nature, 406(6792), 147.
- [3] Hebb, D. O. (1949). The organization of behavior; a neuropsycholocigal theory. A Wiley Book in Clinical Psychology., 62-78.
- [4] Stefan, K., Kunesch, E., Benecke, R., Cohen, L. G., & Classen, J. (2002). Mechanisms of enhancement of human motor cortex excitability induced by interventional paired associative stimulation. The Journal of physiology, 543(2), 699-708.
- [5] Carson, R. G., & Kennedy, N. C. (2013). Modulation of human corticospinal excitability by paired associative stimulation. Frontiers in human neuroscience, 7, 823. (Review PAS)
- [6] Ziemann, U., Paulus, W., Nitsche, M. A., Pascual-Leone, A., Byblow, W. D., Berardelli, A., ... & Rothwell, J. C. (2008). Consensus: motor cortex plasticity protocols. Brain stimulation, 1(3), 164-182.
- [7] Rajji, T. K., Liu, S. K., Frantseva, M. V., Mulsant, B. H., Thoma, J., Chen, R., ... & Daskalakis, Z. J. (2011). Exploring the effect of inducing long-term potentiation in the human motor cortex on motor learning. Brain stimulation, 4(3), 137-144.
- [8] Rizzo, V., Siebner, H. S., Morgante, F., Mastroeni, C., Girlanda, P., & Quartarone, A. (2008). Paired associative stimulation of left and right human motor cortex shapes interhemispheric motor inhibition based on a Hebbian mechanism. Cerebral cortex, 19(4), 907-915.
- [9] Koganemaru, S., Mima, T., Nakatsuka, M., Ueki, Y., Fukuyama, H., & Domen, K. (2009). Human motor associative plasticity induced by paired bihemispheric stimulation. The Journal of physiology, 587(19), 4629-4644.
- [10] Thabit, M. N., Ueki, Y., Koganemaru, S., Fawi, G., Fukuyama, H., & Mima, T. (2010). Movement-related cortical stimulation can induce human motor plasticity. Journal of Neuroscience, 30(34), 11529-11536.

## Proportional control of FES for grasping using voluntary EMG from stimulated hand muscles

Bethel A. C. Osuagwu, Emily Whicher, Rebecca Shirley and Julian Taylor

Abstract— Currently, functional electrical stimulation (FES) is often applied passively such that preprogrammed stimulation patterns are used. However, passive FES application does not ensure the active participation of individuals voluntarily activating their target muscles, which has been suggested to be important for movement rehabilitation. Here we aim to test the feasibility of a two-channel proportional EMG-controlled active FES (Active FES) system that can augment both hand and wrist flexion and extension by encouraging active participation. Early results show that participants assessed the Active FES system as easy to use, suggesting that it could be implemented as a way to incorporate voluntary muscle activation time-locked and proportional to FES intensity, in order to promote targeted neurorehabilitation of hand and wrist muscles.

#### I. INTRODUCTION

FUNCTIONAL electrical stimulation (FES) is a widely used technique for passive muscle activation in movement rehabilitation following spinal cord injury and related neurological conditions. In the clinical setting, FES is often applied passively which means that automated stimulation patterns independent of voluntary effort are used. The limitation of this method of FES application is that the active participation of individuals is not encouraged and consequently the cortical drive for voluntary muscle activation is not time-locked with FES. However, it has been hypothesized [1] and evidence suggests [2] that the therapeutic effect of FES is enhanced when it is applied in synchrony with voluntary muscle activation.

One method to encourage voluntary muscle activation with FES is to use a control signal generated from residual electromyogram (EMG) of the FES-stimulated muscle. Residual EMG can then be employed to trigger the onset and/or proportional control of FES intensity. Proportional control is an attractive strategy because it provides more natural control. However, technical problems related to simultaneous recording of EMG and significant electrical

Supported by Stoke Mandeville Spinal Research, Buckinghamshire Healthcare NHS Trust Charitable Fund.

BO (e-mail: bethel.osuagwu@smsr.org.uk), EW and JT are with Stoke Mandeville Spinal Research, National Spinal Injuries Centre, Stoke Mandeville Hospital, Mandeville Road, HP21 8AL Aylesbury, UK.

EW BO and JT are employed by the National Spinal Injuries Centre, Stoke Mandeville Hospital, Mandeville Road, HP21 8AL Aylesbury, UK.

RS work at the Buckinghamshire Healthcare Plastics Dept., Stoke Mandeville Hospital, Mandeville Road, HP21 8AL Aylesbury, UK.

JT is a Senior Fellow at Harris Manchester College, University of Oxford, OX1 3TD Oxford, UK and Sensorimotor Function Group Lead at the Hospital Nacional de Parapléjicos, SESCAM, 45071 Toledo, Spain.

noise contamination from the FES makes this control strategy difficult to implement. Recently, single channel proportional EMG has been shown to adequately control FES as an orthotic and rehabilitation technique to promote tenodesis, hand flexion or extension [3,4]. Here we aim to further develop this technique by testing the feasibility of a two-channel proportional EMG-controlled FES system called Active FES for augmentation of finger and wrist flexion and extension to promote targeted active neurorehabilitation of hand and wrist muscles.

#### II. METHODS

#### A. Artefact removal

In the Active FES system, EMG was recorded from the extensor digitorum (EDC) and flexor digitorum superficialis (FDS) muscles and then used to control a FES applied to the same pair of muscles. Stimulus artifact recorded with the EMG was eliminated using a comb filter given by

$$x_{c}(n) = x(n) - bx(n - K),$$
 (1)

where  $x_c$  is the comb-filtered EMG signal, x is the artifact contaminated EMG signal, the coefficient b is a constant and K = Fs/f is the ratio of the EMG sampling frequency and the FES frequency.

Muscle response due to electrical stimulation was removed using an adaptive linear prediction filter assuming that each EMG signal is a band-limited nonstationary, Gaussian noise [5]. The filter is given by

$$y(n) = x_{c}(n) - \sum_{i=1}^{M} b_{i} x_{c}(n - iK)$$
 (2)

This filter is similar to (1) but operates by subtracting from the current sample  $x_c(n)$ , the weighted, using corresponding coefficients  $b_i$ , *M* previous samples separated by  $K[x_c(n-iK)]$ .

The filter in (1) was used first with the filter coefficient b = 1 to force the removal of the stimulation artifact. For the adaptive filter in (2), M = 6 was used [5] and  $b_i$  coefficients were estimated using matrix inversion method implemented in Simulink. The EMG sampling frequency was set to Fs = 1000Hz and the FES sampling frequency was f = 25Hz to give K = 40 samples / cycle.

#### B. Procedure

The FES currents were set at a comfortable level for a participant. The set FES currents and the maximum voluntary EMG power were used to calibrate the Active FES system.

Participants were asked to attempt hand and wrist extension and flexion while the magnitudes of the EMGs were extracted and used to proportionally modulated FES intensity by varying the pulse width. In order to verify that the participants could proportionally modulate the intensity of the FES using their EMG signal, they were asked to track a set movement profile presented on the computer monitor by opening and closing the hand and wrist using the Active FES system. The usability of the system was accessed using Quebec User Evaluation of Satisfaction with assistive Technology (QUEST).



Fig.1. Stimulus artifact-contaminated EMG, extracted EMG, EMG and shape tracing result from participant 1.

#### **III.** RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

The Active FES system has been tested on two participants with motor incomplete spinal cord injury at the cervical level. Fig. 1 shows a typical result from Participant 1 during the tracking task using the Active FES system. In Fig. 1a the stimulus artifact-contaminated EMG signal was clear as the participant attempted hand/wrist movement. Fig. 1b shows the EMG extracted online from Fig. 1a using the Active FES system. Fig. 1c-d show the corresponding estimated EMG power and FES pulse width modulation. Fig. 1e shows the result of the tracking task.

Although as shown in Fig. 1e, the participant was not able

to precisely trace the given shape, he was able to voluntarily control the FES during the session indicating that precise tracking is not required to use the Active FES system. Some of the reasons the participant could not precisely track the shape may be (1) because the participant was not used to receiving FES on a muscle under voluntary contraction, (2) due to possible changes in muscle fibre recruitment during voluntary and varying FES intensity controlled by the target muscle [6] leading to unpredictable variation in voluntary EMG amplitude, and (3) due to changes in background noise level in the extracted EMG because of changes in FES intensity. The first two points may be resolved by the participant practicing and becoming accustomed to the system. The last point requires further investigation, although the noise level changes only when the FES intensity is significantly higher than the calibration value.

Both participants rated the system as easy to use using the QUEST. They were able to voluntarily activate and deactivate the FES and to modulate its intensity using residual EMG elicited during hand/wrist extension and flexion, enabling FES to augment functional hand/wrist opening and closing in a proportional manner.

#### IV. CONCLUSION

This early result shows that participants found the Active FES system easy to use, suggesting that it could be implemented as a way to incorporate residual voluntary muscle activation during FES in order to promote targeted neurorehabilitation of specific extensor and flexor muscles. The study is ongoing and further test includes assessing if the Active FES system can enhance wrist range of movement in the patients.

- Rushton, D.N., 2003. Functional electrical stimulation and rehabilitation—an hypothesis. Medical engineering & physics, 25(1), pp.75-78.
- [2] McGie, S.C., Zariffa, J., Popovic, M.R. and Nagai, M.K., 2015. Short-Term Neuroplastic Effects of Brain-Controlled and Muscle-Controlled Electrical Stimulation. Neuromodulation: Technology at the Neural Interface, 18(3), pp.233-240.
- [3] Ambrosini, E., Ferrante, S., Schauer, T., Klauer, C., Gaffuri, M., Ferrigno, G. and Pedrocchi, A., 2014. A myocontrolled neuroprosthesis integrated with a passive exoskeleton to support upper limb activities. Journal of Electromyography and Kinesiology, 24(2), pp.307-317.
- [4] Thorsen, R.A., Occhi, E., Boccardi, S. and Ferrarin, M., 2006. Functional electrical stimulation reinforced tenodesis effect controlled by myoelectric activity from wrist extensors. Journal of rehabilitation research and development, 43(2), p.247.
- [5] Sennels, S., Biering-Sorensen, F., Andersen, O.T. and Hansen, S.D., 1997. Functional neuromuscular stimulation controlled by surface electromyographic signals produced by volitional activation of the same muscle: adaptive removal of the muscle response from the recorded EMG-signal. IEEE Transactions on Rehabilitation Engineering, 5(2), pp.195-206.
- [6] Stratton, K. and Faghri, P.D., 2016. Electrically and hybrid-induced muscle activations: effects of muscle size and fiber type. European journal of translational myology, 26(3).

## Motor inhibition elicited by electrical stimulation of afferent pathways and its application in tremor suppression

A. Pascual-Valdunciel\*, F.O. Barroso and J.L. Pons

Abstract- Spinal reflexes mechanisms have been widely studied in animal models and have proven the contribution of afferent pathways to motor control. Based on these neural circuitry, afferent electrical stimulation has emerged as a promising technique to modulate neuromuscular pathways in several disorders. The aim of this PhD Thesis is to investigate the use of electrical stimulation to evoke afferent inhibition pathways in upper limbs in order to suppress pathological tremor. We will start by exploring different muscle stimulation modalities to elicit inhibition in healthy subjects, aiming to refine or design novel strategies to suppress tremor in patients. Subsequently, the most optimal stimulation strategies to inhibit muscle activity in healthy subjects will be applied in Parkinson's Disease and Essential Tremor Patients aiming to attenuate upper limb tremor. In the future, afferent stimulation as a modulator of motor control at spinal level can potentially be applied as a rehabilitative technique in neural disorders such as pathological tremor.

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Pathological tremors are involuntary rhythmic movements of one or more body segments. It is the most prevalent

movement disorder, hampering activities of daily living (ADL) and leading considerable costs for social and health care systems. Parkinson's Disease (PD) and Essential Tremor (ET) are, among others, the main neurological disorders that produce tremor as a motor symptom [1], [2]. The most extended solution to suppress tremor in ET and PD patients is medication since it interferes directly in the neural tremorogenic mechanisms. However, in most cases, patients become progressively tolerant to drugs and, therefore, need higher doses. Consequently, secondary effects and symptoms increase in time. For these cases, Deep Brain Stimulation (DBS) poses as the most effective treatment, although it holds important drawbacks as well: risk of neurosurgery, surgery costs and tolerance to stimulation. There are few treatment alternatives, with less adverse events and better safety profiles, especially for intractable cases.

An alternative solution is the use of external exoskeletons and prosthesis aiming to mechanically suppress tremor. Yet, these devices are still bulky, interfere with ADL and are limited to home scenarios [3]. Electrical stimulation poses as an attractive approach for tremor suppression, that needs further research. First developments used Functional Electrical Stimulation (FES) to evoke muscle contraction in the tremorogenic muscles and reduce tremor [2], [3]. Two main strategies are applied: 1) co-contraction, which seek increasing the stiffness of the joint by stimulating a pair of antagonist muscles and thus preventing trembling; 2) out-ofphase strategy, which consists in the delivery of electrical stimulation in the antagonist muscles when their agonist present tremorogenic activation. However, FES presents some disadvantages when used for tremor suppression, namely the development of fatigue and discomfort produced by the intensity of stimulation.

In the past five years, neuromuscular stimulation below the motor threshold has emerged as a promising tool for tremor suppression. These strategies seek to stimulate different afferent pathways to produce a modulation at the spinal level by means of interneurons and reflexes circuitries, leading to a reduction of tremor at the muscular output [3], [4]. The mechanisms involved in these tremor suppression strategies haven't been clarified yet, although they overcome common pitfalls of past solutions such as fatigue or interference with voluntary movements.

Some studies proposed that supraspinal along with afferent input at the spinal level are involved in tremor generation [5]. Dideriksen et al. [3] based their studies in this model and applied stimulation below motor threshold to modulate Ia afferent proprioceptive pathways to produce inhibition of antagonist pair of tremorogenic muscles. Other strategies are based on cutaneous afferent pathways. For instance, Hao et al. [6] stimulated the dorsal skin area innervated by the superficial radial nerve to evoke cutaneous reflexes and suppress tremor in PD patients.

Research on spinal reflexes mediated by afferent pathways have been also explored in humans. Mrachacz-Kersting et al. [7] and Nito et al. [8] have shown the inhibitory power of reciprocal and contralateral Ia afferents pathways elicited by electrical stimulation of the nerve in lower an upper limb, respectively. Although these studies were not applied to tremor suppression, they provided novel insights into afferent pathways and the potential of neuromuscular stimulation to modulate motor inhibition.

Based on the state of the art, here briefly described, a set of studies is proposed. Firstly, we aim to evoke motor inhibition in healthy subjects through the modulation of spinal reflexes by means of afferent electrical stimulation. The second study will apply the optimal inhibitory strategy

This project was funded by the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme (Project EXTEND - Bidirectional Hyper-Connected Neural System) under grant agreement No 779982.

Alejandro Pascual-Valdunciel, Filipe O. Barroso and José L. Pons are with the Neural Rehabilitation Group (Cajal Institute) of the Spanish National Research Council, Madrid, Spain. \* corresponding author: alejandropv@cajal.csic.es.

found in the first study to suppress tremor in ET and PD patients.

#### II. MATERIALS AND METHODS

A two stage research is proposed to optimize motor inhibition elicited by electrical stimulation of afferent pathways and its later application as a tremor suppression strategy, as represented in Figure 1.



Fig. 1. Scheme of the goals of this research line.

#### A. To determine motor inhibition in healthy volunteers

The objective of this study is to add novel insight into motor inhibition by exploring different electrical afferent stimulation methods and different spinal reflexes in healthy people. Combination of stimulation of muscles to activate Ia afferent pathways related to the muscle spindle and motor control involved in ipsilateral reciprocal (stretch) reflex and contralateral (withdrawal) reflex in upper limb will be tested. Biphasic stimulation below motor threshold will be applied during isometric voluntary contraction fixed as a percentage of maximum voluntary contraction (MVC). Stimulation duration (single pulse vs multi-pulse) effect on inhibition will be explored. Bipolar surface electromyography (sEMG) and high-density EMG (hdEMG) recordings will be used to characterize muscle activity and inhibition, including information at the motor unit level. Likewise, intramuscular stimulation via thin film electrodes versus surface stimulation will be explored to better determine the afferent fibers involved and the highest inhibitory capability.

#### B. To optimize tremor suppression strategies

Based on the findings of stage 1, those stimulation protocols that showed greater motor inhibition potential will be applied (and refined) to PD and ET patients suffering from tremor. Bipolar electrical stimulation of the muscle belly will be applied targeting the muscles involved in wrist flexo-extension (flexor carpi radialis and extensor carpi radialis). As performed in stage 1 with healthy volunteers, intramuscular and superficial stimulation will be tested. Outof-phase stimulation pattern, or continuous stimulation when tremor is detected will be among the strategies explored. Superficial and high-density EMG, as well as inertial measurement systems will be used to record muscle activity and quantify tremor suppression, respectively.

#### III. DISCUSSION

This contribution to SSNR2018 presents the design and studies to be implemented during a PhD Thesis. First, we

briefly present the impact of tremor on patients' quality of life and its social impact; we also summarize the state of the art on tremor suppression strategies and the main drawbacks of the existing solutions. There are evidences supporting the applicability of electrical stimulation below motor threshold as a tremor suppression solution. Notwithstanding, this novel approach needs further research to determine the underlying mechanisms and its maximal potentiality to suppress tremor and become a real alternative to current treatments. The first set of studies here proposed seek to better characterize the effect in muscle activity inhibition of different afferent stimulation strategies in healthy people. Intramuscular stimulation, afferent pathways involved in inhibition and stimulation duration will be the key features explored.

In a second stage, the information extracted about inhibition and the best stimulation protocols will be exploited in PD and ET patients to suppress tremor. Different strategies including intramuscular stimulation and time dependency will be explored and refined on the basis of prior results.

Through this approach, we try to converge the inhibitory effects of stimulation of afferent pathways and its application in the physiology of tremor. Thus, better knowledge on the influence of afferent pathways in motor control, in both healthy and tremor populations, will be acquired. In addition, an optimization of afferent stimulation protocols will be investigated as a novel alternative to current solutions.

- E. R. Kandel, T. M. Jessell, J. H. Schwartz, S. A. Siegelbaum and A. J. Hudspeth, *Principles of Neural Science*, Fifth Edition, McGraw Hill Professional, 2013.
- [2] L.P. Maneski, N. Jorgovanović, V. Ilić, S. Dosen, T. Keller, M. B. Popović, D.B. Popović, *Electrical stimulation for the suppression of pathological tremor* Med Biol Eng Comput, 2011, 49:1187–1193.
- [3] J. L. Dideriksen, C. M. Laine, S. Dosen, S. Muceli, E. Rocon, J. L. Pons, L. Benito-Leon and D. Farina, *Electrical Stimulation of Afferent Pathways for the Suppression of Pathological Tremor*, Front Neurosci, vol. 11, no. 178, 2017.
- [4] J. A. Gallego, J. L. Dideriksen, A. Holobar, J. Ibáñez, V. Glaser, J. P. Romero, J. Benito-León, J. L. Pons, E. Rocon and D. Farina, *The* phase difference between neural drives to antagonist muscles in essential tremor is associated with the relative strength of supraspinal and afferent input, J Neurosci, vol. 35, no. 23, pp. 8925-8937, 2015.
- [5] S. Dosen, S. Muceli, J. L. Dideriksen, J. P. Romero, E. Rocon, J. Pons and D. Farina, *Online tremor suppression using electromyography and low-level electrical stimulation*, IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng, vol. 23, no. 3, pp. 385-395, 2015.
- [6] M.-Z. Hao, S.-Q. Xu, Z.-X. Hu, F.-L. Xu, C.-X. M. Niu, Q. Xiao and N. Lan, *Inhibition of Parkinsonian tremor with cutaneous afferent* evoked by transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation, J Neuroeng Rehabil, vol. 14, no. 75, 2017.
- [7] N. Mrachacz-Kersting, S.S. Geertsen, A.J.T. Stevenson, J.B. Nielsen, Convergence of ipsi- and contralateral muscle afferents on common interneurons mediating reciprocal inhibition of ankle plantarflexors in humans, Exp Brain Res (2017) 235:1555–1564.
- [8] M. Nito, W. Hashizume, K.Suzuki, T. Sato, . H Fuji, T. Miyasaka, M. Shindo, A. Naito, *Inhibition of Group Ia Afferents Between Brachioradialis and Flexor Carpi Radialis in Humans: A Study Using an Electromyogram-Averaging Method*, J of Clinical Neurophysiology, vol. 35, no. 2, 2018.

## Validation and Repeatability of Online Reflex Activity Measures

Eline Flux, Ronald C. van 't Veld, Jari de Rover, Sanne Ettema, Marjolein M. van der Krogt

Abstract—Detection of hyperreflexia and intrinsic stiffness in joints is important for neurological patients. Most currently used diagnostic techniques are subjective or lack validity. A system identification (SI) algorithm has recently been developed to online quantify hyperreflexia and intrinsic resistance, which could be used for diagnostics and feedback training. This study assesses the validity and reliability of this SI method. The SI algorithm was applied to twelve participants during control conditions and two conditions known to enhance reflexes: experienced pain and the Jendrassik maneuver. SI outcomes were compared to expected differences as well as to EMG measures to quantify validity and reliability. Validity of SI reflexes is high, as well as within-session repeatability, while repeatability is moderate to good for intrinsic stiffness and validity of intrinsic stiffness was poor. Outcomes support the usability of reflex measures in biofeedback training. For diagnostic purposes, further research should be performed on between-session repeatability and validity of intrinsic stiffness.

#### I. INTRODUCTION

ANY people with neurological impairments experience Lincreased resistance in joints, e.g. patients with cerebral palsy, spinal cord injury and stroke. Increased joint resistance can lead to increased energy costs in walking [1] and limited muscle growth [2] and is caused by velocity dependent stretch hyperreflexia (increased reflex activity), background muscle activity and/or tissue properties [3]. Measures of hyperreflexia and intrinsic properties are important for clinical decision making and could be used for hyperreflexia down regulation training (e.g. [4]-[5]). However, currently used measures are often subjective or require the use of Hreflexes, which can be painful and is limited in application to superficial muscles. Ludvig et al. [6] developed an online identification (SI) method to quantify reflex activity and intrinsic stiffness, in which intrinsic stiffness is defined as the combined result of background muscle activity and tissue properties. Up till now, this algorithm has only been validated by comparing SI outcomes to EMG outcomes during different muscle activation levels [7]. The aim of this study was to add on the validation of this SI algorithm using two different measures as well as to assess the reliability.

#### II. MATERIAL AND METHODS

Twelve healthy adults (7 male,  $21.3\pm2.0$ y) participated in this study. The study was approved by the Scientific and Ethical Review Board of the VU University Amsterdam and written informed consent was obtained from all participants.

Participants were seated in a chair, the Dyno 2.0, with their right foot connected to a single axis actuator by means of a footplate. Perturbations were applied around the ankle joint as

This research was funded by an NWO TTW grant, project number 14903.

specifically designed for the SI algorithm [7].

Measurements started with a control condition (C1) in which participants were asked to remain relaxed to maintain background muscle activity at a constant level. Consequently participants were imposed to two experimental conditions, which are known to facilitate reflexes, in random order. The first condition was experienced pain, as induced by a cold pressor task [8]. Experienced pain was quantified using a visual analogue scale. The second condition was a Jendrassik maneuver (JM) in which participants pulled apart their clenched hands and clamped their jaws [9]. Both conditions were alternated with control conditions (C2 and C3) and each condition was maintained for two minutes.

Reflex activity and intrinsic resistance were estimated according to a modified version of the SI algorithm as described previously [7], using measured torque and position, and averaged over the last 90 seconds for each condition. Muscle activity of the m. gastrocnemius lateralis was measured using the Porti EMG system (TMSi, Oldenzaal, the Netherlands) according to Seniam guidelines [10] and ensemble averaged (see Fig. 1), using the dorsiflexion perturbation onset for alignment. EMG reflex activity was calculated as a validation measure for SI reflex activity by averaging peaks in EMG activity between on average 50 and 80 ms after perturbations and subtracting background EMG activity. Background EMG activity was analyzed as a validation measure for intrinsic resistance and was calculated over 40 ms before onset (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. Example of ensemble averages of the gastrocnemius lateralis for the different conditions of one subject. Dorsiflexion onset is at 0 s.

Validity of SI was analyzed by assessing the Pearson correlation between SI and EMG measures. Furthermore, both pain and JM conditions were compared with all control conditions using paired-sample t-tests to test the response of the measures to conditions known to influence reflex activity and thereby assess the validity. Repeatability of the data between the three control conditions was measured using Pearson correlation coefficients.

E. Flux (corresponding author, e-mail <u>h.flux@vumc.nl</u>) and M.M. van der Krogt are with the Department of Rehabilitation Medicine of Amsterdam UMC, Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam, Amsterdam Movement Sciences.

J. de Rover and S. Ettema are with the Department of Behavioural and Movement Sciences, Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam.

R. C. van 't Veld is with the Department of Biomechanical Engineering, University of Twente.

III. RESULTS

TABLE I								
CORRELATION COEFFICIENTS								
	EMG C1	EMGC2	EMG C3	SI C1	SI C2	SI C3		
EMG C1	1	0.955	0.981	0.791	-	-		
EMG C2	0.955	1	0.978	-	0.837	-		
EMG C3	0.981	0.978	1	-	-	0.891		
SI C1	0.791	-	-	1	0.954	0.962		
SI C2	-	0.837	-	0.954	1	0.941		
SI C3	-	-	0.891	0.962	0.941	1		
EMG C1	1	0.983	0.959	0.394	-	-		
EMG C2	0.983	1	0.986	-	0.525	-		
EMG C3	0.959	0.986	1	-	-	0.436		
SI C1	0.394	-	-	1	0.821	0.887		
SI C2	-	0.525	-	0.821	1	0.873		
SI C3	-	-	0.436	0.887	0.874	1		
Top six row	s depict reflex	x measures, bo	ttom six the int	rinsic meas	ures. Values	in bolt are		

The two different methods, EMG and SI, showed moderate to high (0.79–0.89) correlations for reflexes and no significant correlations for intrinsic resistance with background activity (Table 1). Participants experienced pain and rated their pain on average  $6.8 \pm 1.3$  out of 10.0. Reflexes were significantly higher during experienced pain and during the JM condition compared to most control conditions, according to both EMG and SI analysis (Fig. 2). During pain conditions, background EMG activity was significantly higher compared to all control conditions, but only significantly higher compared to C1 according to SI analysis. Contrarily, during JM, background EMG activity was only significantly higher compared to C2, whereas it was significantly higher compared to all control conditions according to SI analysis.

Correlation coefficients for the repeatability measure were high for SI reflex activity (0.94–0.96), EMG reflex activity (0.96–0.98), and background EMG activity (0.96–0.99), and moderate to high for SI intrinsic resistance (0.76 - 0.87).



Fig. 2. Overview of all conditions. A depicts EMG reflex activity, B SI reflex activity, C background EMG activity, D SI intrinsic resistance.

#### IV. DISCUSSION

The online SI algorithm as developed by Ludvig et al. [6] and modified by Van 't Veld et al. [7] appears to be successful in detecting differences in reflex activity due to different experimental conditions. Furthermore, the SI outcomes show a high correlation to reflex measures based on EMG. This further adds to the validation of this method. Additionally, within-session repeatability is high. These results support the use of the online SI hyperreflexia measure in feedback training. Between-session repeatability should be assessed for diagnostic purposes and before SI hyperreflexia can be used as a treatment evaluation method.

Participants showed increased background EMG during the pain condition, but only increased SI compared to C1. SI intrinsic resistance, which is assumed to be the combined result of intrinsic tissue properties and background muscle activity, showed only a moderate to good repeatability and a poor validity according to both validity measures. This is in contrast with previous findings [7], in which multiple background activity levels were assessed and correlations with SI intrinsic resistance were moderate to high. These outcomes do not support the validity to distinct reflex activity and intrinsic stiffness, hence further research should be performed to assess the validity of this measure. This can be done by analyzing conditions that influence the intrinsic stiffness, such as taping to artificially increase intrinsic stiffness. Furthermore, feedback can be given on the background EMG activity to achieve a constant activity level throughout the measurements.

Lastly, it is important to validate both measures in the population of interest, since multiple assumptions are made in the SI which might not apply for the patient population, for example due to smaller electromechanical delay as found in patients with cerebral palsy [11]. Therefore, further research is necessary before it can be implemented in patient specific diagnostics or training.

- Ries, A. J., & Schwartz, M. H. Low gait efficiency is the primary reason for the increased metabolic demand during gait in children with cerebral palsy. *Hum. Mov. Sci.*, vol. 57, 2017, pp. 426-433.
- [2] Bax, M. C. O., & Brown, J. K. CONTRACTURES AND THEIR THERAPY. Dev. Med. Child Neurol., vol. 27(4), 2008, pp. 423–424.
- [3] van den Noort, J. C., Bar-On, L., Aertbeliën, E., Bonikowski, M., Braendvik, S. M., ... Harlaar, J. European consensus on the concepts and measurement of the pathophysiological neuromuscular responses to passive muscle stretch. *Eur. J. Neurol.*, vol. 24(7), 2017, pp. 981-e38.
- [4] Thompson, A. K., & Wolpaw, J. R. Operant conditioning of spinal reflexes: from basic science to clinical therapy. *Front. Integr. Neurosci.*, vol. 8, 2014, pp. 25
- [5] Ludvig, D., Cathers, I., & Kearney, R. E. Voluntary modulation of human stretch reflexes. *Exp. Brain Res.*, vol. 183(2), 2007, pp. 201–213.
- [6] Ludvig, D., & Kearney, R. E. Real-time estimation of intrinsic and reflex stiffness. *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng.*, vol. 54(10), 2007, pp. 1875–1884.
- [7] van't Veld, R. C., Schouten, A. C., van der Kooij, H., & van Asseldonk, E. H. F. (2018). Validation of Online Intrinsic and Reflexive Joint Impedance Estimates using Correlation with EMG Measurements., submitted for publication.
- [8] Saxena, I., Kumar, M., Barth, A. S., Verma, A., Garg, S., & Kumar, M. Effect of Age on Response to Experimental Pain in Normal Indian Males. J. Clin. Diagn. Res., vol. 9(9), 2015, pp. 5-8.
- [9] Dowman, R., Wolpaw, J.R. Jendrassik maneuver facilitates soleus Hreflex without change in average soleus motoneuron pool membrane potential, *Exp. Neurol.*, vol. 101(2), 1988, pp. 288-302.
- [10] Hermens, J., Freriks, C., Disselhorst-Klug, & Rau, G. Development of Recommendations for SEMG Sensors and Sensor Placement Procedures. J. Electromyogr. Kinesiol., vol. 10(5), 2000, pp. 361-74.
- [11] Granata, K. P., Ikeda, A. J., & Abel, M. F. Electromechanical delay and reflex response in spastic cerebral palsy. *Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil.*, vol. 81(7), 2000, pp. 888-894.

## Visual Discrimination of Biomimetic Arm Speeds

Eric J. Earley, Reva E. Johnson, Levi J. Hargrove, Jon W. Sensinger

Abstract— Fine control of robotic prosthetic limbs requires repeatable command signals and comprehensible feedback. However, robotic prostheses currently lack this sensory feedback. Artificial sensory feedback can help users control their prosthesis, but sometimes users choose to rely on vision over this feedback. This suggests that vision can provide the same information as this artificial feedback, but is more trusted. To provide feedback that is not redundant with vision, we should provide information vision cannot provide well. Previous research suggests vision is less precise at estimating speeds than positions. Our work expands this previous knowledge by specifically investigating visual speed perception of biomimetic arm movements. We show that visual uncertainty is greatest when estimating joint speeds, especially when the reference frame speed varies over time. Thus, artificial feedback of joint speed may be more likely to integrate with vision and improve prosthesis control.

#### I. INTRODUCTION

**S**ENSORY feedback for robotic prosthetic limbs is a research priority for many prosthesis users [1]. Aside from modern research devices, prostheses are not capable of directly replacing the missing proprioceptive information of the state of the limb. Thus, prosthesis users visually monitor their prosthesis while in use to restore some of this missing proprioception [2]. Many attempts to provide artificial feedback have been successful while the prosthesis is obscured, but this benefit sometimes diminishes when the prosthesis is in view. This suggests the artificial feedback is providing similar information to vision, but with greater uncertainty, and users therefore choose to rely on vision over artificial feedback [3].

To avoid providing redundant information, artificial feedback should strive to provide information not provided, or provided poorly, by vision. Previous research suggests vision estimates position with high precision [4], but estimates speed with much lower precision [5]. Speed can be defined in several biologically-appropriate reference frames.

R. E. Johnson is with the Department of Mechanical Engineering, Valparaiso University, Valparaiso, IN USA (email: reva.johnson@valpo.edu).

L. J. Hargrove is with the Center for Bionic Medicine, Shirley Ryan AbilityLab, and the Departments of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation and Biomedical Engineering, Northwestern University, Chicago, IL, USA (email: l-hargrove@northwestern.edu).

J. W. Sensinger is with the Institute of Biomedical Engineering, University of New Brunswick, Fredericton, NB, Canada (email: j.sensinger@unb.ca). For example, movement of the elbow can be defined relative to the environment (absolute speed), or the movement of the shoulder (joint speed). However, visual uncertainty associated with these biomimetic arm movements has not been quantified.

In this study, we investigate visual joint speed perception in the context of providing artificial proprioceptive feedback for prosthetic limbs. Subjects participated in a twoalternative forced choice task observing a virtual two-arm link to determine just noticeable difference (JND) thresholds for different types of arm movements. Additionally, we tested how joint speed JND changes as a result from inconsistent reference frame speeds.

#### II. METHODS

### A. Setup

Subjects sat in front of a computer monitor and shown a pair of black two-link systems, similar to a top-down view of a shoulder and elbow, with link lengths of 5cm and endcap diameters of 2.1mm (Fig. 1). These were presented for 2 second each, separated by a 1 second pause.

#### B. Protocol

Subjects completed two-alternative forced choice experiments designed to quantify visual speed discrimination. During a trial, the two-link system



Fig. 1. A two-link system served as the visual stimulus for twoalternative forced choice tasks. In Condition 1, subjects identified which proximal link they perceived was moving faster, and in Condition 2, subjects identified which distal link they perceived was moving faster, relative to the proximal link. In Condition 3, subjects observed the speed of the distal link, but the proximal link moved at different speeds between the two stimuli.

was displayed to subjects twice. Three conditions were tested, corresponding to visual discrimination of rotational speeds prosthesis users may experience during daily prosthesis use. For each condition, three nominal speeds were tested:  $30 \,^{\circ}$ /s,  $60 \,^{\circ}$ /s, and  $120 \,^{\circ}$ /s. The starting position of the proximal and distal links were randomized for each stimulus, and the distal link was resampled as needed to prevent it from crossing the proximal link.

The first condition tested visual discrimination of absolute rotational speeds, relative to a static global reference frame (i.e. the screen). During each trial, the proximal link in one stimulus would move at the prescribed nominal speed, and

Research supported by NSF-NRI 1317379. E. J. Earley was supported by NIH grant T32 HD07418.

E. J. Earley is with the Department of Biomedical Engineering, Northwestern University, and the Center for Bionic Medicine, Shirley Ryan AbilityLab, Chicago, IL, USA (email: ericearley@u.northwestern.edu).

in the other stimulus would move at a speed as defined by an adaptive staircase:

$$x(n+1) = x(n) - \frac{c}{n_{shift} + 1}[z(n) - \phi]$$

where x was the difference in movement speeds between stimuli, C was the starting speed difference (50%), *nshift* was the number of decision reversals,  $\phi$  was the target JND probability (84%), and z was a Boolean indicator for the subject's decision (z = 1 when correct and z = 0 when incorrect) [6]. This adaptive staircase converged on the 84% JND after 25 decision reversals. The distal link in both stimuli started at 60 °/s and was randomly accelerated and decelerated. Thus, the speed profile was identical between stimuli.

The second condition tested visual discrimination of joint speeds relative to a reference frame (i.e. the proximal link) rotating at consistent speeds between stimuli. During each trial, the distal link in one stimulus would move at the nominal speed (relative to the proximal link), and the other stimulus would move at a speed defined by the adaptive staircase above. The proximal link in both stimuli started at 60 °/s and was randomly accelerated and decelerated. Thus, the speed profile was identical between stimuli.

The third condition tested visual discrimination of joint speeds relative to a reference frame rotating at inconsistent speeds between stimuli. During each trial, the distal link in one stimulus would move at the nominal speed (relative to the proximal link), and the other stimulus would move at a speed defined by the adaptive staircase above. The proximal link in one trial moved at a constant speed of 60 °/s in one trial, and a constant speed of 120 °/s in the other trial.

#### C. Data Analysis

The 84% JND obtained from each experiment was converted into uncertainty (i.e. standard deviation) of the underlying estimator by dividing by  $\sqrt{2}$  [7]. This uncertainty was then normalized and used as the outcome metric for the results presented in Fig. 2.

#### III. RESULTS

Visual uncertainty was lowest when assessing the speed of the proximal link, ranging between 20% and 30% (Fig. 2). Visual uncertainty increased when subjects assessed the speed of the distal link relative to the proximal link, with uncertainty ranging between 30% and 50%. When the speed of the proximal link was inconsistent between stimuli, distal link uncertainty tended to increase further, but this increase was not significant. Across all conditions, uncertainty was highest when assessing slow nominal speeds. This trend is particularly prevalent during distal link assessments; at the slowest nominal speed, the distal link being assessed is moving half as fast as the proximal link.

#### IV. DISCUSSION

Given two sources of information, humans make a single estimate by integrating the two sources, weighted by their



Fig. 2. Uncertainty for visual speed discrimination of the proximal link was between 20% and 30%, while uncertainty for visual speed discrimination of the distal link was between 30% and 50%.

uncertainty [3]. Thus, they rely more heavily on the source with lowest uncertainty. Therefore, to suitably replace a missing source of biological feedback with artificial sensory feedback, this feedback should have similar or lower uncertainty than remaining senses, notably vision.

In the context of providing feedback for prosthetic limbs, our results suggest providing proprioceptive feedback in terms of joint speeds defined relative to more proximal body segments, as opposed to absolute speeds defined relative to the torso or the environment. Because of the greater uncertainty associated with visually estimating the speed of the distal link (i.e. joint speed), artificial feedback providing this information is likely to provide the greatest improvement to restoring limb proprioception. This improvement may increase further as the speed of the reference frame increases (e.g. proprioception of elbow movement as the shoulder is in motion). We aim to develop a feedback system which improves joint speed perception and integrates meaningfully with vision, which may lead to and improved sense of proprioception and embodiment of prosthetic limbs and improved control during daily tasks.

- F. Cordella *et al.*, "Literature review on needs of upper limb prosthesis users," *Front. Neurosci.*, vol. 10, no. MAY, pp. 1–14, 2016.
- [2] M. M. D. Sobuh *et al.*, "Visuomotor behaviours when using a myoelectric prosthesis," *J. Neuroeng. Rehabil.*, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 1–11, 2014.
- [3] M. Kuschel, M. Di Luca, M. Buss, and R. L. Klatzky, "Combination and integration in the perception of visual-haptic compliance information," *IEEE Trans. Haptics*, vol. 3, no. 4, pp. 234–244, 2010.
- [4] H. E. Ross, "Context effects in the scaling and discrimination of size," *Fechner Day 2003*, pp. 257–262, 2003.
- [5] Y. Chen, H. E. Bedell, L. J. Frishman, and D. M. Levi, "Stimulus uncertainty affects velocity discrimination," *Vision Res.*, vol. 38, no. 9, pp. 1265–1272, 1998.
- [6] R. E. Johnson, K. P. Kording, L. J. Hargrove, and J. W. Sensinger, "EMG Versus Torque Control of Human–Machine Systems: Equalizing Control Signal Variability Does not Equalize Error or Uncertainty," *IEEE Trans. Neural Syst. Rehabil. Eng.*, vol. 25, no. 6, pp. 660–667, Jun. 2017.
- [7] M. O. Ernst and M. S. Banks, "Humans integrate visual and haptic information in a statistically optimal fashion.," *Nature*, vol. 415, no. 6870, pp. 429–433, 2002.

## On the Impact of Witnesses Selection in Pulse-to-Noise Ratio Based Assessment of Motor Unit Identification Accuracy from High-Density EMG

F. Urh, A. Holobar

Abstract— In our previous studies, we introduced a novel method for accuracy assessment of individual motor unit (MU) firing, identified from high-density surface electromyograms (hdEMG) by Convolution Kernel Compensation (CKC) method. The method is based on previously introduced Pulse-to-Noise Ratio (PNR) and uses pre-identified MU spikes, which we call witnesses, to assess accuracy of other tested spikes. We already tested the method with different number of witnesses, but until now, we selected these witnesses from the true positive (TP) firings only. Such a selection is not possible in experimental condition, where the ground truth about the MU firing is not known. In this study, we tested three different witness selection strategies on hdEMG signals, generated from experimentally recorded MU action potentials from biceps brachii muscle and synthetic MU firing patterns. In the first strategy, witnesses were selected randomly from spikes identified by CKC. In the other two strategies, spikes with maximum or minimum height were used as witnesses, respectively. Maximum spike height selection strategy yielded superior sensitivity in discriminating TPs from hdEMG decomposition errors.

#### I. INTRODUCTION

In recent years, many new methods for decomposition of high-density electromyograms (hdEMG) and motor unit (MU) firings identification have been proposed [1, 5]. As these methods are non-invasive, they are suitable for use in many applications. But, firstly, accuracy of these methods must be rigorously accessed. One of techniques for accuracy assessment is based on Pulse-to-Noise Ratio (PNR) [4]. This technique is computationally efficient, correlates well with the accuracy of MU firing identification [4] and can be, in contrast to more established two-source technique [8], computed for every identified MU.

Convolution Kernel Compensation (CKC) method iteratively builds a MU filter and then identifies MU spike train by applying this filter to hdEMG. In our previous works [6, 7], we showed that inclusion of a single MU spike in MU filter estimation significantly alters the height of other spikes and, consequently, the PNR of identified MU spike train. In particular, when included in MU filter estimation, true positive firings (TPs) contribute significantly higher values to PNR than false positives (FPs). Therefore, carefully selected pre-identified MU spikes can serve as witnesses of identification accuracy of each next identified MU spike. This significantly extends the state-of-the-art in hdEMG decomposition accuracy estimation, offering the capability of assessing the accuracy of each individual MU firing. However, in our previous work [6, 7], we selected witnesses from 10 to 100 TPs only. Therefore, our initial selection of witnesses was not blind and was not suitable for experimental conditions, where the ground truth about the MU firings is not a priori known. In this study, we propose a new witness selection strategy.

#### II. WITNESSES SELECTION STRATEGIES

In CKC [3], individual MU spike train is estimated as:

$$\hat{t}_{j}(n) = \sum_{p} \mathbf{y}(p)^{T} \mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{y}}^{-1} \mathbf{y}(n), \qquad (1)$$

where p stands for time moments of the estimated *j*-th MU firings, y(n) denotes the vector of the *n*-th sample of all the hdEMG channels and  $C_y^{-1}$  is the inverse of correlation matrix of hdEMG channels. Afterwards, PNR may be calculated for  $\hat{t}_j(n)$  as proposed in [4]. In [6, 7], we showed that inclusion of a single FP firing in (1) significantly decreases the PNR of  $\hat{t}_j(n)$ , given that the other MU firings in (1), so called witnesses, come from TPs only [6,7].

In this study, we selected witnesses with one of the following strategies: a) select all the witnesses from TPs only as in [6, 7]; b) select the witnesses randomly from all the spikes identified by CKC (i.e., TPs and FPs combined into a group of witnesses in a random fashion), c) and d) select the witnesses from identified spikes in  $\hat{t}_j(n)$  with maximum and minimum height, respectively.

For evaluation purposes, experimentally determined MU action potentials (MUAPs) from the hdEMG of biceps brachii were convolved with predetermined MU firing patterns as in [2]. We simulated 10 seconds long constant 10 % muscle excitation. The signals were sampled at 2048 Hz and decomposed with CKC method [3]. Afterwards, TPs and FPs were identified with firing time tolerance set to 0.5 ms [4]. In total, we identified 52 MUs, but we excluded 11 MUs without at least one FP firing from further analysis. For each of the remaining MUs, we performed 10 evaluation runs. In each run, one tested MU firing (either TP or FP) was randomly selected and combined with preselected witnesses to calculate  $\hat{t}_i(n)$  in (1). Afterwards, we calculated PNR on witnesses in  $\hat{t}_i(n)$ . In this way, tested firing was excluded from PNR calculation and was not used as a witness of its own accuracy. We evaluated the performance of each witness selection

This study was supported by Slovenian Research Agency (project "Exact quantification of muscle control strategies and co-activation patterns in robotassisted rehabilitation of hemiparetic patients", contract J2-7357 and Programme funding P2-0041).

F. Urh and A. Holobar are with the Faculty of Electrical Engineering and Computer Science, University of Maribor, Maribor, Slovenia (corresponding author: <u>filip.urh1@um.si</u>).

strategy by comparing the PNR values with FPs included  $(PNR_{witnesses+FP})$  and excluded  $(PNR_{witnesses})$  from calculation in (1). The number of FPs selected by each tested witness selection strategy was also assessed.

#### III. RESULTS

The results are exemplified in Figs. 1 and 2 and summarized in Table I.

TABLE I
PNR (mean $\pm$ std), no. of selected FPs and No. of cases with
NONSIGNIFICANT DIFFERENCES BETWEEN <i>PNR</i> witnesses+FP AND
PNR <sub>witnesses</sub> as determined by Wilcoxon test for different witness
SELECTION STRATEGIES

1

No. of witnesses	10	20	50	100
(dP) [6.7]	36.8	34.4	32.0	29.9
$PNR_{witnesses+FPs}(aB)$	$\pm 1.3$	$\pm 0.7$	$\pm 0.2$	$\pm 0.1$
DND (AD) [rand]	39.3	36.2	32.0	30.2
$PNR_{witnesses+FPs}(aB)$	$\pm 0.6$	$\pm 0.6$	$\pm 0.2$	$\pm 0.1$
	39.4	35.5	30.8	27.5
No. of witnesses PNR <sub>witnesses+FPs</sub> (dB) <sup>[6,7]</sup> PNR <sub>witnesses+FPs</sub> (dB) <sup>[rand]</sup> PNR <sub>witnesses+FPs</sub> (dB) <sup>[max]</sup> PNR <sub>witnesses</sub> (dB) <sup>[min]</sup> PNR <sub>witnesses</sub> (dB) <sup>[fand]</sup> PNR <sub>witnesses</sub> (dB) <sup>[rand]</sup> PNR <sub>witnesses</sub> (dB) <sup>[min]</sup> No. of selected FPs <sup>[rand]</sup> No. of selected FPs <sup>[max]</sup> No. of selected FPs <sup>[max]</sup> No. of selected FPs <sup>[min]</sup> No. of nonsig. PNR diff. (%) <sup>[6,7]</sup> No. of nonsig. PNR diff. (%) <sup>[fand]</sup>	$\pm 0.2$	$\pm 0.1$	$\pm 0.1$	$\pm 0.0$
$PNR_{min}$ $(dR)^{[min]}$	38.8	33.8	27.7	25.1
$PNR_{witnesses+FPs}(aB)$	$\pm 1.0$	$\pm 0.6$	$\pm 0.2$	$\pm 0.1$
<b>DND</b> (JD) [67]	39.9	35.8	32.4	30.1
PNR <sub>witnesses</sub> ( <i>aB</i> ) <sup>tomp</sup>	$\pm 0.0$	$\pm 0.0$	$\pm 0.0$	$\pm 0.0$
$PNR_{witnesses} (dB)^{[rand]}$	39.8	36.5	32.1	30.3
	$\pm 0.0$	$\pm 0.0$	$\pm 0.0$	$\pm 0.0$
$PNR_{witnesses} (dB) ^{[rand]}$ $PNR_{witnesses} (dB) ^{[max]}$ $PNR_{min} (dB) ^{[min]}$	40.0	35.7	30.9	27.5
	$\pm 0.0$	$\pm 0.0$	$\pm 0.0$	$\pm 0.0$
	38.0	33.0	27.3	25.0
$PNR_{witnesses}(aB)$	$\pm 0.0$	$\pm 0.0$	$\pm 0.0$	$\pm 0.0$
Nflt- J ED - [rand]	0.58	1.20	3.00	5.86
No. of selected FPs (man)	$\pm 0.78$	$\pm 1.24$	$\pm 2.66$	$\pm 4.56$
Nflt- + ED - [max]	0.00	0.00	0.03	0.73
No. of selected FPs (many	$\pm 0.00$	$\pm 0.00$	$\pm 0.22$	$\pm 1.48$
Nfl	4.28	6.33	8.13	8.56
No. of selected FPs (man)	$\pm 2.29$	$\pm 3.48$	$\pm 5.19$	$\pm 5.81$
No. of nonsig. PNR diff. (%) <sup>[6,7]</sup>	4	4	4	4
No. of nonsig. PNR diff. (%) [rand]	15	30	30	51
No. of nonsig. PNR diff. (%) [max]	4	4	4	13
No of nonsig PNR diff. (%) [min]	59	37	8	39

<sup>[max]</sup> (<sup>[min]</sup>) - maximum (minimum) CKC spike height selection; <sup>[rand]</sup> - random CKC spike selection; <sup>[6,7]</sup> – selection as proposed in [6, 7].





#### IV. DISCUSSION

Maximum CKC spike height witness selection strategy resulted in higher PNR values and consequently lower absolute difference between  $PNR_{witnesses}$  and  $PNR_{witnesses+FP}$  than random selection of TPs, proposed in [6, 7]. Nevertheless, the number of FPs, selected by the maximum spike height selection strategy was almost negligibly small (Table I). As a result, the maximum spike height selection strategy shared approximately the same small portion of cases in which the difference between  $PNR_{witnesses}$  and  $PNR_{witnesses+FP}$  was not statistically significant (about 4%, on average). The other two selection strategies resulted in significantly higher number of FPs in a selected group of witnesses and lower sensitivity of FP detection (Table I).

In conclusion, selection of spikes with maximal height in the MU spike trains, identified by CKC increases the likelihood of TPs in the group of witnesses and increases the sensitivity of the proposed methodology for detection of hdEMG decomposition errors. The methodology is applicable to experimental recordings, but further tests of its sensitivity to different decomposition errors and signal artefacts are still required.



Fig. 2. PNR values (mean  $\pm$  std) of a representative MU, calculated on different number of witnesses (*left, middle and right plot*) when using maximum CKC spike height (*upper row*) and random CKC spike witness selection strategy (*bottom row*); \* - statistically significant difference (Wilcoxon test, p < 0.05).

- D. Farina, A. Holobar, "Characterization of Human Motor Units From Surface EMG Decomposition", *Proceedings of the IEEE* 104(2), 353 – 373, 2016.
- [2] A.J. Fuglevand, D.A.Winter, A.E.Patla, "Models of recruitment and rate coding organization in motor-unit pools," *J. Neurophysiol.* 70, 2470–88, 1993.
- [3] A. Holobar, D. Zazula. "Multichannel blind source separation using convolution kernel compensation," *IEEE Trans. Sig. Process.* 55(9), 4487-96, 2007.
- [4] A. Holobar, M.A. Minetto, D. Farina "Accurate identification of motor unit discharge patterns from high-density surface EMG and validation with a novel signal-based performance metric," *J Neural Eng.* 11(1), pp. 016008, 2014.
- [5] R. Merletti, D. Farina, "Surface Electromyography: Physiology, Engineering and Applications", *IEEE Press Series on Biomedical Engineering*, 2016.
- [6] F. Urh, A. Holobar, "Novel Method for Accuracy Assessment of Individual Motor Unit Firing Identification from High-Density Surface Electromyograms", Submitted to *IEEE EMBS Conference on Biomedical Engineering and Sciences*, Kuching Sarawak, Malaysia, 2018.
- [7] F. Urh, A. Holobar, "Cross-examination of motor unit pulses improves the accuracy of motor unit identification from high-density EMG", Submitted to *International Conference on Neurorehabilitation*, Pisa, Italy, 2018.
- [8] B. Mambrito, CJ. De Luca, "A technique for the detection, decomposition and analysis of the EMG signal", *Electroencephalography and Clinical Neurophysiology*, 58(2), 175-188, 1984.

## Design and Control of Lower Limb Exoskeletons for Everyday Life

Roland Auberger, Robert Riener, Hans Dietl

*Abstract*—Computer controlled joint units have become state of the art in lower limb exoskeletons, orthoses and prostheses. Ideally the end-user accepts such supportive device as part of his body. Integrating a technical system into the daily life of a human creates challenges regarding robustness, reliability and control of the system. In this contribution an intelligent lower limb orthosis to support activities of daily living for patients with lower limb paralysis is introduced. Data that was obtained in a field test is presented. Results show high load requirements with peak system power up to 5.9 W/kg and a high number of activity cycles with up to 3,720 steps per day. The proposed system is able to handle these stresses; it has proven usability in everyday life.

#### I. INTRODUCTION

**S**TATE of the art prostheses, orthoses and exoskeletons control motion with computer controlled joint units. In the past few years numerous exoskeletons that restore walking ability for people with complete paralysis have been developed [1], [2]. However, most of these devices are mainly used as rehabilitation and training tools, rather than as daily mobility assist devices, where the end-user ideally accepts his supportive device as part of his body. The uncontrolled environment of home use leads to new design challenges and loading situations that are not yet well known. In this contribution a computer controlled passive orthotic system that supports people with lower limb paralysis in their everyday life is introduced, preliminary usage data obtained in a field study is presented.

#### II. MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### A. Brace System

For this study a prototype version of the C-Brace® system (Ottobock, Duderstadt, Germany) was used. The C-Brace® is a microprocessor controlled knee ankle foot orthosis (mpKAFO, cf. Fig. 1). To control the patient's motion, knee joint compliance is modified by a hydraulic damper which is

This research was supported by the Austrian Research Promotion Agency (FFG, program "Forschungspartnerschaften", project No. 855585).

Roland Auberger is with the Sensory-Motor, Systems (SMS) Lab, Institute of Robotics and Intelligent Systems (IRIS), Department of Health Sciences and Technology (D-HEST), ETH Zurich, Switzerland and with Ottobock Healthcare Products GmbH, Vienna, Austria (phone: +43 1 523 3786 637; e-mail: Roland.Auberger@ottobock.com)

Robert Riener is with the Sensory-Motor Systems (SMS) Lab, Institute of Robotics and Intelligent Systems (IRIS), Department of Health Sciences and Technology (D-HEST), ETH Zurich, Switzerland and with the Reharobotics Group, Spinal Cord Injury Center, Balgrist University Hospital, Medical Faculty, University of Zurich, Switzerland (e-mail: robert.riener@hest.ethz.ch)

Hans Dietl is with Ottobock Healthcare Products GmbH, Vienna, Austria (e-mail: Hans.Dietl@ottobock.com)

controlled by servo valves. The knee joint is a fully integrated unit which contains a microcontroller, sensors to measure joint angle and hydraulic force, an inertial measurement unit with 3-axis accelerometer and 3-axis gyroscope, a 32 GB SD card for data logging, a real time clock, a dual mode Bluetooth module and a 3.3V Li-Ion battery. To achieve a good anatomic fit, the interface parts to the patient are custom made out of carbon fiber composites. The patient's leg is fixed in this structure with velcro straps.

#### B. System Control

To achieve patient acceptance, system control must be intuitive. Therefore, the user should be the highest control entity of the system. In the C-Brace® system, the user controls the system by moving the ground reaction force (GRF) via shifting the center of mass (COM). The knee joint detects this shift in GRF with internal sensors. The valves of the hydraulic damper that control knee joint compliance are then set according to commands generated by a state machine.



Fig. 1. System overview and control scheme; the brain of the user generates commands to shift the COM and move the GRF vector. The brace system provides resistance according to commands from a state machine and gives feedback by pressure- and proprioceptive sensation.

The state machine runs on the internal microcontroller with an update rate of 100 Hz during regular walking. As human force control bandwidth is in the order of 20 to 30 Hz [3], the control cycle frequency of 100 Hz can be assumed as real time control. For walking activities, a proven control paradigm from prosthetics [4], [5] was adopted. It is based on the "default stance" principle which means that most of the time the system is in a safe stance phase (STP) mode, providing a high resistance against knee flexion to stabilize the patient. Only if the sensor information implies that the patient wants to perform a swing phase (SWP) during walking, knee flexion resistance is reduced to initiate SWP. The brace system does not adapt to different terrain conditions, as this adaption is performed by the user. We assumed that, if the system is reliable and predictable, the user will learn to operate the system. The user's superior sensorimotor capabilities will be used for high-level adaptation to terrain conditions and activities.

#### C. Clinical Evaluation

To obtain data from patients with lower extremity paralysis, a clinical study was conducted at two sites. The study was approved by the local ethic committees from Universitätsmedizin Göttingen (21/1/17) and the ethics commission of the city of Vienna (16-271-0017). In total 8 subjects were enrolled in the study after providing informed consent. All patients were equipped with a C-Brace® system. After a familiarization phase they were allowed to take the braces home for everyday use. The control software was configured to store sensor information at each control cycle (every 10ms, if the patient is active) on the internal SD card.

#### D. Data processing

Data from the SD card was analyzed using Matlab R2015b and Microsoft Excel 2016. Knee torque was calculated from hydraulic force and knee angle, based on joint kinematics. Daily extreme values for knee torque, knee power, maximum knee angle, and acceleration of the thigh section were evaluated for each patient. Joint load and power data were normalized for patient weight. Additionally, signal amplitudes were counted and stored as histogram data to gain information about activity cycles.

#### III. RESULTS

Data from three subjects (age 62 to 74 years, weight 45 to 80 kg, height 149 to 176 cm) suffering from neuromuscular deficits of different severity was analyzed. Dependent on the patient, data was recorded for between 37 and 48 days.

All patients were satisfied with the system functionality and the assistance it provided in their everyday life. System control was perceived intuitive and safe. There were no adverse events. P1 wore the braces on 35 out of 37 days, P2 wore it daily. P3 only wore it on 35 out of 44 days due to (not device related) medical conditions. Only days when the system was worn were considered for further analysis. Maximum measured normalized power was 5.9 W/kg, maximum normalized knee flexion torque was 1.8 Nm/kg. For detailed results regarding torque and power measurements please refer to [6]. Fig. 2 shows histogram data for average knee angle amplitudes per day. The amplitude range from 10° to 40° is related to standing and stance phase flexion. Knee joint resistance is high in these situations. Knee angle amplitudes between 40° and 70° occur in swing phase during level walking, where knee joint resistance is low. Amplitudes above 70° are related to activities with high knee joint resistance, like ramp or stair descent or sitting down. It can be seen, that P1 was the most

active patient with a daily average of 3720 swing phases related to level walking, and 211 knee flexion amplitudes above 70° per day. P1 and P3 perform stance phase flexion during level walking, which explains the high number of amplitudes between  $10^{\circ}$  and  $40^{\circ}$ .



Fig. 2. Histogram of averaged knee angle amplitude counts per day. The colors refer to the different patients.

#### IV. DISCUSSION

Results show differences in activity cycles between the patients. These differences can be explained with variations in the patient's residual functions and in the individual activity levels. There might even be a correlation between these factors.

#### V. CONCLUSION

If a highly functional supportive system is provided to a patient, it will be actually used. This results in high loads and a high number of activity cycles. The control concept with an internal state machine has proven to be safe and effective. The reproducible behavior of the system enabled the user to use the system intuitively in various situations of daily life.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENT

The authors want to thank Ottobock Healthcare Products GmbH, especially the C-Brace<sup>®</sup> development team and clinical research team.

- L. E. Miller, A. K. Zimmermann, and W. G. Herbert, "Clinical effectiveness and safety of powered exoskeleton-assisted walking in patients with spinal cord injury: systematic review with metaanalysis," *Med. Devices Auckl. NZ*, vol. 9, pp. 455–466, 2016.
- [2] A. J. Young and D. P. Ferris, "State of the Art and Future Directions for Lower Limb Robotic Exoskeletons," *IEEE Trans. Neural Syst. Rehabil. Eng.*, vol. 25, no. 2, pp. 171–182, Feb. 2017.
- [3] H. Z. Tan, B. Eberman, M. A. Srinivasan, and B. Cheng, "Human factors for the design of force-reflecting haptic interfaces," *American Society of Mechanical Engineers, Dynamic Systems and Control Division (Publication) DSC*, 01-Dec-1994.
- [4] D. Seifert, "Method for Controlling a Change of Damping in an Artificial Joint," WO2016169850 (A1), 27-Oct-2016.
- [5] R. Auberger, M. Seyr, C. Mandl, D. Seifert, and H. Dietl, "Method for Controlling an Artificial Orthotic or Prosthetic Kneejoint," US2016206447 (A1), 21-Jul-2016.
- [6] R. Auberger, C. Breuer-Ruesch, F. Fuchs, N. Wismer, and R. Riener, "Smart Passive Exoskeleton for Everyday Use with Lower Limb Paralysis: Design and First Results of Knee Joint Kinetics," in 2018 7th IEEE International Conference on Biomedical Robotics and Biomechatronics (BioRob), to be published, Enschede, 2018.